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An introduction from the

Chairman #ProudofthePaget
I started the introduction to last year’s annual report by saying that the 
challenges facing the Trust had been thrown into stark relief during the 
course of 2015/16. 

It will come as little surprise to anyone who follows the news that these challenges – 
increasing demand, an ageing population and financial constraint – have dominated 
our thinking during the past year and will no doubt continue to do so for the 
foreseeable future.

However, despite this, the James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust has 
continued to perform well in providing safe, compassionate care for patients while 
demonstrating a commitment to continuous improvement.

As usual, this report contains the facts, figures and detail of our performance but also 
gives a glimpse of some of the amazing work carried out by our staff, who go the extra 
mile for their patients each and every day.

This dedication was perhaps reflected best in our Care Quality Commission (CQC) 
re-inspection which took place last summer. The CQC rated our hospital as “Good” 
following an inspection carried out in 2015. But there were some areas where 
improvements were needed – and so the inspectors returned to the hospital in August 
2016 to check that we had taken the necessary steps to address these issues.

They were pleased with what they saw – and we were delighted to find that we had 
strengthened our “Good” rating. Our overall rating for all of the eight core service 
areas is now “Good”, including end of life care and surgery where we were previously 
rated as “requires improvement.” We are now rated as “Outstanding” for the quality 
of care offered to patients reaching the end of their lives – which means we have two 
“Outstanding” ratings, the other for leadership of our urgent and emergency services.

I believe this shows just how dedicated our staff are to continuous improvement, for 
the benefit of patients. To give an example, the CQC recommended we enhance our 
children’s outpatient facilities which were in part of the hospital shared with ante natal 
patients. Within a few months the Trust came up with a solution and converted another 
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part of the hospital into a dedicated children and young person’s outpatient clinic, 
with improved facilities including eight clinic rooms and two waiting areas. Its creation 
shows that we are not only committed to continuous improvement but also determined 
to maximise the use of our estate for the benefit of our patients and staff, for minimal 
cost. 

As predicted the usual winter pressures arrived early and continued deep into the new 
year. Yet, despite some extraordinary pressure, our staff pulled together to ensure we 
maintained safe patient care throughout and demonstrated how crucial it is to have 
a strong team spirit. That team spirit extended outside the walls of our hospital as 
we worked closely with our partners in the NHS and social care to improve the flow 
of patients, always with the intention of  providing the right level of care in the right 
setting for our patients, whether in the hospital or out in the community.

This teamwork and partnership will be crucial over the next few years as we develop 
services for the future, by implementing the Norfolk and Waveney Sustainability and 
Transformation Plan (STP). Change will be needed as hospitals, including the James 
Paget, are under unsustainable pressure. They must be allowed to focus on what they 
do best: providing emergency and specialist care. But hospitals are only one piece of 
the jigsaw – and allowing them to function effectively in the years ahead will require 
community and social care provision to change and develop in tandem. 

This is my last year as Chairman of the Trust. I have been very honoured to be part 
of the team and I am confident that ‘The Paget’ will continue to go from strength to 
strength. 

Reviewed by Anna Davidson, Chair from 1 May 2017

On behalf of David Wright, Chairman, 2016/17
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Performance report
Chief Executive’s overview
I am very pleased to present this year’s annual report and a brief overview of how we 
performed during what we feel has been a successful, but also challenging, year. 

Performance is carefully measured against national targets and monitored on a monthly 
basis by the Board of Directors to ensure that any issues are quickly identified. How we 
are performing is also considered through various Committees, reporting to the Board. 
Each year the performance indicators are reviewed to ensure they are in line with our 
contractual requirements and also that other important areas have a focus. 

There are four main reports to Board: Performance management, Quality and Safety, 
Operational and Workforce.

The quality of the care provided at our hospital has been rated as “Good’ by the 
independent regulator of health and social care services in England, the CQC. This 
achievement is down to the dedication of our staff to their patients, together with the 
leadership that ensures performance and quality are continuously scrutinised.

There are three major targets which are generally accepted as being a good measure of 
a hospital’s performance:

• 62 day urgent referral to treatment for cancer patients

• 95% of people attending Accident and Emergency (A&E) either discharged, 
transferred or admitted within four hours

• 18 week referral to treatment.

Our performance against the 62 day urgent referral to treatment for cancer patients 
has been strong historically and our consistency in meeting this target was maintained 
during the course of the past year.

However, we have faced significant increases in the number of patients attending A&E, 
and emergency admissions, during 2016/17, similar to other hospitals across the country, 
as demonstrated by the annual figures.

Activity 2015/16 2016/17

Elective Inpatients 5,364 5,189

Day Cases 30,538 31,599

Non-Elective 24,501 25,894

Outpatients 215,408 210,920

A&E 71,548 74,820
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Due to several periods of increased demand in both the autumn and winter, our 
performance fell below the 95% target before picking up again towards the end of 
the financial year. This had a knock-on effect on the 18 week referral to treatment 
(RTT) target as beds that would be used for patients recuperating from non urgent 
operations were taken by emergency cases coming through A&E.

Throughout the year, a team of senior managers has worked on increasing patient 
‘flow’ through the hospital to free-up capacity to meet demand, enhance our patients’ 
experience, limit their waiting times and improve performance against targets. Working 
in partnership with other NHS organisations through the local A&E Delivery Board has 
also helped.

Financially, it has been a difficult year with a large savings programme in place from 
April 2016. Set against the challenges of the increasing demand, it was due to our 
management of costs, the success of our transformation programme and the hard work 
of all of our staff that we achieved our targets and saved £10.3million. Some of this 
included savings that would be made each year, but some related to one off savings. 

The coming year sees yet more challenges and a significant financial target to achieve.
As the Chairman has pointed out, this report includes some of the fantastic work that 
our staff have been involved in to improve care for our patients. I would particularly 
like to highlight:

• Performance against our objectives, page 12

• Savings and transformation on page 18

• Developing our services and facilities from page 33

• Our staff commitment to excellence and innovation from page 48

Christine Allen
Chief Executive 
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Our purpose, strategy, objectives and risks
This section of the report provides a brief summary of our aims and progress over the 
last year in achieving what we set out to do. Further information is included within the 
Annual Governance Statement contained in the Financial Statements.

The hospital was built in 1981. We were the first Foundation Trust in Norfolk and 
Suffolk, authorised on 1 August 2006, and since known as the James Paget University 
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust. We are governed by a Board of Directors and the 
Council of Governors. Externally, our activities are overseen by NHS Improvement (NHSI) 
and by legislation. Our quality of care is assessed by the CQC.

Like all NHS Foundation Trusts, there are three components:

• Membership Community: This includes staff, patients and carers and the public.  
Membership is open to anyone over 16 who has either been a patient or carer at our 
hospital, is a member of staff, or who lives in our defined catchment area.  We have 
nearly 12,000 public and staff members

• Council of Governors: We have 28 Governors plus the Chairman of the Board who 
also chairs the Council. This includes elected public and staff Governors, NHS partner 
and local authority representatives 

• Board of Directors: Non Executive and Executive Directors, including three non voting 
members and the Trust Secretary.
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We provide a full range of district general hospital services for the population of Great 
Yarmouth, Lowestoft and the surrounding areas. This includes the many visitors to this 
popular holiday destination. The 230,000 population is expected to grow by 1.1% every 
year until 2021. 

Our vision is
To be an innovative organisation 
delivering compassionate and safe 
patient care through a well led 
and motivated workforce.

• We strive to improve clinical care and patient 
experience to meet the needs of all those that 
use our services. 

• We must continue to meet the demands of 
our patients, working in partnership with other 
organisations to make sure that services are 
available. 

• Advances in health care mean that people 
are generally living longer, some with complex 
and multiple long term conditions that we 
could not have treated in the past. We have 
been working together in some services over 
the last few years. We must now go even 
further to ensure we can continue to deliver 
our patients with the most cost effective, 
high quality and efficient service that we can, 
eliminating waste and cutting bureaucracy 
where possible. 
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Our objectives

To ensure that we focused on the right areas for our patients, only four high level 
objectives were set this year. Overseeing progress and managing the risks that might 
stop us achieving our plan, is done through the Board Assurance Framework (BAF). 
Relevant risks are considered at each Board of Directors’ Committee, with the full 
document at the monthly public Board meetings. 

Whilst not all objectives were fully achieved this year, two were as a direct result of 
national changes:

Performance against strategic objectives 2016/17
1 The quality priorities as set out in 

the 2015/16 Quality Report are fully 
achieved by 31st March 2017     

78% achieved 

The majority of elements as set out in the BAF were 
achieved.  Due to national changes in requirements 
full achievement was not possible for two elements: 
for seven day services compliance can be demonstrated 
for two of the four standards.  The NHS Mandate for 
2017/18 has updated the requirements for seven day 
services as follows: to deliver compliance with the four 
priority standards for five key areas (vascular, stroke, 
major trauma, heart attack and PICU) by November 
2017; and to 50% of the population by April 2018.

In terms of the Accessible Information Standard, 
along with other organisations in the NHS, full 
implementation has proven difficult due to old IT 
systems.  A national review of the standard is currently 
underway.  

2 CQC Requirement Notices are lifted 
at re-inspection in 2016; those areas 
rated as  ‘requires improvement’ 
(Surgery and End of Life) can 
demonstrate improvements and 
the Trust has a fully developed 
Frail Elderly Strategy recognised 
across the Trust, which is being 
implemented in line with the plan

Fully achieved

Report, published in December 2016, following CQC 
inspection in August 2016 rated all core services as 
‘Good’ and both Requirement Notices were lifted.  This 
report highlighted numerous examples of good practice 
and a further Outstanding rating was received for the 
quality of care offered to patients reaching end of life.

3 Financial plan/control total (£2.2mil 
surplus at year end) is achieved and 
performance requirements to enable 
achievement of the Sustainability 
and Transformation Fund (STF) are 
delivered to trajectory. 

Fully achieved

Significant work has been undertaken by our staff 
to transform services and achieve annual savings of 
£10.3m, representing 5.4% of the Trust’s income. This 
action, which reduced the Trust’s underlying deficit 
from £(8.0)m at the start of the year to circa £(4.0)m at 
year end, together with prudent financial management 
in line with plan, has achieved full STF funding. The 
accounts for the year include the Trust’s achievement of 
its control total.

4 A fully developed five year 
Workforce Strategy for all staff 
groups, encompassing recruitment 
and retention, workforce planning, 
flexible workforce models with 
partner organisations, training 
and organisational development 
(the strategy will be agreed by 
end of September 2016 with key 
deliverables during the remainder of 
2016/17; in line with the Norfolk and 
Waveney Strategic Footprint and the 
Norfolk Provider Partnership).   

Fully achieved

Five year Workforce (People) Strategy approved by the 
Board of Directors in October 2016. Progress against the 
strategy has been monitored by the Board’s Safety and 
Quality Governance Committee (SQG) prior to the new 
Workforce, Education and Research Board Committee 
being set up in April 2017.
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Risks

The Board of Directors was fully informed of risks to achievement throughout the year 
via review of the BAF and escalation from the Board Committees including Safety and 
Quality Governance (SQG) and the Finance, Performance and Strategic Planning (FP&SP) 
Committee. 

The BAF has been developed by identifying the key risks to achievement of these 
objectives and hence the mitigation required and assurance to Board on progress.  

These key risks were as follows:

• Achievement of the four clinical seven day services standards – consistent 
achievement of consultant review within 14 hours of admission and ongoing 
consultant review could not be demonstrated throughout the year.  However, the 
Trust is in line with achievement of the revised national target of compliance with 
the four clinical standards by 2020  

• Full implementation of the Accessible Information Standard has not been achieved as 
detailed on page 12

• Achievement of the financial plan, as agreed with NHSI, has been adversely affected 
by emergency activity with A&E attendances and emergency admissions increasing 
well beyond that predicted when developing capacity plans for the year.  This has 
affected the Trust’s ability to deliver its elective programme which has affected 
income.  Achievement of the access targets has also been compromised.  The 
extenuating circumstances have been accepted by NHSI as reflected by the success of 
A&E performance appeals against the trajectory agreed for quarters 2 and 3.

The Risk Register identifies three extreme risks:

• Delivery of the £14.2 million savings programme

• Risk to achievement of access targets due to increasing demand, reducing capacity 
and failure of the health system resilience plan to deliver

• Use of extensive escalation beds to meet demand with the potential to compromise 
quality of care.

The Trust has targeted its Internal Audit programme to areas of risk to support 
identification of improvement actions.  This has resulted in some high risk findings in 
relation to:

• The governance surrounding the mortality review processes

• Recruitment processes in relation to temporary staffing

• The maturity of job planning processes.

All of these areas have been subject to follow up reviews. Whilst significant 
improvement in system controls is evident for mortality and temporary staffing 
processes, there is more to do in relation to job planning.



Page 14      James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust    Annual Report 2016/17 www.jpaget.nhs.uk

Our strategic plans
We are currently working on a new five-year strategy, with strategic ambitions and 
objectives that run for more than one year in some cases. This is an indication of some 
of the complex work that is required to transform services, some of which will take 
more than 12 months to complete.
 
A key part of delivering the strategy is through the Transformation and Savings 
Programme. Overseen by a Board chaired by the Chief Executive, the transformation 
programme and projects seek to build upon the successes achieved this year. In 2017/18 
a rolling programme of service reviews will be undertaken to look at patient pathways 
and how we deliver our services to work with others and give the best possible care in 
the right place at the right time.       
 
We are actively supporting the agreement between the three acute hospitals that 
form the Norfolk Hospitals Group, which came together in 2016. This will maximise the 
opportunities for the trusts to work together to improve service delivery, share best 
practice and make savings. The hospitals are starting work in a number of service areas 
to see how capacity and demand can be better addressed across the system to improve 
patient care and experience as well as make efficiencies.
 
The Norfolk Provider Partnership, which involves the key health sector partners in 
Norfolk and Waveney, is reviewing a number of supporting functions to ensure value 
for money is being delivered. This includes developing a common approach to buying 
goods and services across all organisations.      
 
We are working more closely with other organisations than ever before, with more 
detail on the Norfolk and Waveney STP on page 39. The Board has fully reviewed its 
stakeholder relationships this year with a renewed focus on how we will engage with 
our partners to enhance the care that our patients receive.
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Significant discussion with Board members, Council of Governors, members of staff and 
our Hospital Management Board led to final approval of the strategic ambitions for the 
coming year.
 
As we have done in previous years, the final seven ambitions have been circulated to 
our staff and displayed for the public in a simple poster so that everyone is clear on our 
focus in the coming year.

Beneath these ambitions sit the detailed strategic objectives:

1a  Delivery of this year’s Quality priorities

1b  CQC outstanding actions

2a  Systematic review of services 

2b  Capacity and demand assessment

3a  Financial and use of resources delivery

4a  Delivery of Well-led action plan

4b  Demonstrate Outstanding for Well Led

4c  Effectiveness of clinical leadership models

4d  Delivery of this year’s Five Year People Strategy priorities

5a  Service sustainability through the Acute Services Review

5b  STP-wide corporate service consolidation

5c  Explore opportunities for a Great Yarmouth & Waveney Multi
      Specialty Community Provider

5d  Develop a Norfolk Hospitals Group Strategy

6a  Deliver the year one Commercial Strategy actions

6b  Develop and publish the Trust’s Clinical Strategy aligned STP-wide

7a  Delivery of this year’s Site Strategy priorities

7b  Alignment of Information Management & Technology (IM&T) with Norfolk 
Hospitals Group and wider STP
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How we have performed – our analysis
The final position against the main performance indicators we measure is set out below:

Indicator
Threshold 
2016/17

JPUH
2016/17

1
Maximum time of 18 weeks from point of referral to 
treatment in aggregate – patients on an incomplete 
pathway

92% 87.70%

2
A&E: maximum waiting time of four hours from 
arrival to admission/transfer/discharge

95% 90.59%

3
All cancers: 62 day wait for 
first treatment from:

urgent GP referral for 
suspected cancer

85% 88.58%

NHS Cancer Screening 
Service referral

90% 97.59%

4
All cancers: 31 day wait 
for second or subsequent 
treatment, comprising:

surgery 94% 98.15%

anti-cancer drug 
treatments

98% 100%

radiotherapy 94% N/A

5
All cancers: 31-day wait from diagnosis to first 
treatment

96% 99.49%

6
Cancer: two week wait from 
referral to date first seen, 
comprising

all urgent referrals 
(cancer suspected)

93% 97.00%

for symptomatic 
breast patients (cancer 
not initially suspected)

93% 94.76%

14 C difficile – meeting the C. difficile objective
17 cases

de minimis 
=12

9

20
Certification against compliance with requirements 
regarding access to health care for people with a 
learning disability

Compliance Compliance

Income and expenditure

The Trust reported a surplus of £2.5million before impairments for 2016/17 £(6.5)m 
excluding the impact of consolidating its charitable funds (2015/16 deficit: £19.0 million). 
However, as was the case in 2015/16 the reported surplus is after the impact of two 
significant exceptional items. This year’s 2016/17 accounts include an impairment charge 
of £(6.5)m, and non-recurrent STF income of £6.5m, to leave an underlying net deficit of 
£(4.0)m.  This impact is set out below:
                2016/17 2015/16
 £m £m

(Deficit) per financial statements - non-consolidated (4.0) (19.0)
Impairments charged to SoCI from revaluation exercise 6.5 12.5

Surplus/(deficit) excluding impairments 2.5 (6.5)

STF income (6.5) n/a 
Dept. of Health Income from capital to revenue transfer n/a (1.5)
Underlying net (deficit) (4.0) (8.0)
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An interim desktop valuation of land and buildings as of 1 March 2017 was carried out 
by professional valuers and is the principle reason for the £6.5m impairment charge 
against the Trust’s revenue position in the 2016/17 financial statements.  Non-operating 
income in 2016/17 includes £6.5m of STF income which is performance related and non-
recurrent in nature.

As these transactions are non-recurrent they do not affect the underlying performance 
of the Trust which for 2016/17 is a deficit of £(4.0)m compared to a deficit of £(8.0)m in 
2015/16.

The scheme for allocating STF income to provider Trusts during 2016/17 was based 
on a combination of financial and operational performance targets.  The financial 
performance element was to achieve a specified Control Total surplus, whilst the 
operational performance element was related to A&E and access targets.  Both the 
financial and performance target elements were fully achieved which entitled the Trust 
to total STF income of £6.5m for the year.

Capital investments

The Trust’s key capital investments during 2016/17 are shown below. A total of 4.4m 
was invested during the year including just under £1m on the replacement of the Trust’s 
second CT scanner and further significant investment of £0.9m in IT infrastructure.

Capital investments 2016/17 £’000

CT scanner replacement 991

Purchase of gastroscopes, colonoscopes, video stacks, endoscopes 671

IT storage upgrade 367

Three cardiac ultrasound (Echo) machines 244

Children’s clinic developments 209

Theatres upgrade and clog washer 159

Catering dishwasher 129

Retinal laser and yag laser (Ophthalmology) 101

Other IT investments 563

General estates work 354

Other equipment replacement 616

Total 4,404

Cash and financing

The Trust’s non-consolidated cash position improved by £0.7m during 2016/17, with cash 
and cash equivalents of £11.6m held at 31 March 2017.  Of the £4.4m of capital expenditure, 
£2.7m was funded from the re-investment of Trust surpluses, whilst £1.7m was from either 
finance leases or in the form of grants from the hospital’s charitable funds.

During 2016/17 the Trust made final repayments of its interest free carbon trust loans 
through the Salix fund.  The original loans totalling £0.6m have been repaid from the 
savings generated by reduced energy costs and are in effect self-financing as well as 
enabling reductions in carbon emissions.

A managed service contract for the provision of PACS (Picture archiving and 
communication system) services is in place and this is recorded in the accounts as a finance 
lease with a liability of £1.0m as at 31 March 2017.  An additional £1.2m of new finance 
lease contracts were entered into during the year to fund a CT scanner and IT equipment.  
As at 31 March 2017 total borrowings are £2.2m.  The Trust’s Use of Resources (UoR) score 
for capital service capacity for quarter 4 was 1, the highest rating available.
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Savings and transformation

Our staff have worked hard to achieve more than £10 million in savings during the year. 
The transformation plan originally set an ambitious target of delivering more than £14 
million. Whilst this was not achieved, the total of £10.3 million far exceeded previous 
annual savings totals, thanks to the efforts of staff across the hospital.

The savings total achieved represents 5.4% of the Trust’s budget – above the average 
for NHS providers of 3 to 3.5%.

Savings were achieved through a variety of projects, such as:

• £1m through reduced agency spend by enforcing national agency cap arrangements

• Trust vacancy management saved at least £50,000

• £101,000 by reducing the volume of high-cost drugs prescribed and, where necessary, 
switching to cheaper alternatives

• £17,000 per year by finding an alternative supplier of intra-vitreal injection packs.

The Trust also had a Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) programme 
for the year. This scheme is an opportunity for commissioners to incentivise healthcare 
providers to deliver clinical quality improvements within a 12 month period and drive 
transformational change. 

There were a total of 14 CQUINS during 2016/17 including:

• The introduction of staff health and well-being initiatives

• Improving uptake of the flu vaccination by frontline clinical staff

• Timely identification and treatment for sepsis.

Good progress was made in several areas including 
increasing the probability of surviving sepsis and reducing 
the risk of readmission. A successful flu vaccination 
campaign significantly increased the number of staff 
vaccinated.

Communications to staff have highlighted these successes 
through the Transformation intranet page, e-newsletters, 
the monthly leadership briefing and social media.

Going concern 

The Board has been regularly updated on the ongoing financial plans of the Trust, via 
the Trust’s Finance, Performance and Strategic Planning Committee, and also its Audit 
Committee. The Board has agreed budgets for 2017/18 and this also forms the basis of 
the annual financial plan which was submitted to NHS Improvement as part of the 2017 
to 2019 Operating Plan. The Operational Plan considers the future financial, operational 
and environmental conditions and associated risks.

Having received this information the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the 
Trust has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable 
future. For this reason they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the 
accounts.
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Sustainability 

As the largest public sector emitter of carbon emissions, the health system has a duty to 
respond to meet these targets which are entrenched in law.

The Trust continues to make significant progress to improve its impact on the 
environment and improve its sustainability.
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Reducing our emissions

We established our baseline in 2007/08 and have made significant capital investment 
over the past 10 years to help reduce CO2 emissions. 

Over the past year the total emissions produced by the Trust from imported gas, oil 
and electricity have reduced by 565 tCO2e. This reduction in CO2 emissions is due 
to improved utilisation of renewable energy sources such as Combined Heat and 
Power Generators, PV Solar panels and efficient boiler plant and as a result of site 
rationalisation. 

The James Paget Hospital site is
responsible for 90% of the Trust’s 
overall CO2 emissions. The Staff 
Residences, Lowestoft Hospital and 
Newberry Child Development Centre 
collectively equate to 10% of the 
Trust’s total emissions. 

Services moved from Lowestoft 
Hospital in year, with the final two 
outpatient departments moving off 
site from 5 December 2016.

In the 2016/17 reporting period 53% 
of the James Paget Hospitals’ electrical 
power requirement was generated 
from ‘green’ technologies. This is an 
improvement of 12% over the previous 
year’s performance due to improved 
availability of PV Solar generation and the 
efficient use of Combined Heat and Power 
plant. 
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Comparative sites

It is possible to compare the Trust with similar organisations via the annual ERIC (Estates 
Return Information Collection) returns. The ERIC data is collected by the Health and 
Social Care Information Centre and is published on behalf of the Department of Health. 

The following graph shows the total amount of carbon emissions per occupied floor 
area for NHS University Hospitals located within the Midlands and East of England 
Commissioning Region for the latest published reporting period 2015/16:

Data Source: Estates and Returns Information Collection: England 2015/16

Future developments

Implementation of the Site Development and Estate Strategy will help to support the 
Trust’s commitment to reduce its carbon emissions by:

• Ensuring that land and property are used effectively to support commissioners’ and 
the Trust’s own clinical strategies to best meet patient needs

• Providing and maintaining an appropriate level of affordable NHS healthcare 
facilities in the right locations, which are fit for purpose, safe and compliant with 
legislation and relevant guidance

• Achieving continuous improvement and better efficiencies from the performance of 
the estate

• Improving efficiencies in the cost of construction; and

• Identifying and releasing surplus land for development or disposal.

Information on our Trust policies and staffing can be found in the Staff Report on
page 48.
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Post year end events

Our Chairman, David Wright, left the Trust on 30 April 2017 having tendered his 
resignation in December 2016. The Council of Governors led the appointment process 
for his successor, with Anna Davidson, Deputy Chair, appointed by the Council on 7 April 
for a three year term of office, following a robust recruitment process and external 
advert. This enabled a significant handover prior to the end of April.

David was appointed Chairman in June 2012 and oversaw a programme of continuous 
improvement at the hospital. The former Director of Social Services at Norfolk County 
Council took over at a time when the hospital had been criticised by the independent 
regulator of health and social care services in England, the CQC. He stood down after 
having helped guide the hospital to achieve a rating of “Good” by the CQC, with 
standards of care being highlighted as strong across the board.

Anna has pledged to continue the good work of her predecessor with the aim of 
making quality of care ‘outstanding.’ She plans to build on the strong foundations 
now in place while ensuring the Trust plays a lead role in the transformation of local 
healthcare services, working closely with local NHS and social care partners.~

~

“I am very much looking forward to the challenge,” Anna said. 
“David will be a tough act to follow but I am determined to carry on 
his good work.”

“The Trust has been on a journey of improvement over the last few 
years.  The next part of the journey is to maintain and improve the 
quality of care for our patients. We cannot sit back and think ‘that’s 
good enough.’ We should aspire to reach the next level – and that is 
to be recognised as outstanding for the quality of care we provide.”

The Trust has also been successful in its bid for £1m capital monies to support 
developments and enhance patient care for our population. This will enable our staff to 
continue modernising the Emergency Department, working with our partners.

Christine Allen 
Chief Executive and Accounting Officer
22 May 2017
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Accountability report
Directors’ report 

Meet the Board of Directors

The Board membership for 2016/17 is set out below:

Voting Board Members

David Wright - Chairman

Appointed by the Council of Governors June 2012, reappointed for a second three year term from 1 June 2015 until 
31 May 2018. Announced his resignation December 2016 and left the Trust 30 April 2017.

David has held a variety of posts including Director of Social Services at Norfolk County Council, Chairman of 
Crossroads Caring for Carers 2003-2010, a Non Executive Director at the Norfolk and Norwich University Hospital and 

Chairman of Families House and was previously Priscilla Bacon Lodge Support Group Chairman.

Chair: Board of Directors, Board Seminars, Executive Nomination & Remuneration Committee; Council of Governors 
and its Nomination & Remuneration Committee.

Executive Directors

Christine Allen - Chief Executive

Appointed July 2013

Christine has worked for the NHS for over 30 years, most recently as Deputy Chief Executive at Northampton General 
Hospital NHS Trust prior to joining the Trust. 

Christine has held both operational management and strategic planning roles at board level and has led significant 
transformational change and service redesign in clinical services.

Responsibilities: Accounting Officer; Chair of the Clinical Research Network Eastern; Acute hospitals lead for the 
Norfolk and Waveney Sustainability and Transformation Plan.

Mark Flynn - Director of Finance

Appointed April 2014

Mark has worked at the hospital since 2007 initially as Deputy Director of Finance and then as Director of Finance in 
2014. Mark previously held senior finance roles within the social housing sector, with over 20 years finance experience 

gained in both the public and private sectors.

Mark is a Governor at the Lowestoft Sixth Form College and chairs their Audit Committee. He is a Fellow Chartered 
Certificated Accountant (FCCA) and is also a member of the Association of Accounting Technicians (MAAT).

Responsibilities: Finance; Procurement; Contracting; Commercial support; Estates and Facilities; SIRO - Senior 
Information Risk Owner (information governance).

 

Nick Oligbo - Medical Director

Appointed April 2013

Nick has been a consultant obstetrician and gynaecologist at the hospital since 2001 and has presented and published 
widely in gynaecology, both nationally and internationally.

He is a Fellow of the Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists where he sits on the patient information 
committee. He is a member of the International Continence Society, as well as the International Urogynaecological 

Association.

Responsibilities: Lead for Medical and Dental practitioners including medical education; Co-Director/Joint Executive 
with Director of Nursing for Clinical Practice; Medicines Management Lead (including lead for pharmacy); Leads on 

Clinical Audit and Effectiveness; Radiation; Seven day services; Caldicott Guardian (with Hazel Stuart, Deputy Medical 
Director); Mortality lead; Medical revalidation; Cancer lead; Research.

 

Julia Hunt – Director of Nursing

Appointed December 2016 (Acting role from May 2016)

Julia is a registered nurse who has worked in the NHS for over 28 years. She has spent the majority of her career at 
James Paget University Hospitals performing a variety of roles including Clinical Nurse Specialist in Palliative Care and 

Head Nurse for Safeguarding Adults.

The majority of Julia’s nursing practice has been in emergency medicine.

Responsibilities: Lead for Nursing, Midwifery and AHPs; Co-Director/Joint Executive with Medical Director for Clinical 
Practice; Director of Infection Prevention and Control (DIPC); Safeguarding Lead; Nurse/Midwifery Revalidation; End 

of Life; Learning Disabilities; Dementia; Non-medical education; Chaplaincy.

 

Graham Wilde - Chief Operating Officer

Appointed March 2017 (Acting role from September 2016) 

After spending 12 years in the RAF as an engineer, and eight years as a Baptist Minister, Graham joined the NHS 
in 2000 as a Hospital Chaplain. Graham moved into general management and has held senior roles in both acute 

sector provision and commissioning including Divisional General Manager roles in both Medicine and Surgery in the 
acute sector. He was a Director of Strategy and Partnership in North East Lincolnshire Care Trust Plus, which was an 

organisation responsible for commissioning and providing Community Health and Social Care.

Graham first joined the Paget’s team in June 2015.  

Responsibilities: Operational delivery and performance, Hospital Management Board; Business continuity; Health and 
Safety; Decontamination; Security director.
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Non Executive Directors

Non Executive Directors are appointed by the Council of Governors for a three year term of office.

Paula Kerr - Non Executive Director

Appointed by the Council of Governors for her first three year term of office from
1 November 2016 until 31 October 2019

A former group director at pharmaceutical company SmithKline Beecham and chair of a national charity
Paula has experience at board level in private, public and voluntary sector organisations in the fields of health,

social care and education.

 She joins the Trust after spending more than three years working as a trustee, vice chair and chair of trustees at 
Livability, a national charity providing disability and community services. Prior to that, Paula has had Non Executive 

roles in an acute hospital, a Mental Health Trust and a Strategic Health Authority.

Responsibilities: Chair’s the Board’s Charitable Fund Committee; business and marketing strategy.

 

Dr David Ellis, Senior Independent Director

Reappointed by the Council of Governors for a second three year term of office from 1 December 2014 until 30 
November 2017

David spent 25 years as a consultant at the JPUH. He was formerly Medical Director and Director of the Norfolk 
and Waveney Cancer Network. He retired from the health service in 2008 and understands how the Trust needs to 

continue to develop its services and maintain high standards in the modern NHS.

Chair: Safety & Quality Governance Committee; Non Executive Lead for quality, care of the dying, medical 
revalidation, mortality and governance.

 

Anna Davidson, Deputy Chair - Non Executive Director

Appointed by the Council of Governors for her first three year term of office, until February 2019;
Deputy Chair from 1 November 2016

Anna has worked predominantly within the public and private sectors, most recently as a senior executive director 
within the Norse Group, which she left in August 2015. During her 10 years at Norse Property Services (NPS), Anna 

was a key member of the Strategic Leadership Team and her responsibilities included business development, strategic 
planning and the development of new joint ventures and consultancy services.

She has previously been a Director on the boards of three subsidiary companies within the Norse Group as
well as being a Director on the Board of the North Lincolnshire Local Education Partnership, where NPS

was a founding partner.

Until November Anna was a Non Executive Director of East Coast Community Healthcare, which has close links
with the James Paget University Hospital.

Responsibilities: Chair, Board’s Finance, Performance & Strategic Planning Committee; Council of Governors’ Review 
and Planning and Patient Experience and Public Engagement Committees.  Non Executive lead for safeguarding, Being 

Open, partnerships, site strategy business developments and joint ventures.

 

Professor Nicola Spalding - Non Executive Director, representing the University of East Anglia

Appointed by the Council of Governors for her first three year term of office from 1 April 2016 until 31 March 2019

Nicola is an occupational therapist, who previously worked at the James Paget Hospital for nine years specialising 
in orthopaedics and palliative care. For the last 22 years she has worked as a lecturer in occupational therapy, 
and was appointed as Professor of Occupational Therapy in 2013. Nicola teaches preregistration occupational 

therapy students, and also lecturers on a Masters programme in clinical education to support health and social care 
professionals who want to enhance their role as educators in the workplace.

As well as lecturing Nicola has had a number of leadership roles at the university, including Course Director for both 
the BSc and MSc preregistration Occupational Therapy programmes, Teaching Director for the School of Allied Health 

Professions, Associate Dean for the Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences and Deputy Head of the
School of Health Sciences.

Responsibilties: Non Executive lead role for workforce and Clinical Excellence Awards; chairs the Remarkable People 
Organising Committee.

 

Peter Hargrave - Non Executive Director

Appointed by the Council of Governors for his first three year term of office, until October 2016. Reappointed for a 
second three term term until 13 October 2019

Peter has worked across a number of Non Executive roles, including Vice Chair of Broadland Housing Group, and 
Board member of NHS Great Yarmouth and Waveney, Great Yarmouth Port Authority and the Ministry of Defence 

Police and Guarding Agency. His professional background is in accountancy and management, having worked across 
public, private and not-for-profit sectors.

Responsibilities: Chair of the Board’s Audit Committee; Non Executive lead for whistleblowing (raising concerns) and 
local security management (security overview).

Non Voting Members

Dawn Cumby – Associate Director of Workforce

Joined the Trust in June 2015; Appointed to current role October 2015

Dawn brings more than 30 years experience in both the public and private HR sectors, the last 13 of which have been 
in the NHS acute sector. Dawn is a Member of the Chartered Institute of Personnel and Development.

Responsibilities: Leading the Workforce Directorate on employee relations, medical staffing, recruitment, 
training and organisational/leadership development, workforce strategy and planning, operational HR functions, 

apprenticeships, equality and diversity and library services.

Andrew Palmer - Director of Strategy and Transformation

Appointed on the Board from December 2013 as Associate Director; Director role from January 2015

Andrew has worked in a variety of senior management roles over the last 22 years in both the public and private 
sectors, with the last 14 years working in the NHS. He leads on partnership working for the Trust and spends 

significant time supporting the Norfolk and Waveney STP.

Responsibilities: Transformation; Strategy and planning; Performance management; Information Technology and 
informatics.
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Anna Hills - Director of Governance; Deputy Chief Executive February-August 2017

Appointed on the Board from December 2013 as Associate Director; Director role from October 2015

Anna has worked at the Trust since 2010 and has held a number of previous roles within the NHS and private sector 
leading quality, assurance and service development activities.  Anna has a clinical background, having originally 

trained as an orthoptist. Anna has responsibilities for a range of portfolios including patient safety, patient 
experience, clinical audit, medico-legal services, health and safety and compliance.

Responsibilities: Accountable Officer for Controlled Drugs; Executive oversight of workforce; risk and governance; 
communications; corporate affairs; Freedom of Information Act.

 

Ann Filby - Head of Communications and Corporate Affairs

Appointed to Trust 2006; Head of Communications from September 2010

Ann joined the Trust in 2006 to manage the Monitor assessment process for becoming a Foundation Trust, having 
previously worked in a community NHS Trust and a Primary Care Trust in Norwich. Ann has since held a number of 
slightly different roles, but all encompassing elements of communications, and has managed Board processes since 
joining the Trust. From 2015 Ann has taken over responsibility for the Trust’s corporate office supporting the Board 

of Directors and management of Freedom of Information requests.

Ann is an accredited PR practitioner and Member of the Chartered Institute of Public Relations.

Responsibilities: Trust Secretary including Board of Directors, Council of Governors and membership; internal and 
external communications; patient information; corporate office; Freedom of Information Act.

The Board’s role

The Board provides leadership and sets the tone for the organisation. As a unitary 
board, the Non Executive Directors share responsibility with the Executive Directors for 
ensuring resources are in place to meet the objectives set. In an emergency, powers are 
exercised by the Chief Executive and Chairman after having consulted at least two Non 
Executive Directors. 

The Chairman leads both the Board and the Council of Governors, ensuring that there 
are effective processes for the Board and Governors to work together and, with the 
Chief Executive, that there is an accurate record of decision making. The Chairman 
ensures that meetings take place with the Non Executive Directors only, without the 
Executive Directors, as necessary. The Executive Team meets separately to ensure the 
day to day running of the hospital is effective. The processes for Board meetings and 
support continue to evolve and will be reviewed during 2017/18 with the new Chair.
 
The Trust Secretary ensures that the functions of the Board of Directors and the Council 
of Governors work effectively and leads on the Trust’s Constitution and the wider 
Corporate Governance Framework, both of which set out how we work. This ensures 
that all processes fit together and that our Governors are consulted at the right time on 
any ‘significant transactions’ and any major changes to services that would affect our 
patients. There is a clear process in place for Governors to raise issues and, if these are 
not resolved satisfactorily, the Senior Independent Director will deal with any disputes.

A Lead and Deputy Lead Governor are in place and will continue until the end of 
their term of office in July 2017. They work closely with the Chairman and the Trust 
Secretary to ensure that the structure of the Council supports Governors to undertake 
their statutory role and add value. Governors meet with the Non Executive Directors as 
necessary, usually prior to a formal Council meeting. 

As well as the scheduled Board meetings regular, more informal Board Seminars take 
place where the performance of the Board and its strategic thinking is considered in 
detail. The programme for 2017/18 is more robust than in previous years, recognising 
the changing nature of healthcare,  the need to work in partnership more effectively 
than ever before, and taking account of the outcome of an external Well-led 
governance review in the autumn.
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Attendance at Board meetings this year is set out below:

Meeting Date
Name of 
Person

Role 29/04/16 19/05/16 27/05/16 17/06/16 24/06/16 1/08/16 30/09/16 21/10/16 25/11/16 16/12/16 27/01/17 24/02/17 31/03/17

Trust Board of Directors
David 
Wright

Chairman 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

Christine 
Allen

Chief 
Executive

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

Mark Flynn
Director of 
Finance

1 1 1 1 1 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

Liz 
Libiszewski

Director of 
Nursing and 
Workforce/
Deputy Chief 
Executive (to 
May 2016)

1

Julia Hunt

Acting 
Director of 
Nursing (from 
May 2016)

1 1 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

Nick Oligbo
Medical 
Director

1 1 1 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

Sue 
Watkinson

Director of 
Operations

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

Graham 
Wilde

Chief 
Operating 
Officer

1 1 1 1 1 1 0

Peter 
Franzen

Deputy 
Chairman

1 1 0 1 1 1 1 0

Anna 
Davidson

Non Executive 
Director 
(Deputy Chair 
November)

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 0 1 1 1 1 1

Dr David 
Ellis

Non Executive 
Director 

1 1 1 0 0 1 1 0 1 1 1 1 1

Peter 
Hargrave

Non Executive 
Director

1 1 1 1 1 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

Professor 
Nicola 
Spalding

Non Executive 
Director

1 1 1 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 0 1

Paula Kerr
Non Executive 
Director

1 1 1 1 1

Non Voting Members 

Dawn 
Cumby

Associate 
Director of 
Workforce

1 0 1 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

Anna Hills

Director of 
Governance/
Deputy Chief 
Executive

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

Andrew 
Palmer

Director of 
Strategy and 
Transformation

1 1 1 1 1 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

Ann Filby

Head of 
Communications 
and Corporate 
Affairs

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

In attendance for substantive Board member

Hazel Stuart
Deputy 
Medical 
Director 

0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Ed Taylor
Deputy 
Director of 
Finance 

0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1 = Attended  0 = Did not attend

Board members during the year
Sue Watkinson, Chief Operating Officer, to 4 November 2016
Liz Libiszewski, Director of Nursing, to 19 May 2016
Peter Franzen OBE, Deputy Chair and Senior Independent Director, to 31 October 2016.

Julia Hunt was appointed as Director of Nursing from 1 January 2017.
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Board member interests
To ensure transparency, Board member interests are included as part of the public Board 
meeting papers available on the Trust’s website. On appointment, new Board members 
complete a declaration with any changes during the year declared immediately to the 
Head of Communications & Corporate Affairs (Trust Secretary) and formally included at 
the next meeting. This process has been merged with the annual review of the CQC’s Fit 
and Proper Person Requirement for directors, with the Chair reviewing the evidence for 
each Board member on an annual basis.

Further details are available from the Trust Secretary on request. 

Non Executive Director independence
In line with regulatory guidance, the Chairman must on appointment meet the 
independence criteria, which forms part of the recruitment process. The Board of 
Directors considers on an annual basis whether the Chairman and the other Non 
Executive Directors continue to meet this criteria. 

The Board has previously agreed that the annual review of the Declarations of Interests 
would be sufficient for confirming independence. There having been no significant 
changes in the commitments that would affect the Chairman’s ability to carry out his 
role, and in considering all other declarations, the independence of the Chairman and 
all Non Executive Directors is confirmed for the year to 31 March 2017. 

As part of the recruitment process for the new Chair, the successful candidate was 
required to outline their significant commitments and to report any changes to the 
Council of Governors as they arise. 

The Audit Committee 

Peter Hargrave, Non Executive Director, was Chair of the Audit Committee throughout 
2016/17.  The Director of Finance, the Director of Governance, the Head of Internal 
Audit, a Local Counter Fraud Specialist and a representative of the External Auditors 
normally attend meetings of the Committee. The Trust Chairman and Chief Executive 
attend by invitation.

Meetings are held not less than five times a year. The Committee receives reports 
and assurance from directors and managers as appropriate, concentrating on the 
overarching systems of integrated governance, risk management and internal control, 
together with indicators of their effectiveness.

In particular, the Committee reviews the adequacy of:

• All risk and control related disclosure statements (in particular the Annual 
Governance Statement), together with any accompanying Head of Internal Audit 
statement, prior to endorsement by the Board of Directors

• The underlying assurance processes that indicate the degree of achievement of 
corporate objectives, the effectiveness of the management of principal risks and the 
appropriateness of the disclosure notices

• The policies for ensuring compliance with relevant regulatory, legal and code of 
conduct requirements; and

• The policies and procedures for all work related to fraud and corruption as set out in 
the Secretary of State Directions and as required by the NHS Counter Fraud Service, 
NHS Protect.

The Committee receives a monitoring report at each meeting on the progress of the 
internal audit programme in accordance with the agreed audit plan. The overall 
effectiveness of the work of the internal auditors is reviewed through annual 
monitoring against agreed key performance indicators.
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Assurance is sought from a number of areas, concentrating on the overarching systems 
of integrated governance, risk management and internal control, together with 
indicators of their effectiveness:

• The work of Internal Audit

• The work of the Local Counter Fraud Specialists

• External Audit

• Through the representations given by directors and managers as appropriate; and

• The findings of other significant assurance functions, both internal and external to 
the Trust, i.e. reviews by Department of Health Arms Length Bodies or Regulators/
professional bodies.

The significant issues considered by the Audit Committee in relation to the financial 
statements, operations and compliance are discussed in further detail within the 
Annual Governance Statement from page 3-9 of the financial statements. There was 
one personal data incident, details of which are included in the Annual Governance 
Statement within the financial statements.

The Trust has an internal audit function which is outsourced from an external third party 
provider, Price Waterhouse Coopers. Their role is to provide the Trust with assurances 
around the effectiveness of internal controls. The internal audit plan is structured around 
corporate level objectives and risks and audit work is performed in alignment with Public 
Sector Internal Audit Standards. For further information see page 13.

The external auditors for the Trust for 2016/17 were KPMG LLP.  Following an external 
tendering process undertaken during the summer of 2016, the Council of Governors 
received a recommendation from the Audit Committee and approved the appointment 
of KPMG LLP in September 2016.  The current best practice is for a three to five year 
period of appointment. The Trust’s outgoing external auditors were Grant Thornton UK 
LLP who served in this position for four years from 2012/13 to 2015/16.

The effectiveness of the external audit process is assessed by the Audit Committee, 
through direct receipt of reports from the external auditors to the Committee, and also 
through a formal management report on the work.

The Trust’s external auditors did not provide any non-audit services during the year.

Committee membership and attendance during the year is set out below.

Meeting Date

Name of Person Role 13/04/16 18/05/16 06/07/16 14/09/16 07/12/16 08/02/17 Total

Committee Members

Peter Hargrave 
Non Executive 
Director (Chair)

1 1 1 1 1 1 6

Paula Kerr
Non Executive 
Director 

1 1 2

Dr David Ellis 
Non Executive 
Director 

1 1 1 1 1 1 6

Anna Davidson
Non Executive 
Director

1 1 1 0 1 1 5

Regular Attendees

Mark Flynn 
Director of 
Finance 

1 1 0 1 1 1 5

Anna Hills
Director of 
Governance 

1 1 0 1 1 1 5

Gareth Davies
Financial 
Accountant

0 1 1 1 0 1 4

Edmund Taylor
Deputy Director 
of Finance

1 1 1 1 1 1 6

1 = Attended   0 = Did not attend
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Well-led governance review

During 2016/17 the Board commissioned an external well-led governance review in 
line with Monitor’s (now NHSI) Framework.  This was undertaken by Capsticks Solicitors 
Governance Consultancy Service following a specification being prepared and invitation 
to tender. Whilst Capsticks does provide the Trust’s legal services, this work was 
undertaken by a separate arm of that organisation. 

This review involved a comprehensive assessment of the Trust’s governance processes 
and included observation of Board of Directors meetings and Committees, the Council of 
Governors, interviews with Board members, other staff and stakeholders, and a desk top 
review of reports and other documents.  A Board Skills Analysis was also undertaken.  

The report and feedback received was very positive with areas of exemplary practice 
identified including the BAF and committee structure.  A plan has been developed to 
implement the recommendations for further improvement. This will be monitored 
through existing governance processes with the annual review of the Board structure 
and terms of reference scheduled in the autumn of 2017 also considering progress.

Our financial disclosures

Cost allocation and charging 

The Trust can confirm that it has complied with the cost allocation and charging 
guidance issued by HM Treasury.

Political donations 

The Trust has made no political donations to any individual, body or organisation 
during 2016/17 or 2015/16.

Better payment practice

The Better Payment Practice Code requires that all valid invoices be paid by their due 
date or within 30 days of receipt.  During the year the Trust paid invoices totalling 
£60.1m, of which 65% were paid within 30 days (2015/16 £73.3m, of which 81% were 
paid within 30 days). This comprised 42,856 bills, of which 64% were paid within 30 days 
(2015/16 47,625 separate bills, of which 76% were paid within 30 days).

Income disclosure

Under the requirements of Section 43(2A) of the NHS Act 2006 (as amended by the 
Health and Social Care Act 2012) the Trust can confirm that income from the provision 
of goods and services for the purpose of health services in England is greater than the 
income generated from the provision of goods and services for any other purpose. 
Income to the Trust from non-NHS sources has a positive impact on the provision of 
goods and services for the purposes of the health service, as all income is used for the 
benefit of NHS patients.

Disclosure to auditors

So far as the Directors are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the
Trust’s auditors are unaware, and the Directors have taken all of the steps that 
they ought to have taken as Directors in order to make themselves aware of any 
relevant audit information and to establish that the Trust’s auditors are aware of that 
information.
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Patient care and assessing quality 

In line with best practice, our Board and Committee structure is reviewed each year
to minimise duplication and make sure the meetings we have are effective. The full 
structure chart can be found on page 10.  Further detail of how the quality of services 
is monitored and improved is detailed in the Annual Governance Statement within the 
financial statements and the Trust’s Quality Report for 2016/17.

The Board Committee that leads on quality is the Safety and Quality Governance 
Committee (SQG) chaired by a Non Executive Director.  This is supported by a group of 
Executive led committees for all aspects of quality service provision.

In August 2016 the Trust received an announced re-inspection by the CQC as detailed 
earlier in this report. This resulted in an overall rating of ‘Good’, with all core services 
achieving a ‘Good’ rating and both Requirement Notices being lifted.  The detailed 
report can be found via this link to the CQC website: www.cqc.org.uk/location/RGP75  

Following receipt of the report, each core service has developed a plan to address any 
areas where further improvement is suggested.  This plan is monitored by the Patient 
Safety and Effectiveness Committee reporting to SQG.

The Trust continues to deliver its Quality Strategy for 2014-17 and aligned to this is a 
strategy for Patient Experience and Engagement. This details progress to date on the 
work to engage and involve patients and service users and our strategic vision and 
direction for the next three years. Further information is provided within the Quality 
Report 2016/17 including a full analysis of the themes and actions taken as a result.

The Trust’s Quality Report 201617 includes detailed sections regarding performance 
against key performance indicators, monitoring of local and national targets including 
CQUIN and our response to our announced CQC re-inspection in August 2016.  The 
Quality Report also provides significant detail regarding how we obtain feedback from 
service users - patients, their relatives and carers - both proactively via surveys, the 
Friends and Family Test, patient focus groups - and reactively in response to comments 
and queries on social media and contacts with the Patient Advice and Liaison Service 
(PALS) and Complaints teams.

We use patient surveys, feedback and CQC reports to continually develop our services 
and make improvements where this is required.

Findings from national surveys are reviewed and action plans developed to address any 
recommendations/decline in performance.  These are monitored through the Trust’s 
governance processes and meeting structure.
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Some of the changes we have made ……

Emergency Department national survey 2014 results,
action plan implemented up to December 2016

28% of patients said that they were not reassured by staff if distressed, 6% higher 
than national average, no previous data for the Trust  

Improvement - Bespoke training arranged for A&E staff in response to concerns.  Trust 
values and behaviours are continually reinforced as part of feedback mechanisms and 
staff appraisals. Results of all surveys are shared at the divisional governance meetings.

45% of patients did not receive pain relief when requested, 4% higher than the 
national average; 27% received pain relief when requested, 5% lower than the 
national average

Improvement - All patients have a pain intensity score assessment completed at first 
contact/on admission and administration of appropriate analgesia where required.  A 
team nursing strategy was implemented to support the delivery of a bundle of care 
with pain relief included.

Improvement - Staff training has been enhanced to utilise the Patient Group Directive 
(PGD) for analgesia.

National Inpatient Survey 2015, action plan implemented
with goals by December 2016

96% of patients did not feel threatened by other patients or visitors during their stay, 
a slight decline of 1% based on 2014 survey findings = equal to threshold for lowest 
scoring 20% of all trusts

Improvement - Violence incident reporting monitored through the Health, Safety and 
Staff Welfare Committee.

Improvement - Quarterly reports to be submitted to the Carer and Patient Experience 
Committee (CAPE) regarding number of days reported for patients requiring 
enhanced observation.

National Cancer Patient Experience Survey 2015

Patient not always told they could bring a friend when first told they had cancer

Improvement - All cancer nurse specialists and call centre teams  received education/
training to inform  the patient that they can bring a friend/relative with them to their 
appointment when liaising via telephone. Patient (iPM) letters are currently under 
review to include this information also.
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CQC reinspection

Our hospital has further strengthened the quality 
of the service it provides for its patients, according 
to the Care Quality Commission (CQC).

The CQC is the independent regulator of health and social care services in England. 
It carries out regular inspections of hospitals and other care providers, to ensure they 
are meeting fundamental standards of quality and safety. 

A team of inspectors visited the hospital on 16-17 August to conduct a re-inspection, 
following a full inspection carried out in 2015. This resulted in the hospital receiving 
an overall rating of “Good”, with staff praised as being “exceptionally caring” and 
going “the extra mile for patients”. 

Inspectors highlighted key areas where improvements had been made, based on 
recommendations from the CQC’s earlier inspection. These included:

• strengthening procedures around the checking of equipment

• opening a new children’s outpatient department

• opening a dedicated emergency theatre

• developing a new end of life care strategy; and 

• implementing a new care pathway for older people.

Their report also noted that staff caring for patients reaching the end of their lives 
went “above and beyond” to show compassion to them.

Following our inspection the CQC 
released another report which 
confirmed that our hospital is in 
the top third of acute trusts when 
it comes to standards of service for 
patients, based on their inspection 
work over the last two years.  

CQC inspectors visited a total of 
136 acute trusts – and the report 
showed that 39 (29%) including the 
James Paget, were rated as “Good.” 
Five acute trusts (4%) were rated 
as “Outstanding” while a total of 
80 (59%) were rated as “Requires 
Improvement.” 12 (9%) were found 
to be inadequate.

Combined ratings from
12 November 2015
20 December 2016

Overall
rating

.

.

James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

James Paget Hospital

Safe Effective Caring Responsive Well led Overall

Medical care (including
older people’s care) Requires

improvement Good

Urgent and emergency
services (A&E) Good Good Good Good

Outstanding
Good

Surgery
Good Good Good Good Good Good

Intensive/critical care
Good Good Good Good Good Good

Maternity and
gynaecology Good Good

Services for children &
young people Good Good

End of life care Requires
improvement Good

Outstanding
Good Good Good

Outpatients
Good Not rated Good Good Good Good

Inadequate Requires
improvement

Good Outstanding

Good Good Good Good

Good Good Good Good

Good Good Good Good
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Developing our services and facilities

Since becoming a Foundation Trust, significant investment in our services and facilities 
has been possible, including our new day care unit detailed in last year’s report. 

Children’s Outpatients

A new children’s outpatient clinic opened last summer – to positive feedback from 
patients and staff. 

The Cove opened in a clinical area of the hospital which was not being used. Its creation 
came as a result of feedback from CQC inspectors. They recommended that children’s 
outpatients facilities, which were in part of the hospital shared with ante natal patients, 
should be enhanced. 

The estates team created a new waiting area, changed the flooring and ceilings and 
decorated throughout. Clinic staff made new decorations and came up with the clinic’s 
name which reflects the hospital’s location near the sea.

The Cove is seen as a huge improvement on the old facilities, with more space including 
eight clinic rooms and two waiting areas, one specifically for adolescents.

It has enabled the service to become more of a ‘one-stop shop.’ Previously, young 
patients had to visit other areas of the hospital, such as orthopaedics outpatients, as 
part of their treatment.

Jo Scott (right) and members of the team
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Cardiac chest pain diagnosis

A new diagnostic service for patients suffering from chest pain is being offered at the 
hospital. 

For the first time a Cardiac CT coronary angiography service is being provided, set up by 
our radiology and cardiology teams using a new hi-tech scanner installed last year.

Patients from Great Yarmouth and Waveney will benefit from the new service as 
previously they had to travel to either Norwich or Cambridge if they needed a cardiac 
scan. The service also brings additional capacity in an area of demand.

CT scans use x-ray images to create three-dimensional cross-section images of specific 
areas of the body, the heart in the case of coronary angiography.

This service brings many benefits and is a ‘non-invasive’ way of checking the health of 
the vessels of the heart. The alternative is to perform an angiogram, a procedure which 
involves putting guide wires, catheters and dye into blood vessels which is invasive, 
more time consuming, has risks and is more expensive.

Getting to the heart of matters: Dr Ashraf (left) with Ela Przygalinska, Anita Haylett 
and Sally Sandall from the Trust’s radiology team.
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Vaccinations for pregnant women

A new vaccination clinic aimed at protecting women and new born babies from two 
serious illnesses was started at the hospital in the last year.

The hospital’s maternity service now offers vaccinations against influenza and whooping 
cough (pertussis) to expectant mothers from the Great Yarmouth and Waveney 
area. This is managed by the antenatal clinic staff and is designed to run alongside 
immunisation services offered by local GPs, who also provide both vaccines. This gives 
women the choice and flexibility of having their immunisations in the Trust’s antenatal 
clinic or at their GP surgery. 

This is part of a nationwide drive to increase the numbers of pregnant women having 
these important immunisations. 

Paget’s worldwide reach - #getthenationsigning campaign

A campaign to raise awareness of sign 
language, which started here, has reached 
millions of people around the globe – 
thanks to social media. Learning Disability 
and Autism nurse Rebecca Crossley and 
Matt Perryman, a third  year student 
Learning Disability nurse with the UEA, 
launched the campaign on Twitter in the 
autumn. They posted a video of Rebecca 
using sign language to spell out “hello, my 
name is Rebecca.”

Within the space of just three months, the 
campaign generated more than 18 million 
impressions and resulted in people from 
America to Australia posting videos of 
themselves supporting it by signing their 
names.The campaign encourages people 
to use a commonly-used form of sign language to promote inclusive communication 
called Makaton and aims to make people think about how they communicate with 
others around them. Makaton is the UK’s leading language programme for adults and 
children with learning or communication difficulties. Its symbols are widely used in 
public buildings such as schools, hospitals, courts and libraries, to help people find their 
way around.  

Locally, the campaign has received support from the players at Norwich City Football 
Club.

#getthenationsigning was inspired by the #hellomynameis campaign, launched by the 
late Dr Kate Granger to encourage healthcare staff to introduce themselves to patients.

Our training gains national focus 

A new approach to student nurse mentoring was celebrated at a national conference 
held at the hospital this year. More than 80 people attended the Collaborative Learning 
in Practice (CLiP) conference in November. CLiP is a coaching model where students are 
encouraged to take the lead in their practice, caring for their own patients, while being 
coached by registered staff with additional mentor support. 

Unlike traditional learning models, CLiP’s focus is ‘on the job’ coaching on hospital 
wards with all ward staff participating to help develop a supportive learning culture. Its 
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benefits include giving student nurses more confidence - because they are dealing with 
real-life situations regularly - and creating more capacity to train the next generation of 
nurses at a time when there are staff shortages.

CLiP was introduced on Ward 12 in 2014 but, such was its success, it is now used in other 
areas of the hospital including midwifery, paediatrics, orthopaedics and stroke.
Now, the plan is to extend it further due to its popularity with students and staff and 
the potential benefits it brings to patient care.

Following the conference Health Education England (HEE) produced a video looking at 
how the Trust’s Education and Practice Development has successfully introduced CLiP 
at the hospital. A number of UEA students who are training at the Trust are featured, 
along with Head of education and practice development Sharon Crowle and Clinical 
Educator Karen Thom. The video will be used as a resource for educational teams at 
hospitals around the country.

Improving Patient Flow

We have been focussing on improving the safe and timely discharge of patients from 
the hospital, to help ease the pressure we have seen this year. A trial was held in the 
hospital’s Short Stay Medical Unit, involving “Red to Green” Days. The aim of these days 
is to move every patient from ‘red’ - where no action has taken place to aid discharge - 
to ‘green’ - where an intervention to support their journey to discharge has occurred - 
in the space of one shift.

As a result of the trial, there was a 
sustained increase in the number of 
discharges per week from the unit. The 
aim is to replicate its success across the 
hospital.

There was also a campaign entitled 
#let’skeepmoving rolled out across 
hospital wards, aimed at getting staff to 
encourage patients, where appropriate, 
to get out of bed, get dressed and keep 
mobile to help prevent deconditioning.

League of Friends

The James Paget League of Friends raises funds to support and improve facilities for all 
patients and users of the hospital. Over the last 12 months, the League has made and 
promised donations totalling almost £50,000. This includes:
• A Raizer chair and trolley for the Back Care team

• Software for our volunteer co-ordinator to enable more effective organisation of the 
team of volunteers that support our patient care

• Funds towards ultrasound equipment used every day

• Equipment for our Emergency assessment unit including welcome packs, ear probes 
and teaching aids
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patients and users of the hospital. Over the last 12 months, the League has made and 
promised donations totalling almost £50,000. This includes:
• A Raizer chair and trolley for the Back Care team

• Software for our volunteer co-ordinator to enable more effective organisation of the 
team of volunteers that support our patient care

• Funds towards ultrasound equipment used every day

• Equipment for our Emergency assessment unit including welcome packs, ear probes 
and teaching aids

• Wheelchairs for the portering and security team to ensure they always have access 
to one when they need it, the latest style including a drip holder and space for an 
oxygen cylinder

• A manual handling aid to make it easier to transfer patients from their wheelchair to 
their bed

• Items to support the care of our dementia patients. 

We said goodbye to Heather Cave this 
year who has decided to stand down as 
Chair after 15 years. The Friends are always 
supportive of the Trust and raise a significant 
amount of money for our staff and the care 
they wish to provide to our patients. We look 
forward to continuing our links with the new 
Chair when they are in post.

Improvements in patient/carer information 

We have continued to develop our information for patients and carers. The 
communications team leads on the process for patient information leaflets, managed 
through the Patient Information Committee. The policy has been reviewed this year, 
with a Readers’ Panel remaining in place to consider draft leaflets as we continue to 
enhance the information we provide so that it is easy to understand.

There have been some changes in year:

• New detailed bedside folders providing enhanced 
patient and family carer information about 
the hospital, facilities and services, rights and 
responsibilities and relevant contact details

• Carers’ booklets/leaflets are available across the 
Trust.  A new Family Carer Support and Information 
worker is now in place together with a Carers’ 
Charter, available to download from the Trust 
website; staff information on the support for 
patients who have carers/and information to 
support carers is also available on the Trust’s 
intranet

• Flexible visiting is in place for carers so that they 
can continue to care whilst their loved one is in 
hospital with concessionary parking allowances

• Enhancements to the Trust website detail patient 
and carer information and contact details for advice 
and support

• The Trust’s Patient Experience team supports patient/carer/relative enquiries.

Information on complaints handling 

All complaints are managed in line with the NHS Complaints procedure with written 
acknowledgement sent to the complainant within three working days.  Telephone 
contact with the complainant is made by the Complaints Investigator wherever possible 
to discuss the issues and assess response timescales. We try to adhere to a 25 day 
response timeframe. 

At initial contact, and at the end of the process, complainants are offered the 
opportunity to meet with senior staff to discuss the complaint in detail and support 
early and final resolution.
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The complaints team works in collaboration with divisional teams to ensure that there is 
an agreed informative response provided which covers all the issues raised.  Complaints 
are reviewed by members of the Executive Team before the Chief Executive considers 
and signs each response. Complaints handling performance indicators have been 
introduced to monitor how we are doing. 

Numbers of complaints, themes, and areas are covered in detail within governance 
meetings to ensure that learning takes place and actions are implemented when 
complaints are upheld/partially upheld. Details of the number of complaints, themes 
and trends and any learning is included in the Board’s Quality and Safety Report each 
month. Staff are updated in the monthly leadership briefing.

The Trust received 207 complaints during 2016/17 compared with 206 in 2015/16 
and 251 in 2014/15. Further detail, including changes to practice made as a result of 
complaints, can be found in the Quality Report 2016/17.

Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS) 

The PALS team works to support patients, carers and staff with their queries and concerns, 
addressing issues promptly, thereby preventing formal complaints in many cases.

The number of PALS contacts received by the Trust during 2016/17 was 1,927 compared 
to 1,792 in 2015/16 and 1,566 in 2014/15.

PALS are a positive source of information and guidance for patients and their families at 
what can be a difficult and confusing time. We are encouraged that the PALS team are 
accessible and hence able to help people navigate their way through the health system.

Compliments 

We have received many positive comments and compliments from users of our
services via thank you cards, letters, emails and correspondence on the NHS Choices 
website, through social media and PALS.  Departments and ward managers have 
continued to record the number of compliments received on a weekly basis by 
indicating whether they are verbal, written or gift compliments.  

The Trust received 389 compliments during 2016/17 compared with 406 in 2015/16 and 
313 in 2014/15.  

More detailed analysis can be found in the Quality Report.

Other public and patient involvement activities

The Trust’s patient experience lead attends the GP Practice Patient Participation 
Group (PPG) forum to receive and discuss Trust feedback directly with PPG members. 
Presentations have been provided to enhance education and training of members 
in relation to Trust patient experience feedback processes. Members of our Council 
of Governors are also linked with individual PPGs as part of their engagement and 
membership role.

Patients have been invited and involved in the PLACE (Patient Led Assessment of the 
Care Environment) assessments, with the latest taking place on 7 March. 

Governors’ monthly patient experience visits facilitate opportunities for real time 
feedback and discussions with carers and relatives. 

Following a long standing Governor link with the local Community Diversity Centre, 
further work is underway to enhance collaborative working and feedback mechanisms.
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Working in partnership 

The Trust is working closely with local health and social care organisations to develop 
services for the future. 

It has helped create the Norfolk and Waveney Sustainability and Transformation 
Plan (STP) which looks at how the local health and social care system will meet the 
challenges of rising demand and an ageing population.

Our planning for how services will change over the next five years is at a very early 
stage – and local people’s views will be crucial as this work progresses.

Change is needed as all three hospitals in Norfolk, including the James Paget University 
Hospital, are under unsustainable pressure. There have been big increases in the 
number of people visiting A&E, being admitted to hospital in an emergency and going 
to hospital for day treatments. 

The national picture looks like this:

Charts courtesy of NHS Providers

To address this, the care organisations in Norfolk and Waveney will look to design 
a system in which hospitals focus more closely on patients who need specialist or 
emergency care. This could include the development of services for treating minor 
injuries and illnesses, so that A&E services focus on treating people with critical or life-
threatening conditions.
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Patients will continue to need good access to high quality specialist services at hospital, 
such as maternity, cancer, radiology, cardiology, stroke, dermatology and paediatric 
services. Reviewing these services could identify whether there are better ways to use all 
of the capacity available between our hospitals and to manage the demand for these 
services.

It is known that spending too long in hospital can actually undermine a person’s health 
and their recovery, particularly for older and more frail patients. So it makes sense that 
a patient should leave hospital as soon as they are medically fit to do so and where the 
necessary support at home is available to help them with their recovery.  As such, there 
is a focus to find ways to better organise our health and social care services around the 
needs of patients and reduce the time many spend in hospital. This could include 
moving some clinics that are currently provided in our hospitals into the community, to 
places such as GP practices and community hospitals, which could take pressure off busy 
outpatient services.

Local people’s views and feedback will be important in 
helping develop these plans further in the years ahead. 
Detailed information about the Norfolk and Waveney STP is 
available at www.healthwatchnorfolk.co.uk/ingoodhealth, 
where people can find out how they can get involved in the work to improve health 
and social care services. These include the full submission documents and a more user 
friendly summary.

We recognise the importance of involving and communicating with our patients 
and the public. In April 2017 the communications and engagement work stream was 
enhanced and will be focusing on the projects underway to ensure that we keep 
everyone involved in what is happening.

Responsibility for preparing the annual report

A statement from the Chief Executive, who has responsibility as the Trust’s Accounting 
Officer, is included on page two of the financial statements.

In addition, the directors of the foundation trust have responsibility for preparing the 
annual report and accounts.  In accordance with the Code of Governance, the directors 
confirm that they consider the annual report and accounts, taken as a whole, are fair, 
balanced and understandable and provide the information necessary for patients, 
regulators and stakeholders to assess the NHS foundation trust’s performance, business 
model and strategy.

Christine Allen
Chief Executive
22 May 2017
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Remuneration Report 
Annual statement on remuneration

The Trust has two Committees dealing with Executive pay and appointments, one for 
Executive Directors and the other for Non Executive Directors. Succession planning, 
appointments and remuneration is a key focus for each Committee.

Following a full benchmarking review for Non Executive Directors, there has been no 
annual rise in remuneration. For Executive Directors, in line with the remuneration 
policy, there have been salary increases for permanent Directors other than the Medical 
Director, who is remunerated separately as a member of clinical staff. This was in 
line with all staff who received a 1% salary increase, reflecting performance and the 
importance of ensuring salaries are competitive with other organisations. 

There were no significant awards made to past senior managers during 2016/17, nor 
were there any service contract obligations which would impact on remuneration 
payments.

Senior managers’ remuneration policy 

The policy is reviewed each year with the relevant elements confirmed by the Executive 
Nomination & Remuneration Committee on 21 October 2016. Governors confirmed this 
through the Governors’ Nomination & Remuneration Committee on 11 October and the 
Council of Governors on 11 November 2016.

Executive Remuneration Policy 2016/17

1.0     Policy statement

1.1 This policy has been agreed by the relevant Committees, both of which are   
 chaired by the Chairman of the Trust.

1.2 This policy is reviewed each year at the relevant Committee(s) and is included in  
 the Trust’s annual report in line with regulatory requirements.

2.0 Executive Directors

2.1 The remuneration policy for Executive Directors is set by the Executive   
 Nomination & Remuneration Committee. 

2.2 The policy for setting the appropriate level of remuneration for Executive and  
 Non Executive Board members is to pay a fair market rate. This is assessed   
 through annual benchmarking against the published review by NHS Employers  
 of Executive and Non-Executive remuneration in the NHS and is also reflective of  
 the organisational and individual performance.

2.3 The exact salary is determined by the Committee based on the Trust’s    
 performance and the individual’s contribution.

2.4 A report will be presented annually following completion of the annual Fit   
 and Proper Persons review, by the Chief Executive for the Executive Directors and  
 the Chairman for the Chief Executive, using the annual performance review as  
 the basis for decision. 
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2.5 Rates of pay should be uplifted annually on 1 April in line with the general   
 inflationary increase for other staff in the NHS, aligning with Agenda for   
 Change pay increases. During periods of economic difficulty, this will be   
 reviewed as to appropriateness.

2.6 Newly appointed Executive Director remuneration will be assessed at the time  
 of appointment and reviewed thereafter in the annual round as set out in this  
 policy, subject to a minimum tenure of one year’s service with the Trust being  
 accrued at the time of that review.

2.7 Executive remuneration levels, benefits and pension entitlements are published  
 in the Trust’s annual report.

3.0 Senior Managers’ Remuneration

3.1 The national Agenda for Change NHS pay system applies to the first layer   
 of management below Board level. Any exceptions to this will be brought   
 before the Executive Nomination and Remuneration Committee in line with   
 the Committee’s role to monitor the level, structure and remuneration for senior  
 management. 

4.0 Chairman and Non Executive Directors

4.1 The Council of Governors has responsibility for setting the remuneration,   
 following the recommendations of the Governors’ Nomination & Remuneration  
 Committee. This forms part of the review of all terms and conditions, including  
 expenses to be claimed. 

4.2 As with Executive remuneration these rates are assessed through annual   
 benchmarking against the published review by NHS Employers of Executive and  
 Non-Executive remuneration in the NHS.

4.3 Where the posts of Deputy Chair, Senior Independent Director and Chair of the  
 Safety & Quality Governance or Audit Committees are held by the same   
 person, only one of these posts will be recognised for payment. The rates of pay  
 should be uplifted annually on 1 April in line with the general inflation increase  
 for other staff in the NHS. During periods of economic difficulty, this will be   
 reviewed as to appropriateness.

4.4     The current rates of pay are as set out below:

 Trust Chairman          £35,000 - £60,000 (range)
 Trust Deputy Chair & Chair of Finance, Performance  
 & Strategic Planning Committee    £25,600
 Chair, Audit Committee         £14,000 
 Chair, Safety & Quality Governance Committee     £14,000 
 Senior Independent Director       £14,000
 Non Executive Directors         £12,800 

There have been no salary increases for Non Executive Directors for a number of years.
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Annual report on remuneration

Details of each Board member, the date they joined the Trust and when their term of 
office expires, where relevant, can be found on page 23.

Governors’ Nomination and Remuneration (N&R) Committee 

The Committee has led on two appointments this year, both using local advert, NHS 
Jobs, the Trust’s website, circulation to a number of networks and through social media. 
The Committee and the Council of Governors considers the Board’s assessment of the 
skills required prior to a Non Executive position being advertised. 

Non Executive Director Paula Kerr, who joined the Trust on 1 November 2016, replaces 
Peter Franzen who had served his two three year terms of office. More recently, 
following the Chairman’s resignation, the Committee led on the details of the Chair 
appointment. The Council approved Anna Davidson, Deputy Chair, as the new Chair 
with effect from 1 May 2017. This followed the same recruitment process, but was 
enhanced with two further stakeholder focus groups, both internal and external, and 
included the Chair of the Norfolk and Norwich University Hospitals as a non-voting 
member of the interview panel.

Each appointment is made in line with a Council approved selection process. A separate 
candidate pack was developed in year. These documents set out clearly what is required 
of the role, an explanation of the process and links to Trust information.

Non Executive Directors are appointed initially for a three year term of office, with the 
potential of being reappointed for a further three year term following review of their 
most recent performance assessment.  

Removal of the Chairman or another Non Executive Director requires the approval of 
three quarters of the members of the Council of Governors, on the recommendation of 
its N&R Committee. This action would only be taken in extreme circumstances once all 
other routes had been explored to resolve issues. 

Performance reviews

The outcome of annual performance reviews, and the objective setting, enables the
Board to discharge its responsibilities through the operational management of the
Trust, led by the Chief Executive.

The Chairman appraises the Chief Executive on behalf of the Executive N&R Committee 
members. This includes a review of the previous year and objective setting based on 
the organisation’s objectives for the coming year. Any development requirements are 
also considered. The Chief Executive then appraises all those directly reporting to her, 
including all Executive Directors. The objectives set for individuals relate to the Trust’s 
strategic direction to ensure that everyone is working towards the same goals to meet 
the longer term strategy and the performance requirements expected. Trust appraisals 
are then cascaded to all staff within a set timeframe. 

Following some discussion this year the process will be slightly different in 2017/18 with 
strategic ambitions and objectives cascaded to senior managers only. They will then be 
responsible for refining their team’s objectives as they feel is appropriate.

The Senior Independent Director, with the Lead Governor’s support, appraises the
Chairman, taking the wider views of all members of the Board and the Council of
Governors into account. Feedback is analysed prior to the appraisal meeting taking
place. The Chairman appraises the Non Executive Directors. 
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The outcome of all Non Executive reviews is considered in detail with the Governors’ 
N&R Committee, together with the proposed objectives, all of which is discussed and 
approved at the Council of Governors in July and forms the basis of any reappointments 
during the year. The process is then fully reviewed and changes made as felt to be 
necessary ahead of the next year’s reviews.

Any gaps or additional learning for Board members as a whole are addressed through 
the Board Seminars with the Board’s mandatory training also held in January and 
February.

Membership and attendance at the Committee is set out below.

Governors’ Nomination and Renumeration Committee attendance 2016/17

Meeting Date
Name of Person Role 08/04/16 13/06/16 26/08/17 25/10/16 20/01/17
David Wright Chairman 1 1 1 1 1
Peter Franzen Deputy Chairman 1 0 1 1 1
Public Governors 
Angela 
Woodcock

Lead Governor
1 1 1 1 1

Jean Goffin Deputy Lead 
Governor

1 1 1 1 1

Peter Horton 1 0
Martin Arnold 1 1 1 1 1
Alison Mills 0 1 1
Mick Castle 1 0 1 0 0
Staff Governors 

Sharon Boothby 1 1 0 1 1
Keith Wilson 1 0 0 1 1
Appointed Governors  

Tony Goldson 1 1 0 0 0
In attendance

Dawn Cumby Associate Director 
of Workforce

1 0 0 1 0

Ann Filby Head of 
Communications 
and Corporate 
Affairs

1 1 0 1 1

1 = Attend   0 = Did not attend

Executive Nomination and Remuneration Committee

Following two retirements this Committee has led on two Executive appointments 
this year, the Director of Nursing and the Chief Operating Officer. Both roles were 
undertaken on an interim basis prior to permanent appointments being confirmed. 
The positions were advertised nationally through NHS Jobs, with some Executive Search 
support, and with a full assessment process. This included stakeholder focus groups with 
our staff and local organisations and external representation on the interview panel.

Both Committees have utilised the Capsticks Board skills review in year as part of 
their succession and recruitment planning in considering what is required from 
new appointments. The Committees are also supported by a senior member of the 
Workforce team and the Trust Secretary.
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Removal of an Executive Director is led by the Executive N&R Committee in line with 
Trust policies.

Membership and attendance at the Committee is set out below.

Executive Nomination and Renumeration Committee attendance 2016/17

Meeting Date

Name of Person Role 29/04/16 05/09/16 21/10/16 16/12/16 27/1/17 31/3/17

David Wright Chairman 1 1 1 1 1 1

Peter Franzen Deputy 
Chairman (to 
October 2016)

1 1 0

Anna Davidson Non Executive 
Director (Deputy 
Chair from 
November 2016 )

1 1 0 1 1 1

David Ellis Non Executive 
Director 

1 1 0 1 1 1

Peter Hargrave Non Executive 
Director 

1 0 1 1 1 1

Nicola Spalding Non Executive 
Director

1 1 1 1 1 1

Paula Kerr Non Executive 
Director

1 1 1

In attendance

Christine Allen Chief Executive 1 1 1 1 1 1

Dawn Cumby Associate 
Director of 
Workforce

1 1 1 1 1 1

Ann Filby Head of 
Communications 
and Corporate 
Affairs

1 1 1 1 1 1

1 = Attend   0 = Did not attend

Governor and Board expenses during the year are set out below:

Table of disclosure 2016/17 2015/16 2014/15

Governors

The total number of governors in office 27 24 27

The number of governors receiving expenses in the 
reporting period; and

3 2 7

The aggregate sum of expenses paid to governors 
in the reporting period.

£1,970.17  £2,083.76  £2,700.61 

Directors

The total number of directors holding office during 
the year

17 19 14

The number of directors receiving expenses in the 
reporting period; and

7 9 12

The aggregate sum of expenses paid to directors in 
the reporting period.

 £6,716.00  £3,355.00  £2,807.00 

Further details of each Board member and their term of office can be found on page 23.
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Senior Managers salaries and benefits
Senior managers' salaries and benefits

Year Year Year Year Year Year Year Year
Ended Ended Ended Ended Ended Ended Ended Ended

31st March 31st March 31st March 31st March 31st March 31st March 31st March 31st March
2017 2017 2017 2017 2016 2016 2016 2016

salary and fees all taxable 
benefits

all pension –related 
benefits Total salary and fees  all taxable benefits all pension –related 

benefits Total

(bands of £5,000) (nearest £100) (bands of £2,500) (bands of £5,000) (bands of £5,000) (nearest £100) (bands of £2,500) (bands of £5,000)
£ 000 £ 00 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £00 £ 000 £ 000

Mrs	C	Allen
Chief	Executive	Officer
Mr	M	Flynn
Director	of	Finance
Dr	D	Ellis
Non	Executive	Director
Mr	P	Franzen
Non	Executive	Director	-	until	
31/10/16	
Mr	P	Hargrave
Non	Executive	Director
Mrs	A	Hills
Director	of	
Governance/Deputy	Chief	
Executive
Mr	A	Howard
Non	Executive	Director		-	
until	4/11/15
Mrs	J	Hunt
Director	of	Nursing	-	from	7	
May	2016
Professor	V	Lattimer
Non	Executive	Director	-	until	
29/2/16	
Professor	E	Libiszewski
Director	of	Nursing	-	until	
19/5/16
Mr	N	Oligbo
Medical	Director
Mr	A	Palmer
Director	of	Transformation	
and	Strategy
Mrs	S	Watkinson
Director	of	Operations	-	until	
4/11/16
Mr	D	Wright
Chairman	-	until	30/4/17
Mrs	D	Cumby
Associate	Director	of	HR	&	
Workforce
Mr	N	Offley
Director	of	Workforce	&	
Corporate	Affairs	-	5/5/15	to	
24/9/15
Mrs	G	Opreshko
Interim	HR	Programme	
Director	-	until	14/5/15
Mr	M	Henry
Interim	Director	of	
Operations	-	until	14/5/15
Ms	A	Davidson
Non	Executive	Director	from	
22/2/16;	Deputy	Chair	from	
1/11/16;	Chair	from	1/5/17
Mr	G	Wilde
Chief	Operating	Officer
Mrs	Paula	Kerr
Non	Executive	Director	-	
from	1/11/16
Professor	N	Spalding
Non	Executive	Director	-	
from	1/4/16

The annual increase in pension related benefits disclosed above represents the increase or (decrease), adjusted for inflation, between the amounts as at 31 March 2016 and the 
amounts as at 31 March 2017
The pension related benefit is calculated following a prescribed formula issued by HMRC, derived from s229 of the Finance Act 2004, modified by paragraph 10(1)(e) of schedule 8 
of SI 2008/410 (as replaced by SI 2013/1981).  The calculated pension benefit figure is repsresentative of the benefits that would be payable to the senior manager if they became 
entitled to it at the end of the financial year.  The calculation is based upon 20 x annual pension income, plus the lump sum payable.

None of the senior managers above were in receipt of performance-related bonuses or long-term performance-related bonuses during the reporting period.

0 32.5	-	35 195	-200

95	-	100

0 0 175	-	180 165	-	170

0 27.5	-	30 135	-	140 105	-	110

15	-	20 6 0 15	-	20 25	-	30

1 57.5	-	60

175	-	180

110	-	115

10	-	15

1 27.5	-	30 135	-140

0 0 10	-	15 10	-	15 2 0 10	-	15

2 0 25	-	30

15	-	20 14 0 15	-	20 10	-	15 4 0 15	-	20

135	-	140

5	-	10 1 0 5	-	10

150	-	155 85	-	90 0 47.5	-	50

10	-	15 0 0 10	-	15

95	-	100 1 215	-	217.5 310	-	315

15 40	-	42.5 150	-155

205	-	210 1 70	-	72.5 275	-	280 200	-	205 0 40	-	42.5 240	-	245

15	-	20 0 0 15	-	20 110	-	115

0 45	-	47.5 140	-	145

65	-	70 0 0 65	-	70 100	-	105 0 0 100	-	105

95	-	100 0 27.5	-	30 125	-	130 90	-	95

0 0 45	-	50

85	-	90 0 135	-	137.5 215	-	220 60	-	65 1 60	-	62.5 120	-	125

45	-	50 0 0 45	-	50 45	-	50

4 55	-	57.5 95	-100

15	-	20 0 0 15	-	20

35	-	40

0 0 30	-	35

15	-	20 14 0 15	-	20 0	-	5 0 0 0	-	5

30	-	35

5	-	10 7 0 5	-	10

90	-	95 0 0 90	-	95

10	-	15 0 0 10	-	15

Hutton Disclosure

Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration 
of the highest-paid director in their organisation and the median remuneration of the 
organisation’s workforce.  The mid point of the banded remuneration of the highest-
paid director in the James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust in the 
financial year 2015/16 was £207,500 (2015/16 - £192,500). This was 8.88 times (2015/16 - 
8.5) the median remuneration of the workforce, which was £23,363 (2015/16 - £22,773).  
Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay and 
benefits-in-kind, but it does not include employer pension contributions and the cash 
equivalent transfer value of pensions.  All salaries are annualised and on a full time 
equivalent basis, so as to eliminate the distorting effects of staff who join or leave part 
way through the year, or who work part time.
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Two senior managers are paid more than £142,500. As detailed on page 41 the 
remuneration policy takes account of benchmarking data when salaries are reviewed 
each year. This is to ensure that all salaries are appropriate to the level of responsibility 
required, reflect the performance of the Trust and that they compare with equivalent 
roles in other organisations.          
   

Senior managers’ pension entitlements
Senior managers' pension entitlements

Real increase in 
pension at pension 

age (bands of 
£2,500)

Real increase in 
pension lump sum at 
pension age (bands 

of £2,500)

Total accrued 
pension at pension 

age at 31 March 
2017 (bands of 

£5,000)

Lump sum at 
pension age related 
to accrued pension 
at 31 March 2017  
(bands of £5,000)

Cash 
Equivalent 

Transfer Value 
at 1 April 2016

Real increase in 
Cash 

Equivalent 
Transfer Value

Cash 
Equivalent 

Transfer Value 
at 31 March 

2017

Employer’s 
contribution to 
stakeholder 

pension

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Mrs	D	Cumby
Associate	Director	of	HR	
&	Workforce
Mr	M	Flynn
Director	of	Finance
Mrs	A	Hills
Director	of	
Governance/Deputy	Chief	
Executive
Mrs	J	Hunt
Director	of	Nursing	from	
7/5/16
Mrs	E	Libiszewski
Director	of	Nursing	until	
19/5/16
Mr	N	Oligbo
Medical	Director
Mr	A	Palmer
Director	of	
Transformation	and	
Strategy

154 620 	-		5.0 - 7.5 17.5 - 20.0 25 - 30 80 - 85 466

Real Increase / (decrease) in CETV - This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer.  It takes account of the increase in accrued pension due to 
inflation, contributions paid by the employee (including the value of any benefits transferred from another pension scheme or arrangement) and uses common market 
valuation factors for the start and end of the period.

Senior managers' pension entitlement disclosures are subject to external audit.

As Non-Executive members do not receive pensionable remuneration there will be no entries in respect of pensions for Non-Executive members.

A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time.  The 
benefits valued are the member's accrued benefits and any contingent spouse's pension payable from the scheme.  A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme, or 
arrangement to secure pension benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their 
former scheme.  The pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their total membership of the pension scheme, not just 
their service in a senior capacity to which the disclosure applies.  The CETV figures, and from 2004-05 the other pension details, include the value of any pension benefits in 
another scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to the NHS pension scheme.  They also include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as 
a result of their purchasing additional years of pension service in the scheme at their own cost.  CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and framework prescribed by the 
Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.

In the budget on 23 March 2011, HM Treasury confirmed its intention to review the basis for the calculation of CETVs payable from public service schemes, including the NHS 
Pension Scheme. The review was undertaken and revised guidance was issued on 26 October 2011.  For the calculation of CETVs as at 31 March 2013, NHS Pensions have 
followed the revised guidance and have used the updated Government Actuary Department (GAD) factors in their calculations. The revised GAD factors are different to those 
used as at 31 March 2011 so direct comparison between financial periods is not possible.  The new factors will have differing impacts of the CETVs of the individuals 
concerned depending on their age and normal retirement age.

24 186 	-		

2.5 - 5.0 2.5 - 5.0 20 - 25 60 - 65 304 50 353 	-		

0.0 - 2.5 0.0 - 2.5 15 - 20 30 - 35 163

202 716 	-		7.5 - 10.0 27.5 - 30.0 35 - 40 105 - 110 514

0 0 	-		

2.5 - 5.0 5.0 - 7.5 35 - 40 90 - 95 546 94 640 	-		

0.0 - 2.5 0.0 - 2.5 50 - 55 155 - 160 0

26 307 	-		0.0 - 2.5 0.0 - 2.5 20 - 25 55 - 60 281

The policy for payment for loss of office

All senior managers’ service contracts are set out with clear notice periods. The Trust 
may terminate an appointment by notice in writing without compensation, other than 
payment in lieu of notice as required by the contract.

Christine Allen 
Chief Executive
22 May 2017
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Staff Report 
The Trust is the largest employer in the Great Yarmouth and Waveney area with over 
3,000 people working for us. Our staff are essential to the way that we operate and the 
services that we are able to provide to our patients. 

This year has seen some successes and a real pride in the way that we work day to day. 
The CQC saw great examples of care and the compassionate way that staff treat our 
patients, relatives and carers, showing them respect and ensuring their privacy and 
dignity. 

Our staff are really important to us and we couldn’t provide the care to our patients, 
in the way that we do, without them. We want them to feel free to seek support or to 
raise concerns about their role so that we can take account of these in future plans.
 
Whilst it has been a very positive year in many ways, it has also been a challenging 
year with increasing demand and changing priorities. Our staff have responded as they 
always do and worked hard to do the best for our patients and the organisation, in 
what are sometimes difficult circumstances.
 
Below we highlight some of our award winners this year – but every single member of 
our team is important. We continue to communicate through our monthly leadership 
briefing, our quarterly magazine Making Waves and weekly general/training emails. 
These methods are supplemented by specific meetings and briefings – this year we 
produced a special edition of Making Waves detailing the transformation programme 
and the STP process. The Chief Executive invited staff to come along to a number of 
briefings, held at different times of the day, to hear more, discuss and ask questions. We 
also used this opportunity to talk about the CQC re-inspection that was taking place in 
August, revising the staff information booklet so that everyone had all they needed in 
one place.
 
A communications survey later in the year has confirmed what works well and this has 
been taken account of in considering the communications priorities for next year.
 
Detailed planning has also gone into recognising our long serving staff with awards 
taking place in April 2017 – more detail on this will be included in next year’s report.

Our staff commitment to excellence and 
innovation: our award winners

Health Education England regional awards

Two healthcare professionals celebrated success at the 
Health Education England regional awards. Sarah Hills, a 
practice development nurse, won Educator of the Year, while 
consultant gastroenterologist Bernard Brett won an East of 
England NHS Leadership Recognition Award for leading and 
developing people.

Sarah’s award was for her role in developing and delivering 
an innovative programme of multi-professional education 
across the Trust in an ‘interactive and dynamic style.’

Bernard’s award was for his work as chair of the East of 
England Clinical Senate, which provides clinical advice and 
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guidance to health commissioners and other stakeholders to help them make the 
best decisions about healthcare for the populations they represent. He was praised 
for developing the council and building a “strong team with a positive, dynamic and 
empowering culture”.

Respiratory Team of the Year 2016

One of the Trust’s nursing teams won a 
prestigious award for its work with patients 
living with breathing problems and lung 
conditions. 

The Respiratory Nursing Team was named 
the Respiratory Team of the Year 2016 
by the Association of Respiratory Nurse 
Specialists (ARNS). They beat off competition 
from teams from other hospitals nationwide 
and received their award at the ARNS 
annual conference.

The award was made in recognition of the team’s innovation and working practices, 
through the publication of articles in nursing journals, and for being involved in the 
delivery of education to other health care professionals at national events.

Ophthalmology research Visiting Professor

A senior ophthalmologist has been recognised for his contribution to 
research by the University of East Anglia. The UEA has appointed Ben 
Burton, who is a Consultant Ophthalmologist and Clinical Director of 
Research and Development, as a Visiting Professor to mark his continued 
support and development of the research department at the hospital. 

Ben became involved in setting up a research team at the Trust in 2009. 
The hospital team has steadily grown from its original three members 

to 24, with plans to expand further reflecting the growing importance of research in 
helping improve patient outcomes. His desire to improve patient care has enabled 
clinical trials to be held at the hospital allowing local patients access to new treatments 
for blinding conditions such as macular degeneration and diabetic retinopathy. 

Eastern Daily Press Stars of Norfolk and Waveney Awards

As a Trust we are keen to be involved in any 
awards that celebrate healthcare professionals 
locally. This year two members of our staff were 
finalists in the Hospital/Ambulance Hero/Heroine 
of the Year Award. Emily Cole, a senior midwife 
co-ordinator went on to be a worthy winner. She 
is pictured (right) being, congratulated by Tracey 
Bareford - our other finalist – on the night. 
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Flu Fighter national awards

More than double the number of staff received 
their flu vaccine in 2016/17 compared with 
the year before, resulting in shortlisting for a 
national award. By the end of December, 66% 
of staff had become Flu Fighters – exceeding 
the 65% CQUIN target set for the Trust.

The success has been attributed to the extra 
availability of flu vaccination sessions, with 
Transformation Nurse Joan Pons-Laplana 
providing mobile flu clinics to all areas of the 
hospital. 

Joan injected a sense of fun into the campaign with different themes, costumes and a 
selfie frame – and also made use of social media. As a result of the campaign’s success, 
Joan was highly commended at the annual Flu awards run by NHS Employers.

Student Nursing Times Awards 2017 

The Trust’s Education and Practice Development team was excited 
to attend this year’s awards. The Trust was shortlisted in the 
Student Placement of the Year: Hospital category. This recognises 
all the great work we do throughout the Trust to make sure all 
students have a good experience here and that this leads to them 
working with us permanently when they finish their training. 

Whilst they didn’t win, the whole team had a great day out representing the hospital at 
the ceremony in April 2017.

Research nurse wins scholarship

The Trust’s lead nurse for research has won a 
scholarship to lead a project which could provide 
the blueprint for hospital research team structures 
and strategies across the country.

Claire Whitehouse (left) secured funding from 
the Florence Nightingale Foundation, which aims 
to advance the study of nursing and to promote 
excellence in practice. Her project involves visiting 
a cross section of research departments at hospitals 
in the Republic of Ireland, Northern Ireland, Scotland, Wales and England to see how 
they are resourced, structured and go about their work. To conclude the project, Claire 
will produce a report which she hopes will provide valuable guidance and a template 
for structuring and operating a hospital research department.
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Remarkable People Awards

James Paget University Hospitals 
NHS Foundation Trust Trust

Awards 2016 
This year we held our fifth annual awards 
ceremony celebrating outstanding 
achievements, dedication and quality 
care. More than 200 guests attended the 
glittering awards ceremony, held at Potters 
Leisure Resort in October. We saw a record 
number of nominations from both patients 
and staff for the awards.

This year’s event saw the first presentation 
of the Chairman and Chief Executive 
Commendation, which went to two 
winners: Domestic Assistant Garry 
Berrisford and Director of Post-Graduate 
Medical Education, Matt Williams. We 
welcomed sponsors Lings Motor Group 
and Birketts, and Great Yarmouth Mercury 
Editor Anne Edwards to present the EDP 
Gold ‘Patient’s Choice’ award. We would like to thank the 

sponsors and all individuals and 
organisations who donated prizes   
  to the raffle.
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Analysis of staff numbers

Workforce 2017

As at 31 March 2017 Male (full time 
equivalent -fte)

Female (fte) Total (fte)

Directors and Very Senior 
Managers

3.00 8.00 11.00

Employees 635.31 2026.60 2661.91

Total 638.31 2034.60 2672.91

Note: This is an analysis of staff numbers as at 31 March 2017. The figures exclude 
agency staff hired, therefore the total fte shown differs from the staff numbers 
disclosed in note 7.3 of the financial statements.

Staff costs

This is included within the financial statements, and is reproduced below.
Year Ended
31 March 

Permanent Other Total 2016
£ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000

7 Employee expenses and numbers
7.1 Employee expenses

Salaries and wages 90,779 4,648 95,427 94,285

Social security costs 9,182 200 9,382 7,036

Employer contributions to NHS Pensions 10,920 259 11,179 11,051

Pension cost - other 9 -             9 8

Agency / contract staff -                    9,003 9,003 10,630

110,890 14,110 125,000 123,010

(442) -             (442) (469)
Employee expenses capitalised as part of assets (115) -             (115) (320)

110,333 14,110 124,443 122,221

Year Ended
31 March  2017

Employee expenses recharged to other organisations

Sickness absence 

Sickness is managed in line with the Trust’s policy, with the Human Resources team 
supporting line managers with any issues that they have. Long term sickness is of concern 
and we look to support our staff to return to work as soon as possible. Reports on the 
latest position are presented to the monthly Board of Directors’ meeting in public.

Data	Source	NHS	Digital

Period	is	Calendar	year	(Jan	2016	-	Dec	2016)	and	not	Financial	Year
	(as	per	annual	report	'Guidance	on	Sickness	Absence	Data	Reporting	by	NHS	bodies	for	2016-17')	

Average	
FTE	2016

Average	Sick	Days	
per	FTE

FTE-Days	
Available

FTE-Days	recorded	Sickness	
Absence

2,598								 24,298	 9.4	 948,443										 39,416	

Figures	Converted	by	DH	to	Best	Estimates	of	Required
Adjusted	FTE	days	lost	to	
Cabinet	Office	definitions

Statistics	Published	by	NHS	Digital	from	ESR	
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Sickness absence 12 months summary: Trust-wide

Sickness Absence Year 2016/2017

Percentage of Long Term (0ver 20 days) 2.64%

Percentage of Short Term 1.44%

Average Working Days Lost
(ESRBI Average Absence Days (FTE) per FTE)

14.92

Percentage of staff with no sick leave 31.02%

Top Sickness Reasons Year 2016/2017

% (of all 
sickness)

% (of all the 
available)

S10 Anxiety/stress/depression/other psychiatric illnesses 21.8% 0.89%

S99 Unknown causes / Not specified 10.4% 0.42%

S25 Gastrointestinal problems 9.9% 0.39%

S28 Injury, fracture 7.6% 0.31%

S12 Other musculoskeletal problems 7.3% 0.30%

S13 Cold, Cough, Flu - Influenza 7.0% 0.28%

Staff policies

All Trust policies are in line with the legal requirements and national guidance and are 
adhered to by employer and employees. Policies are all available within the Policies 
and Guidelines section of the Trust’s internet and replicated on the HR page for ease of 
reference where appropriate. 

We are always willing to review and adapt these in line with any new recommendations 
to make sure they remain effective. The following policies are in place:

• For giving full and fair consideration to applications for employment made 
by disabled persons, having regard to their particular aptitudes and abilities – 
Recruitment Policy, Equality and Diversity Policy 

• For continuing the employment of, and for arranging appropriate training for, 
employees who have become disabled persons during the period – Equality and 
Diversity Policy, Managing Attendance Policy

• For the training, career development and promotion of disabled employees – 
Equality and Diversity Policy

• In providing employees systematically with information on matters of concerns to 
them as employees – Whistleblowing (Raising Concerns Policy), Speak up Policy.  
There has been active promotion of the newly introduced team of ‘Speak Up 
Guardians’ along with promotional materials and communications to highlight 
routes of access for support and for members of staff to raise concerns

• To ensure views of employees can be taken into account in making decisions which 
are likely to affect their interests – Change Management Policy. Regular formal 
meetings take place with Staff Side representatives for non-medical staff groups 
through our Joint Partnership Forum and the Medical Staff Committee for medical 
staff. Regular informal meetings also take place
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• To encourage the involvement of employees in the NHS foundation trust’s 
performance – the Board approved Communications Strategy has a programme of 
work to ensure staff are informed about the strategic direction and priorities of the 
Trust.  A monthly leadership briefing includes the performance highlights following 
the monthly Board meetings

• On health and safety performance and occupational health – Health and Safety 
Policy, Occupational Health - Surveillance Policy.  A Committee is responsible 
for monitoring all patient and staff safety and other reportable incidents with 
information presented to the public Board meeting through the Quality and Safety 
Report. Learning, training and improvements, risks, patient safety notices and the 
performance of the external Occupational Health Service are also considered. The 
Committee Chair will present significant issues to the Board’s Safety and Quality 
Governance Committee and the Board as necessary

• On countering fraud and corruption – Anti fraud and Corruption Policy.  We are 
committed to reducing fraud, bribery and corruption in the NHS and will seek to take 
appropriate disciplinary, regulatory, civil and criminal sanctions against fraudsters. 
Where possible, the Trust will also attempt to recover any losses incurred, taking 
all available and appropriate civil and criminal measures to do so. Procedures are 
in place that reduce the likelihood of fraud occurring including standing orders, 
standing financial instructions, documented processes and a system of internal 
control and a system of risk assessment. In addition, the Board of Directors aims to 
ensure that a risk and fraud awareness culture exists in the Trust through the Counter 
Fraud Specialist. 

Counter fraud processes 

The Board of Directors and Audit Committee encourage anyone having reasonable 
suspicions of fraud to report them. It is also the Board’s policy, which will be rigorously 
enforced, that no employee will suffer as a result of reporting reasonably held 
suspicions. 

The counter fraud team has continued to work proactively throughout the year, 
ensuring the Trust’s intranet pages have been kept up to date.  A quarterly counter 
fraud newsletter publicising the counter fraud team and details of successful cases 
prosecuted by NHS Protect has been distributed.  Posters and leaflets have been 
distributed and a newly developed short and informative fraud awareness video is now 
shown during staff induction.  The fraud risk assessment for the Trust has been updated, 
based on our knowledge of fraud in the NHS, nationally emerging trends and global 
and UK experience from counter fraud networks.
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Recruitment

In common with other areas in the region and nationally, the NHS workforce in Norfolk 
is experiencing high levels of vacancies. With development of the nursing recruitment 
strategy in 2016 it allowed us to plan and explore accessing nurses from the UK as well 
as overseas. This continues to be productive. Successful recruitment campaigns for newly 
qualified nurses and other newly qualified clinical roles will help us to strengthen the 
nursing workforce even further during 2017. 

New models of care are being actively explored to meet the challenges of a complex 
and growing workload. These include Physicians Associate roles and others to support 
the ongoing workforce gaps.  

We need to recruit and retain sufficient staff to make the 
best use of our facilities by encouraging flexibility in the 
workplace and ensuring that skilled people achieve a work 
life balance. An Equalities Policy and a Policy and Procedure 
on Recruitment and Selection explain our commitment 
to giving full and fair consideration to applications for 
employment. 

A Careers Fair in the Burrage Centre in November 2016 
attracted over 400 visitors interested in careers here. This 
was so successful we plan on running another event in June 
2017.

Staff survey 

The annual NHS staff survey asks those working for healthcare organisations for their 
views on their job and where they work. This helps us measure the wellbeing of those 
who work here. The aim is to gather information that will help improve the working 
lives of staff and so help provide even better care for our patients.  A sample of staff are 
asked a series of questions under the headings of “your job”, “your managers”, “your 
health and well-being”, “personal development” and “your organisation”. 

The sample size of this year’s survey was 1,250, with 532 respondents, which was larger 
than last year, at 800 with 402 respondents.

Response rate

2015 2016
Trust improvement/deterioration

JPUH JPUH
Benchmarking group 
(trust type) average

51% 43% Acute sector  8%

The majority of respondents (70%) have worked for the Trust for over six years and 
are from two main occupational groups: registered nurses/midwives (28%) and  wider 
healthcare teams (36%). 38% of responses incorporate admin/clerical, central functions/
corporate services and maintenance/ancillary.

The gender and age split is reflective of our workforce as a whole with 80% of 
respondents being female and 38% being over the age of 51.  Respondents split by 
ethnicity were 92% White, 6% Asian/Asian British and 1% Chinese and other ethnic 
backgrounds.
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Data gathered by the survey is used by the CQC, the Department of Health and other 
NHS bodies for benchmarking and improvement.  For example, survey data was used 
by NHSI when it published the first annual ‘Learning from Mistakes League’ to identify 
openness and transparency in NHS provider organisations. 

The survey results compare our data with the official sample data from other acute 
trusts involved in the survey for 2016, and where applicable, gives a comparison with 
our 2015 staff survey data.

Overall staff engagement
Below are details of the overall indicator of staff engagement. Possible scores range 
from 1 to 5, with 1 indicating that staff are poorly engaged (with their work, their team 
and their trust) and 5 indicating that staff are highly engaged.

The Trust scored amongst the top 20% of acute trusts in the country.

This overall indicator of staff engagement has been calculated using the questions that 
make up Key Findings 1, 4 and 7. These Key Findings relate to staff members’ perceived 
ability to contribute to improvements at work (Key Finding 7); their  willingness to 
recommend the Trust as a place to work or receive treatment (Key Finding 1); and the 
extent to which they feel motivated and engaged with their work (Key Finding 4).  

The table below shows how the Trust compares with other acute trusts on each of the 
sub-dimensions of staff engagement and whether there has been a significant change 
since the 2015 survey.
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Summary of 2016 key findings
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Largest local changes since 2015 survey 

Current/proposed actions

Results confirmed that our workforce is reflective of the local population. We continue 
to work proactively with our staff to ensure we take full account of their views and 
work preferences as well as any disability or health related difficulties to support them 
in their work.

There were some areas where the Trust did not perform as well as in the previous year 
and where improvements are needed. The results of the survey enable us to look in 
detail and identify the key actions to be taken forward over the next 12 months.

The Board of Directors, at its meeting in March 2017, received an update and the 
outline action plan. Since then the plan has been developed further and refined to 
focus on specific areas identified by our staff. We are keen to work with them and a 
series of focus groups and opportunities for staff to provide views will take place during 
the summer, giving them a voice in implementing the action plan.



Page 60      James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust    Annual Report 2016/17 www.jpaget.nhs.uk

Work has already been undertaken in a number of areas, including refining our 
appraisal process prior to its re-launch. The Health and Wellbeing Group have a 
developed action plan which includes the tools/training to assist both managers and 
employees in early recognition and management of stress at work. This will help us to 
continue striving for excellence. 

The support we provide

Organisational Development (OD) Strategy 

The objective of the 2016/17 OD plan was to further develop a well led organisation 
that would continue to deliver compassionate and safe patient care though an engaged 
and motivated workforce. 

The OD plan retained the same format of eight areas of focus that not only encompass 
the strategic objectives but support continued improvement in the Trust. The emphasis 
was also on developing our senior divisional teams and our medical leadership.  All NHS 
staff survey actions were incorporated into the OD strategy. 

Training and development 

The workforce team supports our staff to develop the skills, knowledge and behaviours 
to achieve the Trust’s objectives. Developments this year have included the review of 
medical leadership capacity. This, together with further structural changes, has led to 
ongoing work in the area of leadership and management of senior teams. 

A second Band 6 nursing and allied health care professional programme has been 
delivered to prepare staff for leadership and management roles following the success of 
the previous programme. We continue to support staff to access the most appropriate 
management and leadership programmes ranging from the national NHS leadership 
academy through to locally developed and administered programmes.

An action plan was implemented to fulfil our obligations against the Talent for Care 
strategic framework for the development of the healthcare support workforce and the 
Widening Participation agenda. 

We exceeded our Health Education England (HEE) target for Apprenticeships and 
supervised over 250 work experience students. 

Over 40 staff members act as Health Ambassadors; we attended 24 Careers and Skills 
Events attended by over 7,000 people, giving advice on careers  in health to almost 
2,000 local people. 

A development programme, 16 Keys to Unlocking your potential, has been delivered 
to further support Bands 1-4 staff, including our Apprentices, to progress their careers 
according to the Talent for Care aims; Get In, Get On, Go Further. 

Occupational health 

This service is managed via an external provider with a confidential employee assistance 
programme that can offer advice, invaluable information, specialist counselling and 
support. This is available 24 hours a day, 365 days per year and staff can readily access 
this by phone. The service also offers face to face counselling support through a 
management referral process. We work closely with our provider to ensure that the 
service continues to meet our needs.  
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The Five Year People Strategy 

As a district general hospital we face many challenges but we believe we can thrive 
and succeed in giving our patients the very best care through having a workforce that 
is responsive and adaptable. In order to meet these challenges and continue to deliver 
high quality services, it is essential that our workforce supports a modern NHS fit for the 
21st century. 

This year, the Board approved the People Strategy. We will work with our partner 
organisations in the STP by developing our people, new roles and career pathways to 
provide services that meet the needs of our community.

The people strategy underpins all that we do through attracting, recruiting, developing, 
retaining, supporting engaging and rewarding employees and teams to meet future 
goals along with employees’ aspirations so that we can all be ‘Proud of the Paget’. 

The Trust’s five workforce aims are:-

• Aim 1 To attract and recruit sufficient numbers of ‘Remarkable People’ to our 
workforce with the right skills, at the right time, which will create a sustainable 
workforce delivering high quality, safe and compassionate care 

• Aim 2 To retain and develop our staff through offering supported learning and 
professional development opportunities. Our succession plans will inform the 
leadership development we will provide for our leaders of the future in preparing 
them for their next role through appropriate development opportunities. 

• Aim 3 To have information and governance systems supported by the appropriate 
tools and software technology providing quality information to lead us in our 
decision making for both future workforce planning and policy development. 

• Aim 4 We will enrich staff experience through building on our healthy working 
environment to support staff in maintaining health, wellbeing and resilience. 

• Aim 5 To implement our Organisational Development plan to support delivery of the 
Trust’s strategic intentions ensuring compatibility with the wider Norfolk healthcare 
strategic vision

Equality and diversity 

The Equality Act 2010 replaced the previous anti-discrimination laws with a single 
Act. It simplifies the law, removing inconsistencies and making it easier for people to 
understand and comply with it. It also strengthens the law to help tackle discrimination 
and inequality. The majority of the Act came into force on 1 October 2010.

Within the Act, the Equality Duty ensures that all public bodies play their part in making 
society fairer by tackling discrimination and providing equality of opportunity for all. 
The Equality Duty has three aims.  It requires public bodies to have due regard to the 
need to:

• Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation and other conduct 
prohibited by the Act

• Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and people who do not share it; and

• Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and 
people who do not share it.

The Trust has responded to the provision within the Act by ensuring it considers 
equality issues in its strategic and operational decision making. This includes all 
policies being subject to a robust ‘Equalities Impact’ assessment before being agreed 
by the appropriate Board sub-committee and implemented.  Workforce Race Equality 
Standards (WRES) data is collected, monitored and reported on annually as required.  
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Equality and diversity actions are included in action plans arising from the WRES report, 
the NHS National staff survey and internal staff feedback. In addition all appointing 
managers are required to undertake recruitment and selection training which includes 
specific focus on equality and discrimination and the requirement for public bodies to 
adhere to the Equality Duty.

The Trust continues to incorporate the WRES into its reporting mechanisms. We also 
seek to make continuous improvements through the use of the Trust staff survey results.   
We work in partnership with Staff Side as appropriate to always best support equality 
and diversity and human rights in our workforce.

Ethnicity – All Staff

Ethnic Group FTE %

White British 2138.96 80.16%

All ‘White’ ethnicity other than ‘White British’ 156.63 5.87%

All ‘Mixed’ ethnicity 23.68 0.89%

All ‘Asian’ groups 236.41 8.86%

All ‘Black’ ethnicity 33.59 1.26%

All other ethnic groups 29.77 1.12%

Declined to disclose 49.32 1.85%

Grand Total 2668.36

Expenditure on consultancy

From 2 June 2015, NHS foundation trusts receiving interim support from the 
Department of Health and those that are in breach of their licence for financial reasons, 
are required to secure advance approval from NHSI before signing new contracts for 
consultancy projects over £50,000, extending or varying existing contracts or incurring 
additional expenditure to which they are not already committed (where the total 
contract value exceeds £50,000). Whilst not mandated to do so, the Trust has taken 
steps to ensure compliance with the new guidance. 

There were no management consultancy appointments made during 2016/17 which had 
a contract value greater than £50,000. Total expenditure on management consultancy 
during the year was £116,000 (2015/16: £219,000) as shown in note 5 on page 31 of the 
financial statements.

Off payroll/exit packages

All off payroll engagements have been subject to recent risk based assessment to ensure 
full compliance with the HMRC requirements relating to such engagements, either by 
the Trust or external agencies. 

There are processes in place for exit packages which take account of national guidance 
on how these cases will be dealt with and include compliance and approval through 
NHSI as required.

There have been no staff exit packages during either 2016/17 or 2015/16.
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Regulatory disclosures

NHS Code of Governance 

The James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust has applied the principles 
of the NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance on a comply or explain basis. The NHS 
Foundation Trust Code of Governance, most recently revised in July 2014, is based on 
the principles of the UK Corporate Governance Code issues in 2012.

A full assessment of compliance against each element of the Code was conducted on 
first publication and updated in line with the revised version, July 2014. This assessment 
has been updated further this year, taking account of the appointment process for the 
new Chair and ensuring that all required elements remained part of that recruitment 
process.
 
In relation to the specific disclosure requirements for the Code these are contained 
elsewhere in this report:
• Board working, membership and skills, attendance, Non Executive Director 

independence and declarations of interest, Audit Committee and links with the 
Council of Governors – the Directors’ report, Meet the Board of Directors

• The Board and Council of Governors’ Nomination Committees, appointment 
processes and performance evaluation – the Remuneration Report

• Council of Governors’ processes and links with the Board, membership, meetings, 
attendance and Trust membership – Accountability Report, Council of Governors and 
the membership

 
The elements that are not applicable in year are as follows:
• An explanation if neither external search nor open advertising was used to appoint a 

Chair or Non Executive Director – external advert used in all cases

• Use of the Council’s power to require one or more of the directors to attend a 
governors’ meeting – not required as the agenda setting ensures attendance when 
required to provide more information on specific subject areas

• No Executive Directors have been released to serve as a Non Executive Director 
elsewhere.

NHS Improvement’s Single Oversight Framework

NHSI’s Single Oversight Framework provides the structure for overseeing providers and 
identifying potential support needs. The framework looks at five themes:

• Quality of care

• Finance and use of resources (UoR)

• Operational performance

• Strategic change

• Leadership and improvement capability (well-led).

Based on information from these themes, providers are segmented from 1 to 4, where 
‘4’ reflects providers receiving the most support and ‘1’ reflects providers with maximum 
autonomy. A foundation trust will only be in segments 3 or 4 where it has been found 
to be in breach or suspected breach of its licence.

The Framework applied from Quarter 3 of 2016/17. Prior to this, Monitor’s Risk 
Assessment Framework (RAF) was in place. Information for the prior year and first two 
quarters relating to the RAF has not been presented as the basis of accountability was 
different. This is in line with NHSI’s guidance for annual reports.
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Segmentation

Since its introduction on 1 October 2016 the Trust has been classified as being within 
segment 2 and there has been no enforcement action taken against the Trust.
This segmentation information is the Trust’s position as at 22 May 2017. Current 
segmentation information for NHS trusts and foundation trusts is published on the NHSI 
website.

Finance and use of resources

This theme is based on the scoring of five measures from ‘1’ to ‘4’, where ‘1’ reflects the 
strongest performance. These scores are then weighted to give an overall score. Given 
that finance and use of resources is only one of the five themes feeding into the Single 
Oversight Framework, the segmentation of the Trust will not necessarily be the same 
as the overall finance score here.  The UoR scores for the Trust since its introduction in 
quarter 3 of 2016/17 are shown in the table below.

Area Metric
2016/17 YTD 

Q3 Score
2016/17 YTD 

Q4 Score
Capital service 
capacity 2 1

Liquidity 1 1
Financial 
efficiency I&E margin 3 1

Distance from 
financial plan 1 1

Agency spend 2 2

Financial 
sustainability

Financial 
controls

Overall scoring 12
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Council of Governors and the membership
The Council consists of 28 Governors, plus the Chairman: six appointed, 17 elected by 
the public membership and five elected by our staff. Governors standing for the Staff or 
Public Constituency are elected by the process set out in the Trust’s Constitution, using 
the single transferable vote system, for a three year term of office. 

Governors are responsible for representing the interests of members and partner 
organisations in the governance of the Trust and holding the Board of Directors to 
account for its performance, through the Non Executive Directors. They give their views 
on strategic issues, but do not manage the hospital. This is the responsibility of the 
Board of Directors. 

The Council of Governors is chaired by the Chairman of the Trust supported by the 
Deputy Chair and Senior Independent Director. Meetings are held at least six times a 
year, with a number of Committees undertaking the detailed work and reporting to 
Council for decision. Members of the Board attend the Council meeting during the 
year – Executive Directors as required - and Non Executive Directors for each meeting if 
they are able to. In dealing with any Governor concerns, the reporting process that has 
worked well for some time remains in place, with the Governors’ Review & Planning 
Committee escalating any issues of concern to the Council for consideration. This report 
is also presented to the Board of Directors at their next meeting, for their information, 
so all members are aware of the concerns raised.

The process for managing the Council’s requirements is led by the Trust Secretary. 
This year we have spent some time considering the structure, though the Well-led 
governance review and following on from that, to ensure that Governors undertake 
their statutory role as effectively as possible. Some changes have been made with 
effect from 1 April 2017. These include additional Non Executive Director assurance and 
amalgamation of the Governors’ Patient Experience and Performance Committees. 

At each of the Council’s meetings there is a private section to enable strategic 
discussion. Often this is with some group work to consider a number of elements, such 
as our transformation programme, so Governors can bring their views and those of 
our members/the public for inclusion in the Trust’s planning. With the changes to the 
operational plan submission this year the usual detailed discussion on the draft plan  
proved difficult, but Governors were closely involved with the development of the final 
strategic ambitions and objectives approved by the Board in March.  

We continue to support the development of the Council to ensure all Governors have 
sufficient information and training to undertake their role. This includes Governor 
Development Days in year, usually six monthly. As this current Council completes its 
term of office on 31 July, the April 2017 event did not go ahead. We are planning now 
to induct the new Governors, having taken account of existing Governor views and 
learning throughout their term of office. 
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On an annual basis Governors’ declared interests are reviewed, together with their fitness 
to continue as Governors. A declarations section is also included on each Council agenda. 
The register of interests is available on the Trust’s website or from the Trust Secretary. 

The Code of Conduct for the Council has undergone an extensive review this year with 
an enhanced Code approved in September 2016. Each Governor is required to sign their 
acceptance of the code.

Membership of the Council during the year and attendance at meetings is set out below. 

Meeting Date

Name of Person Role 28/04/16 13/06/16 14/07/16 16/09/16 19/10/16 11/11/16 13/01/17 10/03/17

David Wright Chairman 1 1 1 1 1 1 0 1

Appointed Governors  

Sue Allen Waveney District Council 1 0 1 1 0 0 0 0
Professor Richard 
Holland 

University of East Anglia 0 0 1 0 0 1
Julie Brociek- 
Coulton 

Norfolk County Council 0 1 0 0 1

Andy Evans 
Great Yarmouth & 
Waveney CCG

0 0 0 0

Tony Goldson Suffolk County Council 1 1 0 0 0 1 Pr 1 0
Emma Flaxman-
Taylor

Great Yarmouth 
Borough Council

1 1 0 0 0

Public Governors 

Angela Woodcock Lead Governor 1 1 1 1 1 0 1 1

Jean Goffin Deputy Lead Governor 1 1 1 1 1 0 1 1

Martin Arnold 1 1 Pr 1 0 1 0 1 0

José Bamonde 0 0 Pr 1 Pr 1 0 0 Pr 1 0

Stuart Brooks 0 1 0 1 1 1 1 0

Lesley Bruin 1 1 1 1 0 1 Pr 1 1

Mick Castle 1 0 0 0 1 1 1 0

Lyn Gibbs 1 0 1 1 1 1 1 1

Jane Harvey 1 1 1 0 1 0 0 1

Christina Horne 1 1 1 0 0 0 0 0

Peter Horton 0 0 0 0 0

Penny Hutch 0

Jean Macheath 1 1 1 1 1 0 Pr 1 1

Sue Meecham 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 0

Alison Mills 1 0 0 0 0 1 1 1

Terry Rymer 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

Staff Governors 

Keith Wilson Lead Staff Governor 1 0 1 0 0 1 0 1

Sharon Boothby 0 0 Pr 1 1 1 0 0 1

Daryl Bourn 0 0 0

Ruth Davies 0 1 Pr 1 1 0 0 0

Justine Goodwin 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

In attendance

Ann Filby
Head of Communications 
and Corporate Affairs 
(Trust Secretary)

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

Non Executive Directors

Peter Franzen Deputy Chairman 0 0 1 1

Anna Davidson
Non Executive Director 
(Deputy Chair from 
November 2016)

0 0 0 0 0 1 1 1

David Ellis Non Executive Director 0 0 1 1 0 1 1 0

Peter Hargrave Non Executive Director 1 0 1 1 0 1 Pr 1 1

Nicola Spalding Non Executive Director 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1

Paula Kerr
Non Executive Director 
(From November 2016)

0 1 1
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Executive Team members are invited to attend for specific agenda items, other than the 
Chief Executive, who attends each meeting.

Name of Person Role 28/04/16 13/06/16 14/07/16 16/09/16 19/10/16 11/11/16 13/01/17 10/03/17

Christine Allen Chief Executive Officer 1 1 1 0 1 1 1 1

Anna Hills Director of Governance 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 1

Julia Hunt Director of Nursing 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0

Nick Oligbo Medical Director 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Mark Flynn Director of Finance 0 0 Pr 5 0 0 0 0 0

Sue Watkinson
Chief Operating Officer 
(To November 2016)

0 0 0
Pr 8 & 

10
0 0

Graham Wilde
Chief Operating Officer 
(From November 2016)

Pu 1-5 0 0

Andrew Palmer
Director of Strategy & 
Transformation

0 0 Pr 5
Pr 9 & 

10
0 0 0 0

1 - Attended    0 - Did not attend   Pr - Private   Pu - Public items only

We were very sad to lose one of our original Governors in March 2017 with the sudden 
death of Public Governor Sue Meecham. Sue had been with us since the start in August 
2006 and was crucial to so much of what we did. She volunteered for most things, and 
our membership events wouldn’t have taken place without her attendance. She was 
always chatting to those that passed by and was passionate about making a difference. 
Sue led the link with the Portuguese community that we have continued. More recently 
she was part of the really successful Remarkable People Staff Awards with other 
Governors in running our raffle and raising necessary funds for the event.  

Sue was a great Governor who always took her role very seriously, regularly attended 
Board meetings and involved herself in what was going on, giving something back 
having been a member of staff previously. We will miss her.

Our members
Anyone living in the catchment area covered by the Trust can become a member of the 
Public Constituency if they are aged 16 or over; our staff are automatically members 
unless they choose to opt out. There is a section available on the Trust’s website and 
membership information displayed in the hospital, with clear contact information. 
Preparation for the Governors’ election has seen some increased interest in membership 
and in those being interested in this role. 
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This year the Council of Governors has continued its membership work which is fully 
integrated with the wider Trust work on engagement with our patients, carers and 
the general public. The Head of Patient Experience & Engagement is responsible 
for considering all information and working with the Carer and Patient Experience 
Committee that reports to the Board’s Safety and Quality Governance Committee. 
She attends the relevant Council Committee meeting and discusses issues of concern/
positive comments with Governors, to include in her report to CAPE. That Committee’s 
remit includes agreeing the themes and actions to be taken to enhance the patient 
experience.  These are reported to the Board in public on a monthly basis as part of 
the Quality & Safety report, which enables Governors to see the actions taken from the 
work they are participating in. 

The Council continues with its existing membership strategy which was approved in 
March 2016 to run until 31 December 2017, allowing the new Council to consider once 
it is in place from August 2017. The priorities are based on the principle of quality 
engagement and feedback on Trust services, rather than increasing membership 
numbers. 

Membership reports are considered six monthly as the figures remain largely 
representative of the local area and there is limited fluctuation. The aim is for 
total membership to remain at no less than 11,500. As at 31 March 2017, the staff 
membership is 3,516, with the public membership at 8,401, giving a total of 11,917. This 
is a slight reduction on last year’s figure of 12,112.  

It is fair to say that there is more that could be done on engaging with our members 
and, alongside the merger of the performance and patient experience elements, 
membership responsibilities have moved into the Governors’ Review and Planning 
Committee. With the new Council this will be the main focus. Whilst Governors are 
involved in strategic discussion and bring their views, more emphasis will be given to 
ensuring this link with members is stronger. 

Current progress against the membership objectives is set out below:

a  Public engagement on key issues, i.e. site strategy, to bring in member/public views 
on a strategic question/range of questions 

 Partially achieved.
 Briefing on future plans will involve the Governors during the next year, with 

engagement to be agreed as this long term strategy develops. Summary information 
is being used in the regular Meet the Governor sessions and feedback is reported. 
Where views are required for a specific project or element of the Trust’s business 
Governors have been and will continue to participate.  

 Governors were keen to support the research team, potentially by hosting a public 
meeting to showcase research and provide potential ambassadors with more 
information which was felt to be a good approach. Whilst the research team is keen 
to work with Governors this has not yet progressed.

As highlighted above, this will be a focus for the new Council

b  Membership events during the year across the Trust’s catchment area, in 
Somerleyton, Southwold, Martham and Beccles with a specific strategic question 
agreed for each 

 Achieved.
 Two membership events held as agreed in Pakefield and Beccles. Despite not meeting 

the targets set both events were felt to be useful, with targets remaining in place. 
With the current Council finishing its term of office on 31 July, and the preparations 
for the new Council, membership events will not be held during the summer of 2017.
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c  GP Surgery Patient Participation Group (PPG) engagement to continue, with new 
Governor links confirmed 

 Achieved.
 Continuing to engage and despite limited feedback at times the link with PPGs is 

still felt to be important. Relationships have been built over recent years that will 
continue into the new Council. 

d  Implement regular email contact with members, highlighting Governor work 
undertaken on their behalf, suggested quarterly initially

 Achieved.
 The first issue of Inside Story was sent in November 2015, to supplement the April/

October hard copy Your Trust News membership newsletter already sent out. This 
has continued. The content is considered by the Governors’ Committee and then one 
of our Governors drafts it, with final amendments by the Trust Secretary before it is 
sent. 

 The current election process aims to increase e-contact with members through 
offering e-voting and thereby securing additional email addresses to enhance the 
number of members we can contact in this way. 

In addition to these objectives Governors continue to undertake monthly Meet the 
Governor events in the foyer, patient experience visits and additional inspections/visits 
as requested, such as PLACE. 

Your Trust News 
This newsletter is written and designed 
in-house twice a year to give our Trust 
members the latest news from the 
hospital, delivered direct to their door. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE COUNCIL OF GOVERNORS OF JAMES PAGET 
UNIVERSITY HOSPITALS NHS FOUNDATION TRUST ON THE QUALITY REPORT 

We have been engaged by the Council of Governors of James Paget University Hospitals 
NHS Foundation Trust to perform an independent assurance engagement in respect 
of James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust’s Quality Report for the 
year ended 31 March 2017 (the ‘Quality Report’) and certain performance indicators 
contained therein.

Scope and subject matter

The indicators for the year ended 31 March 2017 subject to limited assurance consist of 
the following two national priority indicators (the indicators):

• percentage of incomplete pathways within 18 weeks for patients on incomplete 
pathways at the end of the reporting period; and

• A&E: maximum waiting time of four hours from arrival to admission, transfer or 
discharge.

We refer to these national priority indicators collectively as the ‘indicators’.

Respective responsibilities of the directors and auditors 

The directors are responsible for the content and the preparation of the Quality Report 
in accordance with the criteria set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting 
Manual issued by NHS Improvement.
Our responsibility is to form a conclusion, based on limited assurance procedures, on 
whether anything has come to our attention that causes us to believe that:

• the Quality Report is not prepared in all material respects in line with the criteria set 
out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual and supporting guidance;

• the Quality Report is not consistent in all material respects with the sources specified 
in the Detailed requirements for quality reports for foundation trusts 2016/17 (‘the 
Guidance’); and

• the indicators in the Quality Report identified as having been the subject of limited 
assurance in the Quality Report are not reasonably stated in all material respects 
in accordance with the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual and the 
six dimensions of data quality set out in the Detailed Requirements for external 
assurance for quality reports for foundation trusts 2016/17.

We read the Quality Report and consider whether it addresses the content requirements 
of the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual and consider the implications 
for our report if we become aware of any material omissions.

We read the other information contained in the Quality Report and consider whether it 
is materially inconsistent with:

• Board minutes and papers for the period April 2016 to May 2017;

• papers relating to quality reported to the board over the period April 2016 to May 
2017;

• feedback from commissioners;

• feedback from governors;

• feedback from local Healthwatch organisations;

• feedback from Safety and Quality Governance Committee;

• the trust’s complaints report published under regulation 18 of the Local Authority 
Social Services and NHS Complaints Regulations 2009;

• the national patient survey;

• the national staff survey;
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• Care Quality Commission Inspection, dated 20 December 2016;

• the 2016/17 Head of Internal Audit’s annual opinion over the trust’s control 
environment; and

• any other information included in our review.

We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent 
misstatements or material inconsistencies with those documents (collectively, the 
‘documents’).  Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information. 

We are in compliance with the applicable independence and competency requirements 
of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales (ICAEW) Code of Ethics.  
Our team comprised assurance practitioners and relevant subject matter experts.

This report, including the conclusion, has been prepared solely for the Council of 
Governors of James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust as a body, to 
assist the Council of Governors in reporting the NHS Foundation Trust’s quality agenda, 
performance and activities.  We permit the disclosure of this report within the Annual 
Report for the year ended 31 March 2017, to enable the Council of Governors to 
demonstrate they have discharged their governance responsibilities by commissioning 
an independent assurance report in connection with the indicator.  To the fullest extent 
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the 
Council of Governors as a body and James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation 
Trust for our work or this report, except where terms are expressly agreed and with our 
prior consent in writing. 

Assurance work performed 

We conducted this limited assurance engagement in accordance with International 
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) – ‘Assurance Engagements other 
than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information’, issued by the International 
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (‘ISAE 3000’). Our limited assurance procedures 
included: 

• evaluating the design and implementation of the key processes and controls for 
managing and reporting the indicator;

• making enquiries of management;

• testing key management controls;

• limited testing, on a selective basis, of the data used to calculate the indicator back 
to supporting documentation;

• comparing the content requirements of the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting 
Manual to the categories reported in the Quality Report; and

• reading the documents.

A limited assurance engagement is smaller in scope than a reasonable assurance 
engagement. The nature, timing and extent of procedures for gathering sufficient 
appropriate evidence are deliberately limited relative to a reasonable assurance 
engagement.

Limitations

Non-financial performance information is subject to more inherent limitations than 
financial information, given the characteristics of the subject matter and the methods 
used for determining such information.

The absence of a significant body of established practice on which to draw allows for 
the selection of different, but acceptable measurement techniques which can result 
in materially different measurements and can affect comparability.  The precision 
of different measurement techniques may also vary.  Furthermore, the nature and 
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methods used to determine such information, as well as the measurement criteria 
and the precision of these criteria, may change over time.  It is important to read the 
quality report in the context of the criteria set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual 
Reporting Manual and supporting guidance.

The scope of our assurance work has not included governance over quality or the non-
mandated indicator, which was determined locally by James Paget University Hospitals 
NHS Foundation Trust.

Conclusion

Based on the results of our procedures, nothing has come to our attention that causes 
us to believe that, for the year ended 31 March 2017:

• the Quality Report is not prepared in all material respects in line with the criteria set 
out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual and supporting guidance;

• the Quality Report is not consistent in all material respects with the sources specified 
in the Guidance; and

• the indicator in the Quality Report subject to limited assurance has not been 
reasonably stated in all material respects in accordance with the NHS Foundation 
Trust Annual Reporting Manual and the six dimensions of data quality set out in the 
Guidance.

KPMG LLP
Chartered Accountants
Dragonfly House, 2 Guilders Way, Norwich, Norfolk NR3 1UB

23 May 2017
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Glossary/Abbreviations
A&E Accident and Emergency
Acute  Rapid onset, severe symptoms and brief duration 
Audit  A continuous process of assessment, evaluation and adjustment 

BAF Board Assurance Framework
Baseline  The continuous level of funding, year on year, before additional    
 resources  are taken into account
BREEAM The leading sustainability assessment method for master planning    
 projects, infrastructure and buildings
CAPE Carer & Patient Experience Committee 
C Diff Clostridium difficile
CLIP Collaborative Learning in Practice
CQC  Care Quality Commission 
CQRA Clinical quality risk assessment
CQUIN   Commissioning for Quality and Innovation 
Capital  Spending on land and premises and provision, adaptation, renewal,   
 replacement or demolition of buildings, equipment and vehicles 
Commissioning  Process of acquiring/buying services to meet the health needs of    
 the local population
Elective
operation An operation which is planned ahead and for which the patient    
 will be given a date to be admitted to hospital 
ERIC Estates return information collection
ESRBI The NHS Electronic Staff Record
FP&SP The Board’s Finance, Performance and Strategic Planning Committee
FTE Full time equivalent (staffing)
GPs  General Practitioners
HEE Health Education England
Inpatient  A patient admitted to hospital for a period of treatment or to undergo an   
 operation. Patients would stay in hospital for 24 hours or more
iPM Inpatient manager – part of our IT programme providing patient letters
IM&T Information Management and Technology
M Million
N&R Nomination and Remuneration 
NED   Non Executive Director
NHS  National Health Service
NHSI NHS Improvement, oversees foundation trusts and NHS trusts, as well as   
 independent providers that provide NHS-funded care
OD Organisational development
Outpatient  Provided on an appointment basis without the need to be admitted to or  
 stay in hospital, e.g. assess need for further treatment, follow up    
 appointment after a period of treatment 
PALS   Patient Advice and Liaison Service 
PLACE Patient led assessment of the care environment annual checks using   
 national guidance
PPG Patient participation group
RAF Monitor’s risk assessment framework
RTT  Referral to Treatment 
SQG The Board’s Safety and Quality Governance Committee
STP Sustainability and Transformation Plan
STF Sustainability and Transformation Fund
UoR Use of Resources
UEA University of East Anglia
YTD Year to date
WRES Workplace Race Equality Standards
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Useful contacts and how to get here

James Paget University 
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
Lowestoft Road
Gorleston
Great Yarmouth
Norfolk
NR31 6LA

01493 452452
Website: www.jpaget.nhs.uk 

Email: firstname.lastname@
jpaget.nhs.uk 

Ann Filby
Head of Communications 
& Corporate Affairs (Trust 
Secretary)
Tel. 01493 452162 

For Communications, Board, 
Governors and membership 
queries

General email:
foundationtrust@jpaget.nhs.uk
 
Twitter: @JamesPagetNHS

Facebook: /
JamesPagetUniversityHospitals

Patient Advice & Liaison 
Service
01493 453240
PALS@jpaget.nhs.uk
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FOREWORD 
 

What is a Quality Report 
 

All providers of NHS services in England have a statutory duty to produce an annual report to the 
public about the quality of services they deliver. This is called the Quality Report and includes the 
requirements of the NHS (Quality Accounts) Regulations 2010 as amended by the NHS (Quality 
Accounts) Amendments Regulations 2011 and the NHS (Quality Accounts) Amendments Regulations 
2012.  Quality Accounts (and hence this report) aim to increase public accountability and drive quality 
improvement within NHS organisations. They do this by getting organisations to review their 
performance over the previous year, identify areas for improvement, and publish that information, 
along with a commitment to you about how those improvements will be made and monitored over the 
next year.   
 

Quality consists of three areas which are essential to the delivery of high quality services: 
• How safe the care is (patient safety) 
• How well the care provided works (clinical effectiveness) 
• How patients experience the care they receive (patient experience) 
 

Some of the information in this Quality Report is mandatory – this report contains all of NHS 
Improvement’s detailed requirements for quality reports – but most is decided by patients and carers, 
Foundation Trust Governors, staff, commissioners, regulators, and our partner organisations, 
collectively known as our stakeholders. 
 

Scope and structure of the Quality Report 
 

This report summarises how well the James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (‘the 
Trust’) did against the quality priorities and goals we set ourselves for 2016/17.  It also sets out those 
we have agreed for 2017/18 and how we intend to achieve them. 
 

This report is divided into three Parts, the first of which includes a statement from the Chief Executive 
and looks at our performance in 2016/17 against the priorities and goals we set for patient safety, 
clinical effectiveness and patient experience.  
 

Part 2 sets out the quality priorities and goals for 2017/18 for the same categories and explains how 
we decided on them, how we intend to meet them, and how we will track our progress.   
 

Part 2 also includes statements of assurance relating to the quality of services and describes how we 
review them, including information and data quality. It also includes a description of audits we have 
undertaken and our research work. We have also looked at how our staff contribute to quality.   
 

Part 3 sets out how we identify our own priorities for improvement and gives examples of how we 
have improved services for patients. It also includes performance against national priorities and our 
local indicators. 
 

The annexes at the end of the report include the comments of our external stakeholders including: 

 Great Yarmouth and Waveney Clinical Commissioning Group 

 Healthwatch Norfolk 

 Healthwatch Suffolk 

 Council of Governors  

 Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 

The annexes also include a glossary of terms used.  
 
 

 
 
 

If you or someone you know needs help understanding this report, or would like the information in 
another format, such as large print, easy read, audio or Braille, or in another language, please contact 
our Director of Governance by calling 01493 452887 or emailing anna.hills@jpaget.nhs.uk. 
  

Any text shown in blue boxes is a compulsory requirement to be included in the Quality Report as 

mandated within NHS Improvement’s Annual Quality Accounts Regulations. 

mailto:anna.hills@jpaget.nhs.uk
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James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust aims to provide safe and effective 
care at all times.  This means that patient safety and quality are at the heart of everything we 
do.  Our staff are central to delivering the care standards that we expect every patient to 
receive. 

2016/17 has certainly been a year of significant change, with many developments taking 
place to ensure that our services are fit for the future.  I am extremely proud of what we have 
developed during the last year to further improve the quality and safety of our services.  I am 
delighted to have the opportunity to share with you some of our achievements in this Quality 
Report and inform you of the plans we have to continue to improve our services. 

Our Trust Priorities for 2017/18 have been developed to ensure that we embed quality 
changes into our daily practice.  As we improve our clinical audit practice we will work 
towards including results in our improvement programmes. 

Our biggest achievement in 2016/17 has been to maintain our rating of ‘GOOD’ following the 
CQC planned re-inspection in August 2016.  The improvement notices were lifted and the 
Trust was rated as OUTSTANDING in two areas: quality of care offered to patients reaching 
the end of their lives and for leadership of our urgent and emergency services.  Inspectors 
found that our staff are motivated, focused on the patient and keen to develop services. 

This year we have developed good foundations for our work across the Norfolk and 
Waveney STP (Sustainability and Transformation Plan) to future-proof health services for 
the next generations.  This includes joint work programmes with the other acute providers 
via the Norfolk Hospitals Group. 

The biggest challenge in 2016/17 has been the unprecedented increase in patients 
attending the Trust (an increase of around 3500 patients through A&E in 2016/17).  Despite 
the challenges, our staff have all pulled together – support and clinical staff – to do the right 
thing for our patients in extreme situations.  We have seen the lowest level of outpatient non-
attendance (DNAs) ever following focused work by staff. 

I would like to take this opportunity to thank our staff, once again, without their hard work and 
commitment we would not have achieved the successes we have set out in this Quality 
Report. 

Quality and safety remain our priority and as we move into 2017/18, we look forward to 
another year of continued focus on improvements in the quality of care and experience for 
our patients. 

 

Christine Allen 
Chief Executive 
James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 

To the best of my knowledge, the information in this document is accurate 
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Part 2 
Priorities for improvement and statements of assurance 

from the Board 
 
 
 
 

 Page 
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 Patient and Staff Experience 14 
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 The Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) Framework 26 
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 Patient Safety Incidents 38 

 Friends and Family Test – Patient 40 

 Friends and Family Test – Staff 41 

 NHS Staff Survey Key Findings 21 and 26 42 

In this section we describe our priority areas for quality improvement for 2017/18.  We explain how we have chosen 
our priorities, what we set out to do, what we have done in previous years and how we will monitor progress with the 
priorities throughout the year. 

In this section we have included all of the mandatory statements of assurance as required under the NHS (Quality 
Account) Regulations 2009 and associated amendments 2011 and 2012. 

In this section we have included our performance against a core set of indicators.  For each indicator we have 
included data for the last two reporting periods and, where available and/or applicable, have included the national 
average for the same and those NHS Trusts with the highest and lowest figures for the same. 
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2.1 Priorities for improvement 2017/18 
 
The Board of Directors has agreed the following key priorities under the three domains of 
quality for 2017/18.  These have been identified from and/or aligned to: 
 

 Trust Quality Strategy 2014-17 

 The Care Quality Commission (CQC) five Key Lines of Enquiry (KLOE) 
- Safe 
- Effective 
- Caring 
- Responsive 
- Well-led 

 The CQC announced inspection August 2016 

 The Trust’s ‘Sign Up to Safety’ pledges 

 Governors/Trust Members/local population feedback via questionnaire 

 Quality Report priorities 2016/17 

 Issues identified from the CQC Quality Assurance Framework 

 Priorities identified by: 
- NHS England 
- NHS Improvement 
- Health Education England 
- Public Health England 
- National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) 

 
The public and patients are involved in identifying risk and bringing this to the attention of the 
Foundation Trust in a variety of ways, including: 
 

 Via Healthwatch; 

 Via our Council of Governors (involved in setting the priorities within the Quality Report); 

 Priorities Questionnaire sent to all members via post, media and Trust website; 

 The Trust Board of Directors has continued to include a patient story at each monthly 
meeting to help identify, manage and mitigate key risks; 

 Patients and relatives are involved in addressing issues identified through complaints, 
claims, Patient Advice and Liaison (PALS) and incidents via involvement in action 
planning; 

 Patient Satisfaction Surveys. 
 
Public Stakeholders are involved in managing risk which impacts on them, for example: 
 

 There are Foundation Trust meetings at all levels with members of the Clinical 
Commissioning Group at which risk is assessed; 

 Health Overview and Scrutiny Committees; 

 Partnership working with Social Services; and 

 Joint working with other health and social care providers i.e. Norfolk & Norwich 
University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, East of England Ambulance Service NHS 
Trust, Norfolk and Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust, and East Coast Community Health 
Community Interest Company. 
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Patient Safety 
 
a) National Collaborative Programmes 

 

What we set out to do (Priority): 

To participate in the National Improvement Collaborative programmes for falls, 
pressure ulcers and end of life care. 

Why we chose this (Rationale): 

 Although performance has improved in relation to hospital acquired pressure 
ulcers there are still avoidable cases identified. 

 Analysis of falls in 2016/17 demonstrates an increasing trend. 

 Further work is required to embed the End of Life Care Strategy 

What we intend to achieve (Goal): 

 Falls – Trust-wide 
- 10% reduction in falls (all falls) based on the 2016/17 baseline and  
- 5% reduction in falls with harm. 

 Pressure ulcers – Trust wide  
- 25% reduction in avoidable Grade 2 
- 25% reduction in avoidable Grade 3 

 End of life 
- Successfully implement the Trust End of Life Strategy  
- Successfully implement the action plans developed following the Care 

Quality Commission (CQC) visit last year 

How we will deliver and monitor progress: 

- Measure through the Quality Assurance Programme developed by the Divisions 
- Monitored at Patient Safety and Effectiveness Committee 

Responsible Person: 

Director of Nursing 

 
Baseline data 

 
Patient Falls and Falls with Harm 2016/17 
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Pressure Ulcers 
 

Hospital Acquired Grade 3 Pressure Ulcers 

 
 

Total Grade 3 Hospital Acquired Pressure Ulcers 20 

Number of Avoidable Grade 3 Hospital Acquired Pressure Ulcers 14 
 

Hospital Acquired Grade 2 Pressure Ulcers1 

 
 

Total Grade 2 Hospital Acquired Pressure Ulcers 63 

Number of Avoidable Grade 2 Hospital Acquired Pressure Ulcers 37 
 

End of Life Care 
 

This is a new objective hence there are no baseline data. 
 

Actions 
 

Falls and Pressure Ulcers 
 

 The Trust has established Operational and Strategic groups to devise and monitor 
actions on falls prevention and incidents 

 The Trust is to carry out an assurance programme review.  This includes analysis of the 
Fundamentals of Care that will be taken to the Cross-Divisional Learning forum where 
improvement actions will be identified.  This will enhance ownership from the wards.  The 
assurance programme is built around people being able to demonstrate theory and 
practical knowledge of the prevention care actions. 

 

End of Life Care 
 

The Trust has established an Operational and Strategic group to devise and monitor 
progress with the End of Life Strategy implementation. 

                                                           
1
 Data range available due to timings of root cause analysis investigations 
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b) Mortality 

 

What we set out to do (Priority): 

To develop and embed the Trust mortality process in line with national guidance. 

Why we chose this (Rationale): 

NHS Gateway Reference: 06251: For the 2017/18 Quality Accounts, providers will 
be expected to report their progress in using learning from deaths to inform their 
quality improvement plans. 

What we intend to achieve (Goal): 

To bring the mortality process and learning from deaths in line with existing learning 
processes e.g. Serious Incidents and Never Events within the Trust. 

How we will deliver and monitor progress: 

Reviewing and learning from deaths section in the Quality and Safety report to the 
Board of Directors monthly 

Responsible Person: 

Medical Director 

 
Baseline data 

 
This is a new objective hence there are no baseline data. 
 
Actions 

 
The Trust Lead for mortality to develop this process and report on progress through the 
monthly Quality and Safety report to the Board of Directors 
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c) Care Quality Commission (CQC) Actions 

 

What we set out to do (Priority): 

CQC inspection 2016: Plan and prioritise the actions required to address the findings 
in relation to areas identified by CQC where the Trust ‘should’ take action. 

Why we chose this (Rationale): 

The Trust was rated GOOD overall and the future aim is to demonstrate Outstanding 

What we intend to achieve (Goal): 

Further improvement at the next inspection 

How we will deliver and monitor progress: 

Bi-monthly Divisional reporting at Patient Safety and Effectiveness Committee 

Responsible Person: 

Medical Director/Director of Nursing 

 
Baseline data 

 

The full report, published on 12th December 2016 can be found at this link: 
http://www.cqc.org.uk/sites/default/files/new_reports/AAAG0194.pdf 
 
Actions 

 
Below is the action plan sent to the CQC to address the ‘should’ recommendations: 
 

ID 
Issue Raised in Final Report: 

The Trust Should: 
Action Lead Timescale 

1 Emergency Division  
 
Review its registered nurse 
staffing across the emergency 
and medical divisions to 
ensure sufficient numbers of 
nurses are on duty to ensure 
safe delivery care. 

 Continue with national 
and international 
recruitment activities and 
monitor the impact of 
recruitment policies. 

 Monitoring of 
performance to plan will 
be undertaken at 
Divisional Governance 
Meetings which report 
into the Patient Safety 
and Effectiveness 
Committee. 

 Spot check monitoring 
will be undertaken to 
check progress.  

 Board Assurance is via  
- Workforce Report  
- Quality and Safety 

Report 
- Safe Staffing Report- 

bi-annual 

Lead Nurse 
Matrons/Senior Nurses 
Acting Deputy Director of 
Nursing 

Completed.   

http://www.cqc.org.uk/sites/default/files/new_reports/AAAG0194.pdf
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ID 
Issue Raised in Final Report: 

The Trust Should: 
Action Lead Timescale 

2 Emergency Division 
 
Review medical staff 
participation in mandatory 
training and increase 
compliance with required 
training 
 
Elective Division 
 
Review dental staff 
participation in mandatory 
training and increase 
compliance with required 
training 

Integrated Governance team 
to:  

 Identify all medical and 
dental staff that are non-
compliant with 
mandatory training with 
no obvious plans to 
attend the next 
mandatory training 
session. 

 Monitoring of 
performance to plan will 
be undertaken at 
Divisional Governance 
Meetings which report 
into the Patient Safety 
and Effectiveness 
Committee. 

 Board Assurance is via  
- Workforce Report  

Integrated Governance Unit 
Divisional Directors 

Completed. 

 Obtain confirmation from 
all senior Medical and 
Dental Staff that they are 
booked onto the 
September or December 
mandatory sessions if 
required. 

 Spot check monitoring 
will be undertaken to 
check progress.  

Integrated Governance Unit 
Divisional Directors 

30
th
 April 

2017 

3 Elective Division  - Children 
and Young Persons (CYP) 
 
Ensure all staff have the 
appropriate up to date 
paediatric and/or neonatal life 
support training 

 Identify all medical and 
dental staff that are non-
compliant with 
mandatory training with 
no obvious plans to 
attend the next 
mandatory training 
session and ensure that 
a plan is made to close 
this compliance gap.  

 Spot check monitoring 
will be undertaken to 
check progress.  

Divisional Board 31
st
 March 

2017 
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ID 
Issue Raised in Final Report: 

The Trust Should: 
Action Lead Timescale 

4 Emergency Division – Ward 
16 and 17  
 
Elective Division – 
Charnwood and CYP, 
Maternity  in particular 
 
Consider reviewing medicines 
management practice to 
ensure medications are 
appropriately stock checked so 
that out of date medicines are 
disposed of and action taken 
when fridge temperatures are 
recorded outside of range. 

 Arrange meeting to 
agree practice 
requirements and any 
new ways of working. 

 Spot check monitoring 
will be undertaken to 
check progress.  

Divisional Board 
Integrated Governance Unit 

31
st
 May 

2017 

5 Elective Division – Maternity  
Consider reviewing 
prescription recording to 
ensure that signatures on 
prescription charts are legible. 

 Head of Midwifery to 
confirm the 
implementation of E-
Prescribing and 
Medicines Administration 
(EPMA) which will control 
this risk to some extent.  

Clinical Lead 
Head of Midwifery 

30
th
 April 

2017 

6 Elective Division – CYP 
Consider improving the 
recording of staff sharing 
across ward 10 and the 
neonatal wards to prove safe 
staffing standards. 

 The Lead Nurse for CYP 
will review this and 
respond back with 
actions taken as a result.  

 Spot check monitoring 
will be undertaken to 
check progress.  

Lead Nurse CYP 30
th
 April 

2017 

7 Elective Division – CYP 
Consider reviewing infection 
control arrangements within 
the children and young 
people’s service to ensure 
effective hand hygiene and 
equipment cleaning.  

 Lead Nurse CYP to 
ensure that compliance 
to infection control policy 
is improved by 
monitoring compliance 
and taking necessary 
actions.  

 Spot check monitoring 
will be undertaken to 
check progress.  

Lead Nurse CYP  30
th
 April 

2017 

 
  



James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 
Quality Report 2016/17 
V1 180517  Page 10 

d) Medicines Management Themed Review 

 

What we set out to do (Priority): 

Themed review of learning from medicines management incidents and Never Event 

Why we chose this (Rationale): 

Divisional and Corporate reporting through Patient Safety and Effectiveness 
Committee has shown an increase in medicines management incidents and the 
occurrence of a Never Event within 2016/17 

What we intend to achieve (Goal): 

Decreased occurrence of medicines management incidents and zero Never Events 

How we will deliver and monitor progress: 

 Reporting in to Patient Safety and Effectiveness Committee (PSEC) from 
Medicines Management Committee 

 Bi-monthly Divisional reporting at PSEC 

 Quarterly Corporate overview report to PSEC 

Responsible Person: 

Director of Nursing 

 

Baseline data 

 

Medicines Management Incidents 2014/15 to 2016/17 
 

 
 
Actions 

 
To develop task and finish groups aligned to the Medicines Management Committee to take 
forward required improvement actions following analysis of the themed review.  
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Clinical Effectiveness 
 

a) Learning from Clinical Audit 

 

What we set out to do (Priority): 

Learning from clinical audit: develop and apply consistent processes to ensure 
findings from clinical audits result in action, learning and sustained improvements in 
practice 

Why we chose this (Rationale): 

Action planning and learning from clinical audit is the least developed part of the 
clinical audit cycle 

What we intend to achieve (Goal): 

 Complete, evidenced audit cycles 

 Demonstrable learning from clinical audit 

 Clinical audit outcomes being fed in to Quality work programmes 

How we will deliver and monitor progress: 

- Monitoring through Clinical Audit and Effectiveness Group 
- Monthly Clinical Audit reporting at Patient Safety and Effectiveness Committee 

Responsible Person: 

Director of Governance 

 

Baseline data 

 

Audit Action Plans due for implementation in 2016/17 
 

Number of audit action plans which were due to be implemented in 2016/17: 113 
 

Of these: 
 

Fully implemented 24/113 (21%) 

With ongoing actions 8/113 (7%) 

Not implemented/no update 81/113 (72%) 
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Re-audits due in 2016/17 
 

Number of re-audits due in 2016/17: 67 
 

Of these: 
 

Registered 30/67 (45%) 

Not registered 37 (55%) 

 
The above figures are based on information which has been provided to the Clinical Audit 
and Effectiveness Department. Processes for feeding back action plan updates have been 
put in place during the latter half of 2016/17.  
 

All open action plans are now circulated to each clinical specialty/department on a monthly 
basis for discussion at their specialty governance meetings and feedback from there.   
 

Actions 

 

A bid for funds for the installation of a clinical audit module add-on to the Ulysses Safeguard 
Integrated Risk Management System has recently been approved.   This will allow user-level 
access to and senior oversight of all audit action plans. 
 

The clinical audit module will be the foundation of improvements to the centralised recording 
of audit action plan updates and learning from clinical audit. 
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b) Clinical Audits with our health and social care partners 

 

What we set out to do (Priority): 

Develop clinical audits with our health and social care partners aligned to our 
strategic objectives e.g. service developments with the Sustainability and 
Transformation Plan (STP) 

Why we chose this (Rationale): 

It is important to audit any new pathways of care to establish if they are embedded 
and providing results as planned 

What we intend to achieve (Goal): 

Clinical audits designed and delivered where new pathways of care with STP 
partners have been implemented 

How we will deliver and monitor progress: 

Clinical Audit Forward Plan reported to Patient Safety and Effectiveness Committee, 
Safety and Quality Governance Committee and Board of Directors 

Responsible Person: 

Medical Director 

 
Baseline data 

 
This is a new piece of work and, as such, there is no baseline data for this Priority 
 
Actions 

 
The Director of Strategy and Transformation will develop actions in-year with the STP Board, 
should service developments or transfers occur. 
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Patient Experience 
 
a) National Surveys 

 

What we set out to do (Priority): 

Address the areas where performance has deteriorated as measured by the patient 
experience National Surveys e.g. Inpatient, Maternity, A&E, etc. 

Why we chose this (Rationale): 

 To improve overall patient experience 

 To learn from and rectify areas where patients have expressed dissatisfaction 

What we intend to achieve (Goal): 

Improved scores demonstrated in subsequent Surveys and hence improved patient 
experience 

How we will deliver and monitor progress: 

Bi-monthly reporting through the Carer and Patient Experience Committee 

Responsible Person: 

Director of Governance 

 
Baseline data 

 
There is no baseline data available for this Priority as reports are not yet published. 
 
Actions 

 

 Analysis of the published national surveys in year: 
- Emergency Department Survey – survey is complete with report expected in April 

2017 
- National Inpatient Survey – due for publication June 2017 
- National Cancer Patient Experience Survey – official statistics to be released 

June 2017 with national results available July 2017 
- National Children and Young People Survey – full report will be available mid-

July with publication later on in the year 
- National Maternity Survey – currently in the data sample submission phase – 

report expected by the end of the year 

 Identify areas where the Trust falls in the lowest 20% of all Trusts  

 Identify where the Trust has seen a marked decline in any aspects against its own 
previous performance based on the previous survey findings 

 Develop and implement an action plan to address the shortfalls identified from the above 
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b) Always Events 

 

What we set out to do (Priority): 

Develop and implement clear, action-oriented Trust-wide Always Events 

Why we chose this (Rationale): 

NHS England are leading on an initiative to develop a national approach to integrate 
Always Events into routine care processes 

What we intend to achieve (Goal): 

Standardised approach to practice that will improve patients’ experience of care. 

How we will deliver and monitor progress: 

Bi-monthly reporting through the Carer and Patient Experience Committee 

Responsible Person: 

Director of Governance 

 

Baseline data 

 

Always Events are defined as those aspects of the care experience that should always occur 
when patients, their family members or other care partners and service users interact with 
health care professionals and the health care delivery system (NHS England, 2016).  The 
Trust has agreed four Always Events to take forward and fully implement during 2017/18. 
 

As this is a new initiative, there are no baseline data available. 
 

Actions 

 

 The Always Events are being launched via Leadership Brief in April 2017, with three 
being rolled out Trust wide and the fourth being piloted on both Ward 4 and the new 
Ward 16 (Short Stay).   

 An Executive Lead has been assigned to each Always Event and each are aligned to 
one of the Trust Values and Behaviours.   

 The Patient Experience Team will support the current monitoring processes in place to 
ensure achievement of the Always Events and report on progress through the Carer and 
Patient Experience Committee.   

 

Always Event 
Aligned Value and 

Behaviour 
Executive Lead 

1. We will always greet patients/visitors to the Trust 
using ‘hello my name is…’ 

Courtesy and Respect Director of Finance 

2. We will always promote a lights out at 11pm/ 
noise-reduction philosophy  

Responsive Communication Director of Nursing 

3. We will always offer discussions with service 
users who post negative feedback on social media     

Attentively Kind and Helpful Chief Operating Officer 

4. We will always explain medication on patients 
discharge   (pilot) 

Effective and Professional Medical Director 
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c) Red to Green Programme 

 
 

What we set out to do (Priority): 

Develop a patient experience survey tool aligned to aims of Red to Green 
programme 

Why we chose this (Rationale): 

To measure the impact on the experience of patients of the Red to Green initiative 

What we intend to achieve (Goal): 

A measurement of how many patients can answer the following questions: 

 Why am I in hospital? 

 What will be happening to me today? 

 When will I be going home? 

How we will deliver and monitor progress: 

Bi-monthly reporting through the Carer and Patient Experience Committee 

Responsible Person: 

Chief Operating Officer 

 
 
Baseline data 

 
 
As this is a new initiative, there are no baseline data available. 
 
 
Actions 

 
 
The patient experience team will be exploring opportunities to gain feedback from patients 
linked to the red to green programme focusing on aims: 

 Why am I in hospital? 

 What will be happening to me today? 

 When will I be going home? 
 
This will enable patients/carers to provide their views on whether they have received 
information and understand why they are in hospital, expectations regarding length of stay 
and what’s happening for them on a given day. 
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d) Staff/Patient Experience Education and Training 

 

What we set out to do (Priority): 

Co-design a staff/patient experience education and training DVD 

Why we chose this (Rationale): 

 To be able to provide a visual aid for training purposes to show a patient’s story 
first-hand 

 Patient stories are a powerful method of demonstrating how a patient 
experiences their time within the hospital 

What we intend to achieve (Goal): 

Increased staff awareness and understanding of a patient’s experience and what 
matters 

How we will deliver and monitor progress: 

Bi-monthly reporting through the Carer and Patient Experience Committee 

Responsible Person: 

Director of Governance 

 
Baseline data 

 
This is a new piece of work and, as such, there are no baseline data. 
 
Actions 

 

 Identify a patient who is willing to share their experience 

 Liaise with Communications team to ensure the DVD meets Trust standard 

 Launch details to be confirmed 
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Pan-Domain Objective 
 
For 2017/18 the Trust has taken the decision to include a Priority that sits across the three 
domains of Quality. 
 
a) Patient Flow 

 

What we set out to do (Priority): 

Improve patient flow throughout the hospital so that patients are provided with safe 
care in the right place at the right time 

Why we chose this (Rationale): 

Demand on the Trust’s services is increasing which has caused significant patient 
flow issues throughout 2016/17 

What we intend to achieve (Goal): 

 Reduced number of outliers2 

 Improved patient feedback 

How we will deliver and monitor progress: 

 Finance and Performance Committee 

 Carer and Patient Experience Committee 

Responsible Person: 

Chief Operating Officer 

 
Baseline data 

 
The indicator for Medical Outliers is currently in development and will appear in future 
Performance Reports to the Board of Directors. 
 
 
Actions 

 

 To develop a usable indicator and include in Board of Directors’ reports 

 Collate, analyse and share patient feedback data related to patient flow 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

                                                           
2 Medical patients being cared for in in surgical areas and vice versa; and/or across specialties within 
divisions 
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2.2 Statements of Assurance from the Board 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Specialties and services: 

Accident and Emergency (A&E) General Medicine 

Anaesthetics  General Surgery 

Antenatal screening Gynaecology 

Audiology  Haematology 

Bereavement Services  Haematology  

Blood Transfusion  Hyperbaric services 

Breast Surgery Intensive Care Services 

Cardiology Maternity services 

Care of the Elderly   Medical illustration 

Children’s Centre Neonatology 

Clinical Measurement Nephrology and renal dialysis 

Community Dental Services Obstetrics 

Community midwifery Oncology 

Community Paediatric Service  Ophthalmology 

Continence and Stoma Care Oral Surgery 

Coronary Care Paediatric Surgery  

Dental and Orthodontics  Paediatrics 

Dermatology Pain Management 

Diabetes Palliative Care 

Diabetic Liaison  Parentcraft 

Diagnostic Imaging: Pharmaceutical services 

-   X-ray services Rehabilitation  

-   Specialist Imaging Respiratory Medicine 

-   Ultrasound services Rheumatology 

-   Mammography services Safeguarding children 

-   MRI & CT services Sandra Chapman Centre  

Ear, Nose and Throat Stroke Services 

Endocrinology Therapies e.g. physiotherapy 

Endoscopy Trauma and Orthopaedics 

Fertility services Urology 

Gastroenterology Vascular Surgery 

Gastro-intestinal Surgery  

During 2016/17 the James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust provided 
and/or sub-contracted 58 health services, [listed in the table below]. 
 
The James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust has reviewed all the data 
available to them on the quality of care in all of these relevant health services. 
 
The income generated by the relevant health services reviewed in 2016/17 represents 
100% of the total income generated from the provision of relevant health services by the 

James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust for 2016/17. 
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Clinical Audits and National Confidential Enquiries 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Audit Title 
Relevant to 

JPUH 
Services? 

Trust 
participation 

Case Ascertainment 

Major Trauma Audit (TARN) Yes Yes 50.6-59.2% (01/04/16 to 30/09/16) 

Severe Sepsis and Septic Shock - care in 
emergency departments 

Yes Yes 80% 

Asthma (paediatric and adult) care in 
emergency departments 

Yes Yes 
76% (38 cases submitted of 50 
required) 

National Emergency Laparotomy Audit 
(NELA) 

Yes Yes 
71% for December 2016 – February 
2017 (inclusive). Further data is 
unavailable. 

2017 National Comparative Audit of 
Transfusion Associated Circulatory 
Overload (TACO) 

Yes Yes Data collection ongoing 

Serious Hazards of Transfusion (SHOT): 
UK National haemovigilance scheme 

Yes Yes 100% 

NCA Patient Blood Management in 
Scheduled Surgery 

Yes Yes 100% 

Acute Coronary Syndrome or Acute 
Myocardial Infarction (MINAP) 

Yes Yes 100% 

National Heart Failure Audit Yes Yes 100% 

National Audit of Dementia - Care in 
general hospitals 

Yes Yes 100% 

National Diabetes Audit - Adults: National 
Inpatient Audit 

Yes Yes 100% 

During 2016/17 34 national clinical audits and 6 national confidential enquiries covered 
relevant health services that James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 
provides. 
 
During that period James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust participated 
in 95% national clinical audits and 100% national confidential enquiries of the national 
clinical audits and national confidential enquiries which it was eligible to participate in. 
 
The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that James Paget 
University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust was eligible to participate in during 2016/17 
are as follows: [see table below]. 
 
The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that James Paget 
University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust participated in during 2016/17 are as follows: 
[see table below]. 
 
The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that James Paget 
University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust participated in, and for which data collection 
was completed during 2016/17, are listed below alongside the number of cases submitted 
to each audit or enquiry as a percentage of the number of registered cases required by 
the terms of that audit or enquiry [where available]. 
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Audit Title 
Relevant to 

JPUH 
Services? 

Trust 
participation 

Case Ascertainment 

National Diabetes Audit - Adults: National 
Core (NDA) 

Yes No 

Data was submitted for 50 patients 
from insulin pump clinics but this was 
insufficient to be accepted by the 
national audit.  

Elective Surgery (National PROMs 
Programme) 

Yes Yes 100% 

Inflammatory Bowel Disease (IBD) 
Registry 

Yes Yes 
Awaiting commencement of data 
entry 

Oesophago-gastric Cancer (NAOGC) Yes Yes Over 90%.  

Bowel Cancer (NBOCAP) Yes Yes 102
3
% 

Case Mix Programme (CMP) Yes Yes 100% 

National Diabetes Audit - Adults: National 
Pregnancy in Diabetes Audit 

Yes Yes 100% 

National Ophthalmology Audit Yes Yes 100% 

National Joint Registry (NJR) Yes Yes 100% 

Diabetes (Paediatric) (NPDA) Yes Yes 100% 

Paediatric Pneumonia Yes Yes 100% 

Neonatal Intensive and Special Care 
(NNAP) 

Yes Yes 100% 

Renal Replacement Therapy (Renal 
Registry) 

Yes Yes 100% 

National Lung Cancer Audit (NLCA) Yes Yes 100% 

Adult Asthma Yes Yes 100% 

National Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary 
Disease (COPD) Audit programme  -
Pulmonary rehabilitation 

Yes Yes Data collection ongoing 

National Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary 
Disease (COPD) Audit programme  -
Secondary Care 

Yes Yes Ongoing 

National Cardiac Arrest Audit (NCAA) Yes Yes TBC 

Sentinel Stroke National Audit Programme 
(SSNAP) 

Yes Yes 90% (August to November 2016) 

Stress Urinary Incontinence Audit Yes Yes 100% 

National Prostate Cancer Audit Yes Yes 100% 

Nephrectomy audit No N/A  

Radical Prostatectomy Audit No N/A  

Falls and Fragility Fractures Audit 
programme (FFFAP) - Fracture Liaison 
Service Database 

No N/A  

                                                           
3
 The Trust has submitted more than the predicted number of cases for this audit, hence the more 

than 100% ascertainment. 
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Audit Title 
Relevant to 

JPUH 
Services? 

Trust 
participation 

Case Ascertainment 

Percutaneous Nephrolithotomy (PCNL) No N/A  

National Vascular Registry No N/A  

Congenital Heart Disease  (CHD) - 
Paediatric (cardiac surgery) 

No N/A  

National Neurosurgical Audit Programme No N/A  

National Diabetes Audit - Adults: National 
Footcare Audit (NDFA) 

No N/A  

National Audit of Pulmonary Hypertension 
- National outcomes and tertiary care 

No N/A  

Coronary Angioplasty/National Audit of 
Percutaneous Coronary Interventions 
(PCI) 

No N/A  

Paediatric Intensive Care (PICANet) No N/A  

Congenital Heart Disease  (CHD) - Adult 
(cardiac surgery) 

No N/A  

Chronic Kidney Disease in primary care No N/A  

Cardiac Rhythm Management (CRM) No N/A  

Adult Cardiac Surgery No N/A  

UK Cystic Fibrosis Registry – Paediatrics No N/A  

Endocrine and Thyroid National Audit 
(UKRETS) 

No N/A  

Head and Neck Cancer Audit (HANA) No N/A  

UK Cystic Fibrosis Registry - Adults No N/A  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Some actions from national clinical audits: 
 

Myocardial Ischaemia National Audit Project (MINAP): 
- Blood sugar and cholesterol to be made part of acute set of bloods 
- Increased logins for Acute Cardiac Unit (ACU) nurses 

National Emergency Oxygen Audit:  
- Oxygen prescribing to be made mandatory on the E-Prescribing and Medicines Administration 

(EPMA) system  

Procedural Sedation in Adults:  
- Develop post sedation advice leaflet 

National Hip Fracture Database (NHFD):  
- Re-launch Neck of Femur Enhanced Recovery Programme (NOFERP) from Best Practice Tariff 

(BPT) group 
- Business case being developed for ward based middle grade doctor to support assessments and 

frailty programme. 
- Review potential rehabilitation pathway; liaison with out of hospital provider/ community providers 

The reports of 27 national clinical audits were reviewed by the provider in 2016/17 and 
James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the following 
actions to improve the quality of healthcare provided: 



James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 
Quality Report 2016/17 
V1 180517  Page 23 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Some actions from local clinical audits: 
 

NICE CG65/CG74/QS49 - Inadvertent 
Perioperative Hypothermia 
- Redesign pre-op checklist to include space 

for documenting time temperature recorded 
pre-operatively. 

- Reminder to staff to monitor temperature 
every 30 minutes until the end of surgery 

- Intra-operatively warm patients who are at 
risk of hypothermia – educate staff. 

- Educate staff to monitor temperature every 
15 minutes post-op recovery. 

- Educate staff and pre-assessment nurses 
regarding the need to inform patients about 
keeping warm pre-operatively. 

Pre-Birth Audit 

- Eden team (Maternity Safeguarding) to email 
a monthly 'outstanding pre-birth 
assessments' list to all community midwives 
for all women with causes for concern 

- All referrals to MASH (Multi-Agency 
Safeguarding Hub) made as early as 
possible and reviewed and sent by the Eden 
Team 

- Eden midwives to arrange and attend ALL 
discharge planning meetings.  

- Eden midwives to document discharge plan 
meeting in hospital folder and postnatal 
maternal records. 

  

NICE CG180 Door to Device Therapy in 
patients with Acute Coronary Syndrome 
(ACS) : Time Taken 
- Electrocardiogram (ECG) training for all 

involved staff. 
- Improve the awareness about time frames 

and limitations related to salvage of 
ischaemic myocardium. 

- Early flagging of patients by ambulance crew 
and triage. 

- Results of audit to be presented to local 
ambulance services and NNUH (Norfolk and 
Norwich University Hospital) cardiology team 

NICE NG18 Paediatric Diabetes Services Re-
Audit 2016 
- Implementation of a tracking system to 

ensure patients are completing the seven key 
care processes.  

- Acquisition of tablets suitable for patients and 
their parents/carers to use in the waiting 
room when filling in the survey online. 

- Ensure patients have access to advice and 
support regarding the management of 
modifiable lifestyle risk factors. 

  

NICE CG92 Compliance Audit (Hospital 
Acquired Thrombosis) 
- Patient information on venous 

thromboembolism (VTE) risk assessment 
(written and verbal) to improve. Highlighted at 
Clinical Governance and Educational forums. 

- VTE patient information leaflets made 
available in ward/clinical areas. 

- VTE prompt section now incorporated into 
the ‘Blue Book’. 

- Consider development of an electronic 
proforma to capture all VTE cases. 

- VTE risk assessment is now part of EPMA. 

NICE CG107/QS35 Hypertension in pregnancy 
- severe pre-eclampsia 
- Review Trust Guideline and define ‘severe 

hypertension’, clarify when oral anti-
hypertensives are recommended or 
contraindicated. 

- Produce a severe pre-eclampsia sticker 
- Teaching sessions for midwives and 

midwifery support workers with regard to 
importance of fluid balance in pre-eclampsia 
and how to appropriately complete chart. 

 
 

Audit of the quality of General Surgical 
weekend handover documentation 
- New weekend handover proforma created 

with all 'essential' criteria domains included 
as well as 'useful' criteria.  

- E-mail sent to doctors explaining how to 
ensure full compliance with new handover 
list. 

NICE CG60 Surgical management of otitis 
media with effusion in children 
- Improve documentation in patient notes. 
- Alter the current leaflet and contain 

information about where to find NICE 
guidance. 

  

The reports of 168 local clinical audits were reviewed by the provider in 2016/17 and 
James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the following 
actions to improve the quality of healthcare provided: 
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NICE CG103/QS63 Delirium Re-Audit  
- Improve understanding of delirium bundle 

and its indications. This should occur 
through developing the frailty service.  

- Improve education about the Confusion 
Assessment Method (CAM) and 
encourage all clerking doctors to assess 
all patients using the CAM within 24 
hours of admission. 

- Improve knowledge and understanding of 
causes of delirium and dementia and 
how to screen for reversible causes of 
confusion. 

NICE CG176 Head Injury Documentation Re-
Audit 
- Head injury including NICE guidance to be 

covered in all A&E inductions at each 
changeover of staff. 

- E-mail to all current A&E staff of audit 
findings and reminder of information they 
need to include in documentation. 

- Checklist to aid staff when assessing head 
injury. Consider placing on the Intranet along 
with NICE Head Injury computerised 
tomography (CT) criteria for easy reference. 

  

 
National Confidential Enquiries 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Title Aim 
Relevant 
to JPUH 
Services 

Trust 
participation 

Percentage 
of Cases 

Submitted 

Mental Health in 
General Hospitals 

To identify and explore remediable 
factors in the overall quality of mental 
health and physical healthcare 
provided to patients with significant 
mental health conditions who were 
admitted to a general hospital. 

Yes Yes 100% 

Acute Pancreatitis 

To identify the remediable factors in 
the quality of care provided to 
patients treated for acute 
pancreatitis. 

Yes Yes 

60% 
(5 cases 

identified, 3 
submitted) 

Acute Non 
Invasive 
Ventilation 

To identify and explore avoidable and 
remediable factors in the process of 
care for patients treated with non-
invasive ventilation. 

Yes Yes 

100% 
(n=4 submitted 

with 2 
exclusions) 

Chronic 
Neurodisability 

 To identify the remediable factors 
in the quality of care provided to 
children and young people with 
chronic disabling conditions, 
focusing in particular on cerebral 
palsies 

 To examine the interface 
between different care settings 

 To examine the transition of care 

Yes Yes 

50% 
(2 cases 

identified, 1 
submitted) 

NCEPOD – What is it? 
 
National Confidential Enquiry into Patient Outcome and Death (NCEPOD) is an 
independent charitable organisation that reviews medical and surgical clinical practice 
and makes recommendations to improve the quality of the delivery of care for the 
benefit of the public. They do this by undertaking confidential surveys and research 
covering many different aspects of care and making recommendations for clinicians 
and management to implement.  
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Title Aim 
Relevant 
to JPUH 
Services 

Trust 
participation 

Percentage 
of Cases 

Submitted 

Young People’s 
Mental Health 

 To identify the remediable factors 
in the quality of care provided to 
young people treated for mental 
health disorders; with specific 
reference to:  

- Depression and anxiety 
- Eating disorders 
- Self-harm 

 To examine the interface 
between different care settings 

 To examine the transition of 
care. 

Yes Yes 
N/A  

Study still 
open 

Cancer in 
Children, Teens 
and Young Adults 

The aims of this study are to study 
the process of care of children, 
Teens and Young Adults under the 
age of 25 years who died/ or had an 
unplanned admission to critical care 
within 30 days of receiving systemic 
anti-cancer therapy in order to:  
1. Look at the decision making and 

consent process around the 
prescription of SACT (Systemic 
Anti-Cancer Therapy) in this 
group of patients. 

2. Explore remediable factors in the 
quality of care provided to 
patients during the final line of 
therapy.  

3. Look at preventable causes of 
treatment-related mortality in 
young people’s cancers. 

4. Look at the configuration of the 
service and organizational 
structures in place for the safe 
delivery of SACT to children, 
teenagers and young adults. 

Yes Yes 
N/A  

Study still 
open 

 
 
 
Participation in Clinical Research 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
* 

Figures based on projected final recruitment as confirmed figures will not be available until mid-May. 
  

The number of patients receiving relevant health services provided or sub-contracted by 
James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust in 2016/17 that were recruited 
during that period to participate in research approved by a research ethics committee: 

590* 
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Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) Framework 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Care Quality Commission (CQC)4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

                                                           
4
 For details of the Trust’s most recent inspection and results see page 68 

CQUIN – What is it? 
 
CQUIN means Commissioning for Quality and Innovation. This is a system introduced 
in 2009 to make a proportion of healthcare providers’ income conditional on 
demonstrating improvements in quality and innovation in specified areas of care.  This 
means that a proportion of our income depends on achieving quality improvement and 
innovation goals agreed between the Trust and its commissioners. 

A proportion of James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust’s income in 
2016/17 was conditional on achieving quality improvement and innovation goals agreed 
between James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust and any person or 
body they entered into a contract, agreement or arrangement with for the provision of 
relevant health services, through the Commissioning for Quality and Innovation payment 
framework. 
 
Further details of the agreed goals for 2016/17 and for the following 12-month period are 
available electronically at: https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/03/cquin-
guidance-16-17-v3.pdf 

 
The amount of income in 2016/17 conditional upon achieving quality improvement and 
innovation goals is: £3,498,299 
 

The amount of income received for the associated payment in 2015/16 was: £2,753,120 

CQC – What is it? 
 
The CQC are the independent regulator of health and social care in England. 
 
They make sure health and social care services provide people with safe, effective, 
compassionate, high-quality care and encourage care services to improve. 
 
They monitor, inspect and regulate services to make sure they meet fundamental 
standards of quality and safety and publish what they find, including performance 
ratings to help people choose care. 

James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust is required to register with the 
Care Quality Commission and its current registration status is with no conditions attached 
to registration. 
 
The Care Quality Commission has not taken enforcement action against James Paget 
University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust during 2016/17. 

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/03/cquin-guidance-16-17-v3.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/03/cquin-guidance-16-17-v3.pdf
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CQC Special Review 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) inspection 

 

From 12th December to 16th December 2016, Ofsted and the Care Quality Commission 
(CQC) conducted a joint inspection of the local area of Suffolk to judge the effectiveness of 
the area in implementing the disability and special educational needs reforms as set out in 
the Children and Families Act 2014.  
 
 
 
 
 
The Trust will work in collaboration with the CCG to address actions identified. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Not applicable. 
 
Themed review of end of life care 

 
This review was carried out in 2015/16 as reported within our Quality Report 2015/16 (page 
26 http://www.jpaget.nhs.uk/media/324473/Quality-Report-2015-16.pdf).  We could not 
report on actions within the 2015/16 Quality Report as the outcome of the review was not 
published until May 2016.  Please find below actions: 
 
 Published an End of Life Care Strategy  
 Completed the baseline assessment against the NICE Guidance (NG31 Care of the 

dying, adults in the last days of life) meeting 69 of the 72 standards in the NICE guidance 
assessment and so scored 96% 

 Completed the roll out and training for use of the Plan of Care for the last days of life 
 Improved on the results in the National Care of the Dying Audit 2015 
 Appointed a non-executive director as Board of Directors-level lead 
 Appointed medical and nursing leads who are responsible for day to day design and 

monitoring of the systems which deliver safe and quality care to people who require 
support because they are nearing the end of their lives 

 Strengthening our monitoring by ensuring that audits are undertaken against the 
standards required. 

 Implemented new documentation, supported by education across the Trust 
 The medical lead for end of life care and palliative care educator have provided training 

and education to medical and nursing staff using a mixed approach including training 
sessions, grand round and communications 

 Ensured that clinically assisted hydration is highlighted through the last days of life 
documentation with clear instructions to staff on introduction, communication, 
involvement of carers and regular reassessment 

James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust has participated in special 
reviews or investigations by the Care Quality Commission relating to the following areas 
during 2016/17: 

 Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) 

The James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the 
following action to address the conclusions or requirements reported by the CQC: 

The James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust has made the following 
progress by 31st March 2017 in taking such action: 

http://www.jpaget.nhs.uk/media/324473/Quality-Report-2015-16.pdf
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 Ensured that we have clear arrangements for anticipatory medicines prescribing is 
supported by documentation available through the intranet within the JPUH.  

 
Progress to plan is regularly monitored by the End of Life Care Strategic Group which 
reports to the Carer and Patient Experience Committee. 
 
 
 
Secondary Uses Service 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Secondary Uses Service – What is it? 
 
The Secondary Uses Service is designed to provide anonymous patient-based data for 
purposes other than direct clinical care such as healthcare planning, commissioning, 
public health, clinical audit and governance, benchmarking, performance improvement, 
medical research and national policy development. 

James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust submitted records during 
2016/17 to the Secondary Uses Service for inclusion in the Hospital Episode Statistics 
which are included in the latest published data. 
 
The percentage of records in the published data: 

 which included the patient’s valid NHS number was: 
- 99.8% for admitted patient care 
- 99.8% for outpatient care and 
- 99.2% for accident and emergency care 

 which included the patient’s valid General Medical Practice Code was: 
- 100% for admitted patient care 
- 100% for outpatient care and 

- 99.0% for accident and emergency care. 
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Information Governance Assessment Report 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The table below shows 2016/17 results against previous years: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Payment by Results 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Year 
2015 Result 

(IGT version 12) 
2016 Result 

(IGT version 13) 
2017 Result 

(IGT version 14) 

Overall 
Result 

70%  
(Satisfactory) 

(45 out of 45 answered) 

77% 
(Satisfactory) 

(45 out of 45 answered) 

80% 
(Satisfactory) 

(45 out of 45 answered) 

Information Governance – What is it? 
 
Information Governance (IG) is the way in which the NHS handles all information and 
in particular the personal and sensitive information of patients and staff. 
 
Following strict IG guidelines enables the Trust to ensure that personal information is 
dealt with legally, securely, efficiently and effectively, in order to deliver the best 
possible care to our patients. 

James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust’s Information Governance 

Assessment Report overall score for 2016/17 was 80% and was graded GREEN. 

Payment by Results – What is it? 
 
Payment by Results (PbR) is the rules-based payment system in England under which 
commissioners pay healthcare providers for each patient seen or treated, taking into 
account the complexity of the patient’s healthcare needs.  
 
PbR currently covers the majority of acute healthcare in hospitals, with national tariffs 
for admitted patient care, outpatient attendances, accident and emergency (A&E), and 
some outpatient procedures. 

James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust was not subject to the Payment 
by Results clinical coding audit during 2016/17 by the Audit Commission. 
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Data Quality 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
In line with version 14 of the IG Toolkit, Trust monitors its attainment level for the 
completeness and validity check for data submitted to the Secondary Uses Service (SUS), 
further detail is available by following this link 
https://www.igt.hscic.gov.uk/KnowledgeBaseNew/DH_NHS%20IG%20-
%20Data%20Output%20Quality%20Standards_0.3.pdf 
 
The areas covered in the assessment are admitted patient care, outpatients and waiting 
lists. Admitted patient care and outpatients are currently submitted to SUS but waiting lists 
are not submitted via SUS but are delivered to our Commissioners via email. 
 
Each area is given an Attainment Level and these are scored between 0 (lowest) and 3 
(highest). 
 
 
Admitted patient care 
 

Score 396/420 

Average Score 9.08/10 

Attainment Level 3 

 
Areas not scoring full marks: 

 Ethnic category 

 Primary diagnosis (ICD10) 

 Primary procedure date 

 Healthcare Resource Group (HRG) codes 
 
 
Outpatients 
 

Score 294/310 

Average Score 9.47/10 

Attainment Level 3 

 
Areas not scoring full marks are: 

 Attended or Did Not Attend 

 Outcome or Attendance 

 Consultant Code 
 
Waiting lists 
 

Score 200/210 

Average Score 9.23/10 

Attainment Level 3 

 

James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust will be taking the following 
action to improve data quality: 

https://www.igt.hscic.gov.uk/KnowledgeBaseNew/DH_NHS%20IG%20-%20Data%20Output%20Quality%20Standards_0.3.pdf
https://www.igt.hscic.gov.uk/KnowledgeBaseNew/DH_NHS%20IG%20-%20Data%20Output%20Quality%20Standards_0.3.pdf
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Areas not scoring full marks are: 

 Intended procedure 
 
The Trust has an attainment score of three for all categories which, overall, shows that our 
data quality is good.  One area for improvement is around recording Ethnic category and this 
has been escalated to the Divisions through the Information Governance Action Group 
(IGAG).  A list of areas has been circulated with an action to improve recording and following 
of the Patient Reception Policy. 
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2.3 Reporting against core indicators 
 
Summary hospital-level mortality indicator (SHMI) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
JPUH 

2014/15 
JPUH 

2015/16 

JPUH 
2016/17 

National 
Average 
2016/17 

Highest 
SHMI for 

Foundation 
Trusts 

Lowest 
SHMI for 

Foundation 
Trusts 

(a) Value and (banding) of the 
SHMI for the Trust 

111.84% 
(higher than 
expected) 

107.96% 
(as 

expected) 
111.66%

5
 100% 115.97% 73.83% 

(b) % of patient deaths with 
palliative care coded at either 
diagnosis or specialty level 

25.62% 24.05% 22.93% 29.71% 48.56% 14.74% 

 
 
 
 
 

 Data is taken from Dr Foster Intelligence which uses Secondary Users Service (SUS) 
Hospital Episode Statistics (HES) data which is audited on an annual basis by external 
auditors. 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 Mortality reviews are ongoing and further actions will be taken in line with our 2017/18 
Quality Priority Mortality, see page 6. 

 
  

                                                           
5
 2016/17 only related to September 2016 due to timing of this report and timing of when data is 

published 

Summary hospital-level – What is it? 
 
The SHMI shows whether the number of deaths linked to a particular hospital is more 
or less than expected, and whether that difference is statistically significant.  It covers 
all English acute non-specialist providers.   
 
The dataset used to calculate the SHMI includes all deaths in hospital, plus those 
deaths occurring within 30 days after discharge from hospital. The expected number 
of deaths is calculated from a risk-adjustment model developed for each diagnosis 
grouping that accounts for age, gender, admission method and comorbidity (any other 
illnesses or conditions). 
 
The lower the SHMI figure, the better the outcome for patients 

James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as 
described for the following reasons: 

James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust has taken the following actions 
to improve these percentages, and so the quality of its services, by: 
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Patient reported outcome measures (PROMs) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PROMs participation rates 
 
 

 
JPUH 2014/15 JPUH 2015/16 JPUH 2016/17

6
 

Provisional 2016 
participation 
(England) 

Groin hernia surgery 54.1% 39.3% 28.10% 56.60% 

Varicose vein surgery 59.0% 34.6% N/A 33.80% 

Hip replacement surgery 70.5% 63.4% 46.20% 87.40% 

Knee replacement surgery 76.0% 57.8% 63.70% 96.40% 

All procedures 65.6% 52.9% 42.30% 76.20% 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Scores are voluntary and it is recognised that it is difficult to influence patients’ 
participation 

  

                                                           
6
 April to June 2016 as this is the latest data available 

PROMs – What is it? 
 
Patient Reported Outcome Measures (PROMs) assess the quality of care delivered 
to NHS patients from the patient perspective. Currently covering four clinical 
procedures, PROMs calculate the health gains after surgical treatment using pre- 
and post-operative surveys. 
 
The four procedures are  

i. groin hernia surgery 
ii. varicose vein surgery  
iii. hip replacement surgery 
iv. knee replacement surgery  

 
PROMs measure a patient's health status or health-related quality of life at a single 
point in time, and are collected through short, self-completed questionnaires. This 
health status information is collected from patients through PROMs questionnaires 
before and after a procedure and provides an indication of the outcomes or quality 
of care delivered to NHS patients. 

James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as 
described for the following reasons: 
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 Senior Nurse for pre-operative assessment currently undertaking a review of the PROMs 
process to ensure all eligible patients are offered a questionnaire  

 Further education and training offered by PROMs Manager to support staff in increasing 
PROMs response rates 

 Bi-monthly detailed PROMs update reports are being provided to the Carer and Patient 
Experience Committee (CAPE) 

 Estimated PROMs participation rates being distributed on a monthly basis by PROMs 
Manager 

 
 
 
Hospital re-admissions 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
JPUH 

2014/15 
JPUH 

2015/16 
JPUH 

2016/17 

National 
Average 
2016/17 

Highest score 
for Foundation 

Trusts 

Lowest score 
for Foundation 

Trusts 

Patients aged  
0-15 years 

11.01% 10.20% 6.40% 7.80% 11.54% 3.38% 

Patients aged  
16 or over 

12.96% 12.78% 8.43% 10.85% 14.92% 8.43% 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Data is taken from Dr Foster Intelligence which uses Secondary Uses Service/Hospital 
Episode Statistics data which is audited on an annual basis by external auditors  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Continuing to work with our local commissioners to ensure readmissions are kept to a 
minimum. 

 
  

James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust has taken/intends to take the 
following actions to improve these percentages, and so the quality of its services, by: 

Hospital re-admissions – What is it? 
 
Includes patients readmitted to a hospital within 28 days of discharge from that same 
hospital or from a hospital which forms part of the same Trust. 

James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust has taken the following actions 
to improve these percentages, and so the quality of its services, by: 

James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as 
described for the following reasons: 
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Responsiveness to the personal needs of patients 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

JPUH 
2014/15 

JPUH 
2015/16 

JPUH 
2016/17 

England score 
2015/16 

77.2 78.3 
Data not due to be 

published until August 
77.3 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 This indicator is based on questions from the National Inpatient Survey and patients 
have scored the Trust highly on the five aspects taken as part of this indicator. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Actions to improve scores will be determined and addressed in line with the 2017/18 
Quality Priority National Surveys, see page 14. 

 
  

What is the standard? 
 
This indicator is based on data from the National Inpatient Survey and forms part of 
the NHS Outcomes Framework (Domain 4) ‘Ensuring People Have a Positive 
Experience of Care’ 
 
The indicator is based on questions from the inpatient survey under the domains: 

 Access and waiting 

 Safe, high quality, coordinated care 

 Better information, more choice 

 Building closer relationships 

 Clean, comfortable, friendly place to be 
 
The scores are out of 100. A higher score indicates better performance: if patients 
reported all aspects of their care as "very good" we would expect a score of about 
80, a score around 60 indicates "good" patient experience. The score is the average 
of the domain scores. 

James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as 
described for the following reasons: 

James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust intend to take the following 
actions to improve these percentages, and so the quality of its services, by: 
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Venous thromboembolism (VTE) risk assessment 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

What is the standard required? 
 

Percentage of all adult inpatients who have had a VTE risk assessment on admission to 
hospital using the clinical criteria of the national tool.  The final indicator value for this is 97%. 
 

Month Trust Target 2016/17 Variation 

April 2016 97% 99.86% +2.89% 

May 2016 97% 98.71% +1.71% 

June 2016 97% 98.78% +1.78% 

July 2016 97% 98.99% +1.99% 

August 2016 97% 98.69% +1.69% 

September 2016 97% 98.96% +1.96% 

October 2016 97% 98.43% +1.43% 

November 2016 97% 98.61% +1.61% 

December 2016 97% 98.75% +1.25% 

January 2017 97% 98.79% +1.79% 

February 2017 97% 98.54% +1.54% 

March 2017 97% 97.69% +0.69% 

 
 
 
 
 

 The process for capturing the VTE risk assessment data has changed in-year from a 
paper-based system to being entered electronically using the E-Prescribing and 
Medicines Administration (EPMA) system 

 
 
 
 
 

 The Trust will continue to ensure the correct process is followed throughout the week 

 The Trust will endeavour to improve these percentages as the system becomes 
embedded 

Venous thromboembolism – What is it? 
 

A clot within a blood vessel is called a thrombus and the process by which it forms is known 
as thrombosis. It can be damaging as it might block the flow of blood.  Also, part of the clot 
might break away and block a blood vessel further along, cutting off the blood supply to 
important organs. 
 

Deep vein thrombosis (DVT) is the formation of a blood clot in one of the deep veins within 
the body, such as in the leg or pelvis. This kind of thrombosis can occur after surgery and 
may cause redness, pain and swelling. 
 

Pulmonary embolism (PE) is a serious condition in which the arteries leading from the heart to 
the lungs become blocked. It can occur when a blood clot breaks away from its original 
location and travels to the lungs. Symptoms may include sharp chest pain, shortness of 
breath and coughing up blood. 
 

The process by which blood clots occur and travel through the veins is known as venous 
thromboembolism (VTE), the collective term for DVT and PE. 

James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as 
described for the following reasons: 

James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust has taken the following actions 
to improve these percentages, and so the quality of its services, by: 
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Clostridium difficile (C.difficile) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
JPUH 

2014/15 
JPUH 

2015/16 
JPUH 

2016/17 

National 
Average 
2015/16

7
 

Highest score 
for Foundation 

Trusts 

Lowest score 
for Foundation 

Trusts 

Rate per 100,000 bed 
days C.diff infection 

14.5 20.2 14.98 40.8 111.1 0.0 

Number of cases of 
C.diff infection 

22 29 19 92 224 0 

 
 
 
 
 

 Continuing strong focus on prevention as well as control 

 Symptomatic carriers are isolated so the Trust is proactive in controlling the risk. 
 
 
 
 
 

 Encouraging prudent use of antibiotics through: 
- Antibiotic policies 
- Encouraging the use of narrow-spectrum antibiotics 
- Limiting the duration of usage of antibiotics 
- Encouraging intravenous to oral switch 

 

The ceiling for C.difficile hospital attributable cases for 2016/17 was 17.  There have been 19 
C.difficile cases in total since 1st April 2016.  Of these: 

 Nine cases have been successfully appealed,  

 Nine were considered trajectory and  

 One case remains outstanding for review.   

                                                           
7
 2016/17 data not due for release until July 2017 

C.difficile – What is it? 
 
C.difficile is a type of bacteria (germ) that can cause infection of the digestive system 
resulting in diarrhoea.  C.difficile infections are usually caused by antibiotics; hence the 
majority of cases happen in a healthcare environment, such as a hospital or care 
home.  Older people are most at risk from infection - people aged over 65 account for 
three quarters of all cases.  In recent years, the number of C.difficile infections has 
fallen rapidly. There were 14,139 reported cases in England during 2015/16 compared 
to 55,498 in 2007/08. 

What is the standard? 
 
This measure shows the rate per 100,000 bed days of cases of C.difficile infection that 
have occurred within the Trust amongst patients aged two years or over during the 
reporting period. 
 
The lower the figure, the lower the number of C.difficile cases. 

James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as 
described for the following reasons: 

James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust has taken the following actions 
to improve these percentages, and so the quality of its services, by: 
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For 2016/17 there have been nine reportable cases against the trajectory of 17 with one 
awaiting appeal 
 

NHS England has published the C.difficile infection (CDI) objectives for NHS organisations 
for 2017/18.  The objectives in terms of rate and actual number of cases have been 
calculated based upon previous performance.  
 

This Trust’s objective for 2017/18 remains unchanged from 2016/17 at 17 cases. 
 
Patient Safety Incidents 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
JPUH 

2014/15 
JPUH 

2015/16 
JPUH 

2016/17 

Highest score for 
Acute (non-

specialist) trusts 
(Apr 16 to Sep 16)

8
 

Lowest score for 
Acute (non-

specialist) trusts 
(Apr 16 to Sep 16) 

Number of patient safety 
incidents 

5027 4674 4558 
13485 1485 

JPUH (Apr 16 to Sep 16) 2308 

Rate per 1000 bed days  33.1 32.2 35.0 
71.81 21.15 

JPUH (Apr 16 to Sep 16) 34.96 

Percentage of incidents 
resulting in Major Harm 

0.3% 
(n=14) 

0.2% 
(n=7) 

0.3% 
(n=12) 

1.4% (n=75) 0.0% (n=0) 

JPUH (Apr 16 to Sep 16) 0.3% (n=7) 

Percentage of incidents 
resulting in Death 

0.1% 
(n=4) 

0% 
(n=0) 

0.04% 
(n=2) 

0.5% (n=36) 0.0% (n=0) 

JPUH (Apr 16 to Sep 16) 0.04% (n=1) 

                                                           
8
 This date range has been selected as this is the most current data available from the National Reporting and 

Learning Service.   

Patient Safety Incident – What is it? 
 
A Patient Safety Incident (PSI) is any untoward incident that happens involving a patient 
whilst they are on Trust premises or in Trust care e.g. a patient fall. 

Harm definitions 
 
The Trust uses the nationally recognised definitions of harm as described by the 
National Patient Safety Agency (NPSA) 
 

No Harm - An incident has occurred but with no harm as a result 

Minor Harm - Minor injury or illness requiring minor intervention (treatment) 

Moderate 
Harm 

- Moderate injury requiring professional intervention 

- Increase in length of hospital stay by 4–15 days 

Major Harm - Major injury leading to long-term incapacity or disability 

- Increase in length of hospital stay by more than 15 days 

- Mismanagement of patient care with long term effects 

Death - Incident leading to death 
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Patient Safety Incidents 2014/15 to 2016/17 
 

 
 

 Incident reporting as a whole has increased by 1% in 2016/17 compared to 2015/16 (a 
1% increase was also seen in 15/16 compared to 14/15). 

 

 We have maintained our good position on reporting PSIs to the National Patient Safety 
Agency within this period.  We sit among the middle 50% of reporters among our peer 
group (acute (non-specialist) trusts).  Organisations that report more incidents usually 
have a better and more effective safety culture.  You cannot learn and improve if you 
don’t know what the problems are. 

 
The NPSA say: ‘We encourage high reporting. Scrupulous reporting and analysis of safety 
related incidents, particularly incidents resulting in no or low harm, provides an opportunity to 
reduce the risk of future incidents. Research shows that organisations which report more 
usually have a stronger learning culture where patient safety is a high priority. Through high 
reporting the whole of the NHS can learn from the experiences of individual organisations’. 
 
 

 Monthly monitoring of what has or, more importantly, has not been submitted as a PSI 
  

James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as 
described for the following reasons: 
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 Incident reporting rates are discussed at Divisional governance meetings and at the 
Patient Safety and Effectiveness Committee.   
 

 Incident reporting and learning is discussed at Divisional governance meetings monthly 
with trends and themes analysed and cascaded to wider teams.   
 

 Continuing to increase awareness around categorising harm when reporting incidents. 
 

 Uploads to the National Reporting and Learning Service (NRLS) and quality checking of 
Patient Safety Incidents will continue.  Uploads to the NRLS are carried out at least 
weekly. 

 

 All data is provided by bed days/number of contacts for Divisions to provide context 
when analysing incident data. 

 
 
Friends and Family Test - Patient 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Trust Score 
March 20179 

Trust 
response 

rate 
March 
2017 

NHS England Score 
February 201710 

NHS 
England 
response 

rate 
February 

2017 
Area 

% 
recommended 

% not 
recommended 

% 
recommended 

% not 
recommended 

A&E 94% 3% 4.69% 87% 7% 12.7% 

Inpatients 98% 1% 24.44% 96% 1% 25.1% 

Maternity 
(combined) 

97.5% 0% 15.12% 96% 1% 23.1% 

Outpatients 96% 1% 15.65% 93% 3% N/A 

Trust 
Summary 

97% 1% 15.61%    

                                                           
9
 Benchmarked data is no longer available based on the FFT Score as this is a redundant measure 

but data is released nationally based on the percentage of respondents who recommend our Trust 
and those who do not recommend our Trust, as shown in the table. 
10

 March data due for release early May 

James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust has taken the following actions 
to improve these percentages, and so the quality of its services, by: 

Friends and Family Test – What is it? 
 
The Friends and Family Test (FFT) is a single question survey which asks patients 
whether they would recommend the NHS service they have received to friends and 
family who need similar treatment or care. 
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TBC 
 

 FFT data capture continues as part of the Standard NHS contract.  From April 2015, 
reporting was adjusted to incorporate FFT data for outpatients, day cases and children 
and young people in line with national guidance. 

 The Trust has agreed its own internal response targets of 40% for inpatient areas and a 
target of 20% for outpatient areas and A&E via discussions at the Carer and Patient 
Experience Committee (CAPE). The response percentage is estimated based on the 
previous year’s activity data. 

 
 
 
 
 

 The Patient Experience Team, including the Volunteers who support the FFT data 
collection have focused on providing additional support to the Divisional teams, exploring 
ways to enhance response rates.   

 Meetings with department managers have taken place and actions agreed to promote 
the FFT and enhance responses, both of which are developing working practices; 
access to support and evidencing improved response rates.   

 The team aim to explore further how the A&E department can be better supported to 
collect responses. 

 
 
 
Friends and family Test - Staff 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 JPUH 
2014/15

11
 

JPUH 
2015/16 

JPUH 
2016/17

12
 

England 
2016/17 

Highest score for 
Foundation Trusts 

Lowest score for 
Foundation Trusts 

Care 83% 78% 82% 80% 100% 44% 

Work 71% 68% 70% 64% 100% 30% 

                                                           
11

 Quarter 4 only – cumulative data not available 
12

 Quarters one and two 2016/17 – full year data to be released June 2017 

What is the standard? 
 
From April 2014 the Staff FFT was introduced to allow staff feedback on NHS Services 
based on recent experience. Staff are asked to respond to two questions. The ‘Care’ 
question asks how likely staff are to recommend the NHS services they work in to 
friends and family who need similar treatment or care. The ‘Work’ question asks how 
likely staff would be to recommend the NHS service they work in to friends and family 
as a place to work. Staff FFT is conducted on a quarterly basis (excluding Quarter 3 
when the existing NHS Staff Survey takes place). 

James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as 
described for the following reasons: 

James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust has taken the following actions 
to improve these percentages, and so the quality of its services, by: 
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TBC 
 
The Trust is working with partner organisations towards developing new roles, career 
pathways and our people to provide services that meet the needs of our community and to 
give our patients the very best care through having a workforce that is responsive and 
adaptable.   
 
 
 
 
 

 Following the National Staff Survey results the Trust has produced an action plan to help 
support and engage its staff. 

 

 The Trust has an active action plan for health and wellbeing which again helps/supports 
staff within the Trust. 

 

 The Trust is planning to set up focus groups to review communications between senior 
and line managers/staff, including how we deal with feedback. 

 
NHS Staff Survey – Key Finding 2113 
 

 

2015/ 2016 

Trust improvement/ 
deterioration 

JPUH JPUH 
Benchmarking 

group (trust 
type) average 

KF21 Percentage of staff believing 
that the organisation provides equal 
opportunities for career progression 
or promotion

14
 

88% 92% 87% 
4%  

improvement 
Higher score = better 

 
NHS Staff Survey – Key Finding 26 
 

 

2015/ 2016 

Trust improvement/ 
deterioration 

JPUH JPUH 
Benchmarking 

group (trust 
type) average 

KF26 percentage of staff 
experiencing harassment, bullying 
or abuse from staff in the last 12 
months 

23% 26% 25% 
3% 

deterioration 
Lower score = better 

 
  

                                                           
13

 For results and actions arising from the NHS Staff Survey, please refer to the Trust Annual Report 
and Accounts 2016/17 
14

 For the Workforce Race Equality Standard https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/gov/equality-
hub/equality-standard/ 

James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as 
described for the following reasons: 

James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust has taken the following actions 
to improve these percentages, and so the quality of its services, by: 

https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/gov/equality-hub/equality-standard/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/gov/equality-hub/equality-standard/
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Part 3 
Review of Quality 2016/17 
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This section details how we have done against the targets we set for 2016/17 in our 2015/16 Quality Report.  Where 
relevant we have included what we said within the 2015/16 Quality Report as an easy reference for the data included.  
Where possible we have included historical performance and where available we have included national benchmarks. 

This section includes other information relevant to the quality of services we have provided over 2016/17 

This section shows how we have done when external inspectors/regulators have visited the Trust.  The details include 
remedial action that has been identified following these visits/inspections. 

This section shows our performance against the relevant indicators and thresholds set out in NHS Improvement’s 
Risk Assessment Framework 
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Summary of Achievement of Quality Priorities 2016/17 
 

1. Patient Safety 

a 

To embed the root cause analysis (RCA) 
process and learning from incidences of 
hospital-associated venous thromboembolism 
(HAT). 

Achieved 

b 

To develop a means of proactive data analysis 
(heat maps) as an early warning system to allow 
the Trust to detect areas of Quality that may 
need action before an incident, complaint or 
claim etc. occur. 

Achieved 

c 

Address the ‘Requirement Notices’ issued 
following the  Care Quality Commission (CQC) 
inspection in August 2015 

- Do not attempt cardiopulmonary 
resuscitation orders (DNACPR) 

- Equipment checks 

Achieved 

 

2. Clinical Effectiveness 

a 

Deliver and embed the second year’s objectives 
for the 7 day services project (4 out of 10 
priorities required to be implemented by end 
2017) 

Clinical Standard 2 – Achieved 

Clinical Standard 4 – Achieved 

Clinical Standard 5 – Partially achieved 

Clinical Standard 8 – Partially achieved 

b 
Conduct gap analysis with clinical specialties to 
determine Trust position on NICE Quality 
Standards 

Achieved 

c 

To develop a Trust action plan in response to 
the NHS England publication: Improving 
outcomes for patients with sepsis A cross-
system action plan, December 2015 

Achieved 

 

3. Patient and Staff Experience 

a 
Update basic Trust signage, particularly in main 
areas to reflect the nationality of major users of 
the Trust e.g. Portuguese 

Achieved 

b 
Implement all actions from the NHS England 
publication: Accessible Information Standard: 
Implementation Plan, July 2015 

Partially achieved 

c 

To participate in a research opportunity to 
understand how frontline staff use patient 
experience data for service improvement.  This 
is an exploratory case study evaluation and 
national survey 

Achieved 
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Patient Safety 
 
a) To embed the root cause analysis (RCA) process and learning from 

incidences of hospital-associated venous thromboembolism 

 
Progress has been made throughout the year and robust investigation and escalation 
processes are now in place and working well: 
 

 Root Cause Analysis (RCA)/Audit template has been developed in line with National 
Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) guidance and ratified by the Hospital 
Thrombosis Committee 

 A Trust thrombosis lead has been identified and is in post 

 An audit of all hospital acquired thrombosis for 2015 has been undertaken and 
learning events held throughout 2016/17. 

 A real-time process is now in place 
 
The graph below shows the number of reported hospital associated thrombosis (HAT) for 
2014/15 to 2016/17.  The large increase from 2014/15 to 2015/16 is not an increase in the 
number of occurrences but shows the improvement in the reporting processes. 
 
Hospital Associated Thrombosis 2014/15 to 2016/17 
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b) To develop a means of proactive data analysis (heat maps) as an early 
warning system to allow the Trust to detect areas of Quality that may 
need action before an incident, complaint or claim etc. occur 

 
Work has been on-going between the Information Services, Corporate Nursing and Risk and 
Governance Teams to develop a tool. Nursing Dashboards have been developed at the 
ward level which have been used to provide the first Trust-wide heat maps.  
 
The heat maps are constructed by assigning a number for the indicators within the Nursing 
Dashboard.  Performance is measured against 25 indicators, currently, to give a total score 
out of 25. Some indicators where the target is for zero cases (e.g. methicillin resistant 
Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA), C.Diff, falls) a score of one is applied if achieved or zero if 
not achieved.  The score for each indicator is calculated to give an overall percentage 
achievement of the 25 indicators and the red/amber/green (RAG) status is based on the 
overall score. 
 
As the heat maps embed into our processes, we would look to add wider information to 
make them more comprehensive. These will be used at ward, specialty, divisional and Trust 
level to identify areas for early intervention. 
 
c) Address the Requirement Notices issued following the Care Quality 

Commission (CQC) inspection in August 2015 

 
CQC ratings tables (published December 2016) 
 
Overview 
 

Overall 
 
Good 

Safe Requires improvement 

Effective Good 

Caring Good 

Responsive Good 

Well-led Good 

 
Ratings of specific services 
 

Overall rating for this hospital Good  

Medical care (including older people’s care) Good  

Urgent and emergency services (A&E) Good  

Surgery Good  

Intensive/critical care Good  

Maternity and gynaecology Good  

Services for children and young people Good  

End of life care Good  

Outpatients Good  
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The CQC carried out a full inspection in 2015, which resulted in the hospital receiving an 
overall rating of GOOD, with staff praised as being “exceptionally caring” and going “the 
extra mile for patients”.  There were two Requirement Notices issued. 
 
The Trust underwent a follow-up inspection on 16th and 17th August 2016 where the Trust 
maintained its overall rating of GOOD.  Both Requirement Notices were confirmed as being 
addressed.  The improvement includes the core services that were previously stated as 
‘required improvement’: End of life care and Surgery – now being rated as GOOD. 
 
The Trust is now rated as OUTSTANDING for quality of care offered to patients reaching the 
end of their lives (new rating from this inspection) and for leadership of our urgent and 
emergency services (maintained from previous inspection).   
 
In line with the recommendations from the CQC, we have made improvements to checking 
of equipment; opened the new children’s outpatient department ‘The Cove’; opened an 
emergency theatre; and developed a new end of life care strategy as well as a new care 
pathway for older people. 
 
There were some areas identified where the Trust can make improvements and these will be 
addressed through 2017/18: 

 Reviewing registered nurse staffing across the emergency and medical divisions to 
ensure sufficient number are on duty 

 Ensuring all staff have the appropriate up-to-date paediatric and/or neonatal life-
support training 

 Reviewing infection control arrangements within the children and young people’s 
service to ensure effective hand hygiene and equipment cleaning  
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Clinical Effectiveness 
 
a) Deliver and embed the second year’s objectives for the 7 day services 

project (4 out of 10 priorities required to be implemented by end 2017) 

 
The NHS Mandate, issued in March 2017, is to deliver the four priority standards for five key 
areas by November 2017:  vascular, stroke, major trauma, heart attack and paediatric 
intensive care and for 50% of the population to be benefitting from these four priority 
standards by April 2018. 
 
Each Standard is assigned to a Transformation Board for 2017/18 and NHS Improvement 
videos of best practice have been shared. 
 
Clinical Standard 5 – Access to diagnostics seven days of the week 

 
Standard 5 Diagnostics 

Hospital inpatients must have scheduled seven-day access to diagnostic services such as x-
ray, ultrasound, computerised tomography (CT), magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), 
echocardiography, endoscopy, bronchoscopy and pathology. Consultant-directed diagnostic 
tests and their reporting will be available seven days a week:  

 within 1 hour for critical patients;  

 within 12 hours for urgent patients; and  

 within 24 hours for non-urgent patients 
 

Measure Latest data Benchmark 

Number and proportion of 
responses for access to 
diagnostics on weekdays and 
weekends when there is an 
IMMEDIATE clinical need.   

Results indicate on a weekday, 
these tests are usually or 
always available. 
 
Weekend results response, 
evidence low percentage of 
usually/ always within Echo, 
Histopathology, MRI, Ultrasound 

Weekday 
All services except 
Histopathology and 
Microbiology scored at or above 
Regional and National Mean for 
weekdays. 
 
Weekend 
Echo and MRI scored below the 
regional and national mean.  
 
Echo 
Our Score 12%  
Regional mean 32% 
National mean 36% 
 
MRI  
Our Score 23% 
Regional mean 32% 
National mean 38% 
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Measure Latest data Benchmark 

Number and proportion of 
responses for access to 
diagnostics on weekdays and 
weekends when there is an 
URGENT clinical need.    

The results indicate on a 
weekday, these tests are 
usually or always available. 
 
Weekend results response, 
evidence low percentage of 
usually/always within Echo, 
Histopathology, MRI, Ultrasound 

Weekday 
All services scored at on or 
above Regional and National 
Mean for weekdays. 
 
Weekend 
Echo  MRI and Microbiology  
scored below national and 
regional mean  
 
Echo 
Our Score 20% 
Regional mean 35% 
National mean 35% 
 
MRI  
Our Score 23% 
Regional mean 38% 
National mean 40% 
 
Microbiology 
Our Score 82% 
Regional mean 88% 
National mean 89% 

 
Areas achieved: 

 Biochemistry 

 Chemical pathology 

 Computerised tomography (CT) 

 Haematology 

 Histopathology 

 Microbiology 

 Radiology 

 Lower and upper gastrointestinal (GI) endoscopy 

 Ultrasound 

 X-ray 
 
Clinical Standard 8 – Ongoing consultant review 

 
All patients within high dependency areas must be seen and reviewed by a consultant twice 
daily, including all acutely ill patients directly transferred, or others who deteriorate. To 
maximise continuity of care consultants should be working multiple day blocks.  
 
Once transferred from the acute area of the hospital to a general ward patients should be 
reviewed during a consultant-delivered ward round at least once every 24 hours, seven days 
a week, unless it has been determined that this would not affect the patient’s care pathway. 
 
Standard 8 allows for exceptions to the 24 hour reviews if there is clear documentation to 
support the rationale.  Currently consultant ward rounds occur twice a week on average and 
daily within some specialties.  A registrar reviews patients daily and escalates any concerns 
to their consultant for review as required. 
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 Measure Latest data Benchmark 

Twice daily Consultant 
reviews  

All patients on Acute 
Medical Unit, Acute 
Surgical Assessment 
Unit and Intensive 
Therapy Unit and other 
high dependency areas 
are seen and reviewed 
by a consultant twice 
daily. 

Overall proportion of 
patients who required a 
twice daily consultant 
review, and was 
reviewed twice by a 
consultant was 95%, 
this meets the 90% 
standard threshold 

Weekday 
Our score 97% 
Regional mean 85% 
National mean 90% 
 
Weekend 
Our score 90% 
Regional mean 85%  
National mean 83% 

Once daily Consultant 
reviews 7 days of the 
week.   

Once daily reviews 
required and received. 

Overall proportion of 
patients who required a 
once daily consultant 
review, who received a 
once daily review was 
89% this does not 
meet the 90% standard 
threshold. 

Weekday 
Our score 98% 
National mean 90% 
 
Weekend 
Our score 67% 
Regional mean 82%  
National mean 82% 

 
b) Conduct gap analysis with clinical specialties to determine trust position 

on NICE Quality Standards 

 
Quality Standards are presented by the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence 
(NICE) as tools to focus on quality improvement. They each contain between about five and 
fifteen Quality Statements, which are based upon the best available national guidance on 
the topic including NICE guidelines – so there are no ‘new’ recommendations contained in 
them as such. Other source guidelines may be used, for example from Royal Colleges or 
other government bodies.  
 
Monitoring of the implementation of Quality Standards has now been incorporated into the 
same processes as all other NICE guidance monitoring as of December 2015. An initial 
scoping exercise was carried out to establish how many Quality Standards are based 
entirely on existing NICE clinical or public health guidelines, and therefore for how many we 
can establish implementation status based on existing intelligence from the NICE review 
processes.  
 
There are currently 148 total Quality Standards from NICE. Of these, 115 are relevant to the 
Trust and 85 (74%) are implemented.  
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c) To develop a Trust action plan in response to the NHS England 
publication: Improving outcomes for patients with sepsis. A cross-
system action plan, December 2015 

 
The action plan was developed and underway by November 2016.  The action plan is 
updated regularly and is monitored through the joint Commissioning for Quality Improvement 
and Innovation (CQUIN) and Sepsis Group with the final action due in April 2018.  The 
2017/18 Clinical Audit Forward Plan will include the audit recommendation from the 
Guideline. The CQUIN requirements for 2017/19 mean that other relevant audits will be 
undertaken, which will support this action.   
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Patient Experience 
 
 
a) Update basic Trust signage, particularly in main areas to reflect the 

nationality of major users of the Trust e.g. Portuguese 

 
The updates made to Trust signage received positive feedback from the Patient Led 
Assessments of the Care Environment (PLACE) held in March 2017.  Progress has also 
been made on introducing dementia-friendly pictorial signage across the Trust.  Dementia 
friendly signage has been installed on toilets and bathrooms throughout the Trust.  The 
dementia friendly signage, due to its illustrative nature is also suitable for improving 
language barriers for those patients and visitors not using English as a first language. 
 
 
 
 
b) Implement all actions from the NHS England publication: Accessible 

Information Standard: Implementation Plan, July 2015 

 
An action plan for implementation was developed and has been monitored throughout the 
year at the Carer and Patient Experience Committee (CAPE).  Some limitations to full 
implementation have been attributable to IT systems in use and availability of staff to 
progress the actions required.  There is currently a national review of the implementation of 
the Accessible Information Standard. 
 
 
 
c) To participate in a research opportunity to understand how frontline staff 

use patient experience data for service improvement. 

 
 
The first activity implemented as part of the research project was to carry out a baseline 
survey (postal) for patients who had been discharged from the Emergency Admission and 
Discharge Unit (EADU) between January and March 2016; to ascertain their experiences in 
four key areas: 

 Referral to service 

 Inpatient care 

 Discharge 

 Support for self-management 
 
The findings of the survey were collated and published in August, which evidenced that 144 
of the 250 patients included either did not respond or opted out, resulting in an overall 41% 
response rate. 
 
Most positive and least positive experiences were evidenced in the areas detailed in the 
table below.  The ambition going forward was that the clinical staff involved in the project 
would use the findings of the survey in collaboration with other sources of feedback 
received; to identify priority areas for service improvement and report on progress to these at 
the follow-up learning community events scheduled. 
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Category Findings 

Privacy 
87% said they were definitely given enough privacy when being examined in the A&E 
department 

Emotional Support 29% said they were not able to find a member of staff to talk to about worries or fears 

Care from Staff 89% said they always felt looked after by hospital staff 

Call button 43% said it took 3-5 minutes to get the help they needed after using the call button 

Care from Staff 76% said members of staff caring for them always worked well together 

Discharge 48% said they definitely felt involve in decisions about their discharge  

Self-Management 
93% strongly agreed or agreed with the statement ‘when I left the hospital, I clearly 
understood how to take each of my medications, including how much I should take and when 

 

The Emergency Assessment and Discharge Unit (EADU) project team have been piloting a 
welcome pack in the EADU department as their service improvement project integral to the 
research study.  The ambition is to provide patients who are admitted unexpectedly with an 
improved patient experience through the provision of essential items and information to 
make their stay more comfortable.  Progress to the pilot and wider research project will be 
provided through the divisional reporting processes to the Carer and Patient Experience 
Committee (CAPE). 
 
The follow up patient survey, secondary to the initial baseline survey which took place at the 
start of the research project, is imminent and aims to establish any positive impact on a 
patient’s experience the quality improvement initiatives implemented have had. 
 
A final learning community event is due to take place on 13th July 2017 in Oxford to 
celebrate achievements made by the six Trusts involved in the research study and also to 
enable an opportunity for those involved to contribute to the development of a national 
patient experience toolkit.   
  



James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 
Quality Report 2016/17 
V1 180517  Page 55 

A Listening Organisation 
 
Volunteers 
 
We have appointed a Volunteer Coordinator during the past year to both recruit and line 
manage all Trust volunteers.  The Volunteer Coordinator has been focusing on the 
development and training of our volunteers to ensure that they have the required skills to 
enhance our patients’ experience. There have been successful volunteer placements in 
various administration posts, the Patient Experience Team, the Dementia Care Team (as 
dementia befrienders) and on various wards assisting with meal times, housekeeping and 
administration duties.   
 
We have introduced volunteer coffee mornings to enable volunteers to meet other volunteers 
and to provide training updates.  In addition we have invited one of the public governors to 
attend the volunteer coffee morning to promote Trust membership.   
 
The volunteer training has been reviewed and restructured to be more specific for the 
volunteer role. There are six volunteer training sessions now available each year.  
 
We have collaborated with the local colleges and the apprenticeship team to streamline 
recruitment processes to enhance appropriate placement of volunteer students according to 
availability. 
 
We have purchased a bleep for use within the Dementia Care Team to increase accessibility 
to additional support when our patients require.  
 
Governors’ Patient Experience Visits 
 
The Governors’ ward and departmental visits have taken place on a monthly basis; with two 
governors attending a department/ward area within each Division supported by a member of 
senior Trust staff.  These visits have provided our Public Governors with an opportunity to 
gain assurance, directly in discussion with patients, carers and relatives, regarding the 
quality of care received during a specific episode of care. The Governors complete a patient 
experience visit form detailing key findings and have the opportunity to discuss this during a 
debrief session post-visit.  Feedback is then shared with the Divisional teams following each 
visit to enable discussions with staff and agreement of improvement actions to be 
implemented, where necessary, and for shared learning to take place in relation to both the 
positive and the ‘requires improvement’ comments.   
 
NHS Choices and Online Patient Feedback 
 
Online feedback has evidenced the positive experiences of care that patients have received 
throughout the Trust delivered by caring, compassionate and informative staff.  Feedback via 
social media overall, remains extremely positive. All online feedback is responded to 
personally and is shared with the respective teams for passing on.  
 
All negative feedback posted is responded to offering opportunities for resolution discussions 
or meetings to take place.  In addition, any negative comments are discussed at 
divisional/departmental level to explore opportunities for improvement regarding any of the 
issues raised; where applicable.  Divisions then report on progress via Trust governance 
processes.   
 
The majority of online feedback received is currently via Facebook. 
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Patient stories 
 
An individual story is not in itself representative of all patient experiences; however each 
story is valid, as it is that individual’s healthcare experience. Collectively, stories can help us 
build a picture of what it is like as a service user and how we can improve the service we 
provide. Patient stories bring experiences to life and make them accessible to other people. 
They can and do encourage the Trust to focus on the patient as a whole person rather than 
just a clinical condition or as an outcome.   
 
The sharing of patient stories has become embedded into the Board of Directors’ meetings 
with these being received and discussed at most meetings setting the tone for putting patient 
experience at the heart of discussions.  
 
Patient stories have also been shared at Divisional meetings and at the Carer and Patient 
Experience Committee to build on this learning experience from the patient perspective.   
 
Going forward, as one of our Quality Priorities for 2017/18, we are looking to co-design an 
educational training DVD which can be used for mandatory and bespoke patient experience 
training (see page 17 for details).  In addition, the Trust plans to increase how and where it 
uses patient stories to influence change in practice in order to improve patient safety and the 
patient experience.   
 
Learning from Complaints 
 
Cumulative Complaints 2014/15 to 2016/17 
 

 
 
Complaints handling is carried out as per the NHS Complaints procedure. Written 
acknowledgement is sent to the complainant within three working days.  Telephone contact 
with the complainant is made by the Complaints Investigator wherever possible to discuss 
the issues and assess response timescale parameters.   Wherever possible the Trust tries to 
adhere to a 25 day response timeframe. At initial contact and at closure, complainants are 
offered the opportunity to meet with senior staff to discuss the complaint in detail to support 
early and final resolution respectively.   
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Acknowledgement times to complaints 2014/15-2016/17 
 

Days to Acknowledge 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 

0 0 9 81 

1 235 188 119 

2 14 8 6 

3 2 0 1 

4 2 1 0 

Total 253 206 207 
 

The complaints team work in collaboration with the Divisional teams to ensure that there is 
an agreed informative response provided which covers all the issues raised.  Complaints are 
reviewed by members of the Executive Team before Chief Executive sign-off. 
 
As a Trust, we have introduced complaints handling Key Performance Indicators15 to monitor 
performance.  Numbers of complaints, themes and those areas attributable are covered in 
detail within governance processes/meetings to ensure that learning takes place and actions 
are implemented when complaints are upheld/partially upheld.  Monthly Trust 
communications to staff now also detail complaint numbers, themes and trends. 
 
Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS) 
 
The Patient Advice and Liaison Service is available to support local resolution of queries or 
concerns which not only improves the experiences of service users by helping to resolve any 
issues as soon as possible, but also contributes to the reduction in the number of formal 
complaints the organisation receives. 
 

Cumulative PALS enquiries 2014/15 to 2016/17 
 

 

                                                           
15

 A Key Performance Indicator is a measurable value that demonstrates how effectively a Trust is 
achieving key business objectives. 
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Compliments 
 

Compliments are received into the Trust via many sources.  The Chief Executive receives 
written compliments which are recorded on our risk management system via our PALS team.  
In addition compliments are received direct to our PALS team or via the compliments email 
address, compliments@jpaget.nhs.uk.  The email address can be used by members of the 
public, staff and other organisations to share information about what works well.   
 

Compliments data is shared Trust wide in monthly Leadership Brief communications to 
ensure staff receive the positive feedback 
 

In addition the patient experience team support data capture of compliments at Divisional 
and departmental level by producing a data capture template which is populated by the 
operational/clinical staff as compliments are received.   
 

Cumulative Compliments 2014/15 to 2016/17 

 
Examples of compliments received 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The expertise, care, and kindness received were exemplary and reflect great credit to 
the James Paget. 
 

Every single member of your staff, from the consultant, to the nurses, physios, cleaners, 
helpers, et al, were totally professional and kindness personified.  Every one of them is 
a credit to your hospital. 

Staff couldn’t do enough on the Day Stay unit.  They were friendly & talked through 
every process. 

Staff in A&E were fantastic, always keeping me informed of what was going on etc. 
Once up on the ward, I was made to feel comfortable and settled down straight away.  
Big thank you to the staff on Ward 5, you were amazing. 

file://jpitfs1/documents/boothbys/Quality%20Accounts/Quality%20Account%202016-17/Working%20draft/compliments@jpaget.nhs.uk
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Patient experience measurement tools 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Friends and Family Test Score 2016/17 
 

 
Friends and Family Test (FFT) data capture continues as part of the National NHS Standard 
Contract.  From April 2015, reporting was adjusted to incorporate FFT data for outpatients, 
day cases and children and young people in line with national guidance. 
The Trust has agreed its own internal response targets of 40% for inpatient areas and a 
target of 20% for outpatient areas and Accident and Emergency (A&E) via discussions at the 
Carer and Patient Experience Committee (CAPE). The response percentage is estimated 
based on the previous year’s activity data.   

Friends and Family Test – What is it? 
 
The NHS Friends and Family Test (FFT), launched in 2013, was created to help 
providers and commissioners understand whether their patients are happy with the 
service provided, or where improvements are needed. It is a quick and anonymous 
for patients to give their views after receiving care or treatment across the NHS. 
 
Patients are asked how likely they are to ‘recommend our ward/department to a 
friend or family member should they require similar care or treatment’ and their 
experience is scored based on a six-point scale. The categories are: ‘Extremely 
likely’, ‘Likely’, ‘Neither likely nor unlikely’, ‘Unlikely’, ‘Extremely unlikely’ and ‘Don’t 
Know’. 
 
Patients also have the opportunity to explain their ranking by adding comments, and 
may be asked some follow-up questions. This is important, because service 
providers can only make changes if they know exactly what is or isn’t working. 
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Family carers 

        
 
The Trust has a Family Carer Support and Information Worker based at the Trust, in the 
Carers Corner in the entrance to the hospital, three days each week.  Her role is to ensure 
family carers are identified and supported whilst in hospital and during the discharge 
process.  A family carer is someone who provides unpaid care to a family member, friend or 
neighbour who could not manage without their help. 
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Patient Surveys 
 
Feedback from National Surveys is reported to the Carer and Patient Experience Committee 
(CAPE) and the themes identified are looked at with their feedback data received into the 
Trust.  During 2016/17 the National Surveys which were published are shown below. 
Divisions are required to look at the findings and formulate action plans to address key 
issues identified.  The National Inpatient Survey 2016 is due for publication in June 2017. 
 
National Inpatient Survey 2015 
 
The results of the Survey were published on 8th June 2016 and looked at the experiences of 
83,116 people who received care at an NHS hospital in July 2015.  Between August 2015 
and January 2016, a questionnaire was sent to 1250 recent inpatients at each trust. 
 
Responses were received from 664 patients at James Paget University Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust. 
 
Overall findings 

 
The James Paget Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust was found to be performing about the 
same as other Trusts in all areas. 
 
James Paget 2014/15 performance comparison 

 
Areas where the Trust has improved 
 

Area 2014 2015 
Percentage 

improvement 

Patients given enough information about condition / treatment in A&E 
 

84% 85% 1% 

Patients given enough privacy when being examined / treated in the 
A&E Department 

89% 90% 1% 

Patients offered a choice of hospital for first appointment 31% 34% 3% 

Little or no change to the planned admission date 93% 94% 1% 

Specialist had been given all the necessary information about patient's 
condition 

90% 91% 1% 

Patients did not have to wait a long time to get a bed on a ward 81% 83% 2% 

Patients were not bothered by noise at night from hospital staff 77% 80% 3% 

Patients felt that the room / ward they were in was clean 91% 92% 1% 

Patients rated hospital food good or very good 61% 65% 4% 

Patients were offered a choice of food 89% 91% 2% 

Patients got enough help from staff to eat their meals 71% 81% 10% 

Doctors gave understandable answers to patient questions 79% 84% 5% 

Patients had trust in the doctors 90% 92% 2% 

Doctors did not talk in front of patients as if they were not there 85% 86% 1% 

Nurses gave understandable answers to patient questions 85% 87% 2% 
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Area 2014 2015 
Percentage 

improvement 

Patients had trust in the nurses 90% 93% 3% 

Patients felt that there were enough nurses on duty 73% 77% 4% 

Hospital staff did not give contradictory information 82% 84% 2% 

Patients felt involved in decisions about their care or treatment 75% 79% 4% 

Patients had confidence in the decisions made about their condition or 
treatment 

85% 86% 1% 

Patients were given the right amount of information about their condition 
or treatment 

79% 81% 2% 

Patients were able to find somebody to talk to about their worries or 
fears 

60% 61% 1% 

Patients thought that staff did everything to control their pain 85% 90% 5% 

Length of time to get help after using the call button 60% 63% 3% 

Before the operation staff explained the risks and benefits in an 
understandable way 

88% 91% 3% 

Before the operation staff explained what would be done during the 
operation 

82% 86% 4% 

Before the operation staff gave understandable answers to patient 
questions 

86% 89% 3% 

Before the operation the anaesthetist explained in an understandable 
way how patients would be put to sleep 

92% 93% 1% 

After the operation a member of staff explained in an understandable 
way how it had gone 

80% 81% 1% 

Patients felt involved in decisions about their discharge from hospital 73% 74% 1% 

Patients were given enough notice about their discharge from hospital 74% 76% 2% 

Discharge not delayed due to wait for medicines / to see doctor / for 
ambulance. 

56% 61% 5% 

Discharge was delayed for no longer than four hours 70% 72% 2% 

Before leaving hospital patients were given written information on what 
they should or should not do after leaving 

68% 69% 1% 

Staff explained about the medication side effects to be aware of 47% 48% 1% 

Patients were told in an understandable way how to take their 
medication 

82% 83% 1% 

Hospital staff discussed with patients whether any additional equipment 
or adaptations were required at the patient's home 

86% 89% 3% 

Hospital staff discussed with patients whether they may need additional 
health services 

87% 88% 1% 

Patients felt that they were treated with respect and dignity whilst in 
hospital 

92% 94% 2% 

Patients felt well looked after by hospital staff 89% 92% 3% 

Patients overall rating of their experience 83% 84% 1% 

 
  



James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 
Quality Report 2016/17 
V1 180517  Page 63 

Areas where the Trust needs to improve 
 

Area 2014 2015 
Percentage 

deterioration 

Patients admitted as soon as they thought necessary 80% 75% 5% 

Did not share a sleeping area with patients of the opposite sex 92% 91% 1% 

Patients felt that the toilets and bathrooms they used were clean 89% 88% 1% 

Patients did not feel threatened by other patients or visitors during their 
stay 

97% 96% 1% 

Nurses did not talk in front of patients as if they were not there 89% 88% 1% 

Patients felt that they got enough emotional support from hospital staff 78% 76% 2% 

Patients were given enough privacy when discussing their condition or 
treatment 

89% 88% 1% 

Patients were given enough privacy when being examined or treated 97% 96% 1% 

Staff explained the purpose of medication in an understandable way 84% 82% 2% 

Patients were given clear written information about their medicines 82% 81% 1% 

Patients were told about what danger signals to watch for after their 
return home 

56% 52% 4% 

Hospital staff took the home situation into account when planning the 
hospital discharge 

79% 74% 5% 

Carers were given all the information they needed to help care for the 
patient 

66% 62% 4% 

Patients were told who to contact if they were worried about their 
condition after they had left hospital 

83% 77% 6% 

 

 

National Cancer Patient Experience Survey 2015 
 
This is the fifth iteration of the survey.  The annual survey provides valuable patient feedback 
on services and enables the Trust to further develop quality services for patients who access 
cancer services.  Based on patient responses, the survey identifies issues highlighted by 
patients where perception of services needs improvement whilst also identifying significant 
areas of very good practice. 
 
The sample included all adult (aged 16 and over) NHS patients with a confirmed primary 
diagnosis of cancer, discharged from an NHS Trust after an inpatient/day case episode for 
cancer related treatment during April, May and June 2015.  The Trust sample size was 584 
against a national sample size of 116,991.  398 patients completed and returned the survey. 
 
A CQC standard for comparative reporting has been adopted for this survey which means 
Trusts were flagged as outliers only (positive or negative).  Trust performance overall was 
positive with only one area falling below the national average score and lower limit of 
expected range. Full national results and other reports are available at www.ncpes.co.uk 
 
  

file://jpitfs1/documents/boothbys/Quality%20Accounts/Quality%20Account%202016-17/Working%20draft/www.ncpes.co.uk
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Overall findings 

 
Overall the Trust was flagged as a negative outlier in one area: 
 
 

Measure Trust Score 
National 

Score 
Lower limit 

expected range 

(Q8) – Patient told they could bring a family member of friend 
when they were first told they had cancer 

72% 79% 73% 

 
The Trust is currently in the process of updating appointment letters to ensure patients are 
aware of this.  In the meantime, they are being told through telephone and other contact 
during their journey through the Trust. 
 
Overall the Trust was a positive outlier in the following areas: 
 

Measure Trust Score 
National 

Score 

(Q21) – Hospital staff gave information about the impact cancer could have on day 
to day activities 

86% 81% 

(Q31) – Patient had confidence and trust in all ward nurses 80% 72% 

(Q36) – Hospital staff did everything they could to help control pain 89% 84% 

(Q37) - Always treated with respect and dignity by staff 93% 87% 

(Q41) – Patient was able to discuss worries or fears with staff during the 
visit 

78% 70% 

(Q54) – Hospital and Community staff always worked well together 68% 61% 

(Q56) – Overall the administration of the care was very good/ good 93% 89% 

(Q57) – Length of time for attending clinics and appointments was right 81% 66% 
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A Learning Organisation 
 
Serious Incidents 
 
The Serious Incidents (SI) Register contains formal SIs, which must follow the agreed 
reporting process to our Commissioners.  The SI process has been followed in terms of 
providing three-day updates and root cause analysis investigation reports within the required 
timescales to the Commissioners (or via prior agreement), throughout 2016/17 
 

 
 
Never Events 
 
The Trust has reported one Never Event as having occurred in 2016/17.  A patient was 
inadvertently given 75mg aspirin (dispersible) via a Hickman line i.e. an enteral medicine 
(one intended to be given by mouth) was given via an intravenous line. There is no evidence 
of harm to the patient as a result of this incident which was appropriately escalated and 
reported and a number of immediate actions were taken to prevent a recurrence. 
 
The root cause analysis investigation has been completed and progress with all actions is 
monitored by the Strategic Risk Group.   
 
This incident, along with other medicines management incidents identified throughout the 
year, will be included in the themed review as one of the Trust Quality Priorities for 2017/18, 
see page 10. 
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Duty of Candour 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Promoting a culture of openness is a prerequisite to improving patient safety and the quality 
of healthcare systems. It involves apologising and explaining what happened to patients who 
have been harmed as a result of their healthcare treatment. It ensures communication is 
open, honest and occurs as soon as possible following an incident. It encompasses 
communication between healthcare organisations, healthcare teams and patients and/or 
their carers. 
 
Although the Being Open process has been encouraged within healthcare settings since 
2005, with the Being Open Framework being set up in 2009, it only became a contractual 
obligation from April 1 2013. 
 
Francis said: “Openness – enabling concerns and complaints to be raised freely without fear 
and questions asked to be answered.  Transparency – allowing information about the truth 
about performance and outcomes to be shared with staff, patients, the public and regulators.  
Candour – any patient harmed by the provision of a healthcare service is informed of the fact 
and an appropriate remedy offered, regardless of whether a complaint has been made or a 
question asked about it”. 
 
 
 
The Trust remains fully committed to delivering the ’Being Open’ policy and has developed a 
process for identifying incidents which are required to be communicated to patients in a 
different way under the Duty of Candour definitions.  Opposite is a summary of compliance 
with this process for 2016/17: 
  

Duty of Candour – What is it? 
 
The Trust is obligated to comply with the Duty of Candour when a patient under the 
Trust’s care suffers Moderate Harm, Major Harm or dies as a result of an adverse 
incident under. 

 the Health and Social Care Act 2008 (Regulated Activities) Regulations: 
Regulation 20 

 Service Condition 35 of the NHS Standard Contract 
 

Essentially this means patients must be informed when an adverse event happens 
whilst they are in our care. 
 
The initial Duty of Candour (DoC) conversation with the patient/their family/carer 
must take place within 10 working days of the incident occurring (or the Trust 
becoming aware of the incident). 
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Month 
N

o
 of notifiable 
incidents 

Number of Patients informed Number of 
patients not 
informed

16
 

Within 
timescale 

Outside timescale 
(breach) 

April 2016 5 4 0 1 

May 2016 3 2 0 1 

June 2016 2 1 0 1 

July 2016 3 3 0 0 

August 2016 3 3 0 0 

September 2016 0 N/A N/A N/A 

October 2016 9 9 0 0 

November 2016 5 5 0 0 

December 2016 4 4 0 0 

January 2017 2 2 0 0 

February 2017 2 2 0 0 

March 2017 1 1 0 0 

 
  

                                                           
16

 Cases where a justified decision has been taken not to inform a patient or their family/carers or the 
patient is unable to partake in the conversation 
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External Inspections 
 
Care Quality Commission 
 
The Trust received a planned inspection by the Care Quality Commission (CQC) on 16th and 
17th August 2016. 
 
The final report following this inspection was published on 20th December 2016.  The 
detailed report can be found via this link to the CQC website: 
http://www.cqc.org.uk/location/RGP75   
 
The Trust received an overall rating of ‘Good’.  This places the Trust within the top 30% of 
hospitals inspected to date. 
 
Table of ratings 

 
The table below shows the ratings achieved for each core service and line of enquiry: 
 

 
Safe Effective Caring Responsive Well-led 

 
Overall 

Urgent and 
emergency services 

Good Good Good Good 
 

Outstanding  
Good 

Medical care 
Requires 

improvement 
Good Good Good Good 

 
Good 

Surgery Good Good Good Good Good 
 

Good 

Critical care Good Good Good Good Good 
 

Good 

Maternity and 
gynaecology 

Good Good Good Good Good 
 

Good 

Services for children 
and young people 

Good Good Good Good Good 
 

Good 

End of life care 
Requires 

improvement 
Good 

 
Outstanding 

Good Good 
 

Good 

Outpatients and 
diagnostic imaging 

Good Not rated Good Good Good 
 

Good 

        

Overall 
Requires 

improvement 
Good Good Good Good 

 
Good 

 
For full details of the re-inspection findings, please see page 47. 
 
 
 
 
  

http://www.cqc.org.uk/location/RGP75
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Patient-Led Assessments of the Care Environment (PLACE) 
 
The 2016 Patient-Led Assessments of the Care Environment (PLACE) programme 
commenced at the James Paget University Hospital on 20th April 2016. 
 
In the accordance with the Prime Minister’s commitment in 2012 to give patients a real voice 
in assessing the quality of healthcare, including the environment for care, at least 50% of 
those involved in undertaking assessments must meet the definition of a patient. 
 
Members of the Trust Council of Governors and members of Trusts are eligible to act as 
‘patient representatives’ within their own Trust. 
 
The assessment covers 10 ward areas, 5 outpatient departments, A&E, Children’s Ward and 
patient food and assess against the following criteria awarding the following scores 
 

Domain Score 2014 Score 2015 Score 2016 
National 

Average 2016 

Cleanliness 98.56% 98.47% 99.13% 98.06% 

Food/Ward 87.43 89.49 93.40% 88.96% 

Organisation Food  New category 2016 80.55% 87.01% 

Privacy, Dignity and Wellbeing 80.97 76.36 73.63% 84.16% 

Condition, Appearance and Maintenance 93.66 88.03 93.41% 93.37% 

Dementia  New 2015 67.92 74.01% 75.28% 

Disability  New category 2016 81.94% 78.84% 

 
Organisation Food 

 
This section refers to the Trust’s actions against its food procurement and catering practices 
against the Government Buying Standards for food and catering services.  The development 
of a Food and Drink Strategy and compliance with the ten key characteristics of Good 
Nutritional Care. 
 
It also considers the menu, choice and meal timings, plus beverage service. 
 
We will review: 

 The number of choices at each meal time  

 The number of courses  

 The availability of fruit throughout the day 
 
Privacy, Dignity and Wellbeing 

 
This section covers: 
• Whether the wards have single rooms with ensuite bathrooms 
• Whether patients are dressed to protect dignity 
• Television access 
• Radio access 
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We will: 

 Incorporate the need for ensuite facilities within ward and side room refurbishment as 
part of the site strategy  

 Consider access to television and radio 
 
Dementia 

 
This section covers the perspective of a dementia patient on floor coverings, lighting, 
signage, colours used for doors, toilet furniture colour, and removal of mirrors 
 
We will: 

 Meet the dementia criteria in particular flooring, wall and door colours within the upgrade 
of the wards  

 
 

Environmental Health  
 
2000 meals are provided to patients, visitors and staff each 
day.  All are home-cooked, on site using local ingredients and 
suppliers wherever possible. 
 
 
On 2nd March 2017 the Trust underwent an inspection and was awarded five stars for our 
food hygiene rating.  The Food Safety policy was ratified at the same visit. 
 
 

Norfolk Fire and Rescue Service  
 
An inspection was undertaken by 
the Norfolk Fire and Rescue service 
on 30th March 2017. 
 
 
Findings 

 
At the time of the visit, the fire precautions in place were satisfactory. 
 
The following areas of the hospital along with the applicable Fore Risk Assessments were 
audited/inspected: 
 

 Laundry area within the Estates department 

 ‘The Cove’ Childrens’ Clinic 

 Residential flats and dwellings 

 Observation of fire safety training for NHS/JPUH employees 

 Review of the hospital fire detection and warning system 
 
The Station Manager carrying out the visit was pleased to see that the new procedures for 
investigating the fire alarm sounding are beneficial to the hospital as well as Norfolk Fire and 
Rescue Service.  Since the beginning of June 2016 there have been over 20 occasions 
when the alarm has activated but the robust procedures put in place have negated the 
requirement of any emergency response. 
 

http://www.google.co.uk/url?url=http://www.happydaysnurseries.com/outdoor-learning-programme-coming-to-st-minver/16-news/derriford-news/79-derriford-retain-5-star-food-hygiene-rating.html&rct=j&frm=1&q=&esrc=s&sa=U&ved=0ahUKEwiQ2Y_jkKvTAhUoIMAKHZ4iC2AQwW4IGDAB&usg=AFQjCNHz0-aMEUdKSCLgKqvgUJTdlBsqdg
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The investigation process and procedure is only active during standard working hours in the 
weekdays, however in the future, the Station manager would like to see this extended 
further. 
 
What we have done about it 

 
The outcome of this inspection and subsequent actions will be reported to the Health, Safety 
and Staff Welfare Committee in May 2017. 
 
 
Getting it Right First Time (GIRFT)  
 
 
 
 
 
In 2012, Professor Tim Briggs published a report entitled ‘Getting it right first time’ (GIRFT) 
which considered the current state of England’s orthopaedic surgery provision and 
suggested that changes could be made to improve pathways of care, patient experience, 
and outcomes with significant cost savings. The report took the view that this approach has 
the potential to deliver a timely and cost effective improvement in the standard of 
orthopaedic care across England. 
 
The programme has been extended to include other disciplines.  The ambition of the 
programme is to identify areas of unwarranted variation in clinical practice and/or divergence 
from the best evidence. The work will culminate in a report and set of national 
recommendations aimed at improving quality of care and also reducing expenditure on 
complications, litigation, procurement and unproven treatment. 
 
Ophthalmology 

 
The GIRFT team visited the Ophthalmology team on 1st March 2017.  The overarching 
points that arose during the visit included: 

• Review accuracy of coding 
• Optimise cataract surgical activity 
• Develop and/or optimise Virtual Clinic (VC) Activity 
• Develop and/or optimise IT infrastructure 
• Develop and/or optimise Intravitreal injection pathway 
• Increase capacity by developing expanded roles for nurses and other healthcare 

professionals 
 
Recommendations were as follows: 
1) Optimising Cataract Surgery Patient Pathway: 
Theatre lists have an increased number of cases per cataract list; aiming for 1 case per 30 
minutes or 8 patients per 4-hour list. 
 
2) Develop healthcare professional staff: 
Nurse injectors should, and are, in the process of being trained so that they are able to carry 
out intravitreal sessions without a consultant being present in the injection room (to be 
available but not necessarily delivering as well). This will improve capacity which is essential 
to reduce costs and use consultants more efficiently. 
 
3) Optimising your Virtual Clinic capacity: this is particularly recognised as important in 

glaucoma management currently. 

http://gettingitrightfirsttime.co.uk/
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4) Improve IT infrastructure review to optimise your virtual clinic potential. 

 
5) Coding practices to be reviewed to ensure accuracy. Some of the reported clinical 

activity did not feel in line with your views therefore, we recommend audits to review your 
coding practices (including your VR activity, strabismus reoperation and glaucoma tube 
outpatient attendances) could be useful. 
• An audit of current complex cataract data using Medisoft, and carry out a comparison 

with the historic data in the data pack provided. 
• Connect with coders and have a conversation about data collection, coding and 

recording. 
 
Orthopaedics 

 
Professor Tim Briggs visited the Trust on 24th March 2017 following a revision to the original 
GIRFT report from 2014.  The Trust is currently awaiting the full report. 
 
School of Postgraduate Medicine 
 
 
 
 
The Health Education East of England School of Postgraduate Medicine visited the Trust on 
Tuesday 2nd February 2016.  This was a follow up visit to assess the Trust’s progress with 
meeting the requirements and following the recommendations included in the report of the 
School of Postgraduate Medicine’s visit to the Trust on 19th December 2014. There were 
five requirements and two recommendations that were revisited 
 
Findings 

 
Requirements: 
 

 The Core Medical Trainee (CMT) post in respiratory Medicine should be urgently 
reviewed. Either suitable clinical supervision and educational opportunities should be 
provided, or the trainee should be removed from the placement – FULLY MET.  This 
was addressed immediately after the last visit by removal of the CMT from this 
placement. The trainee now works on a designated respiratory ward and has appropriate 
educational opportunities and clinical supervision. 

 

 There should be a regular forum for the CMTs to meet with and discuss concerns with 
the College Tutor – FULLY MET.  Although there is not a formal forum, it is clear that 
the College Tutor is very approachable and the trainees have approached him with any 
concerns they have 

 

 There should be a review of the delivery of outpatient experience to CMTs. Consider 
timetabled clinics or weeks of clinics – FULLY MET.  CMTs now have timetabled periods of 
outpatient clinics equivalent to six days in each four month placement. The CMTs are also 
encouraged to go to clinics at other times. 

 

 There should be a re-assessment of the delivery of training needs to CMTs, in particular 
the formal teaching which should be directed at an appropriate level, be held regularly 
and timetabled at a suitable time – FULLY MET.  There is now a formal CMT-directed 
teaching session weekly with a consultant presence. This is organised by the Associate 
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College Tutor and provides opportunities for CMTs to make presentations and be 
formally assessed in their teaching skills 

 

 Quality Improvement (QI) projects for CMTs should be identified early in the academic 
year – PARTIALLY MET.  Some, but not all, of the CMTs have started QI projects 

 
Recommendations: 
 

 The arrangements for the provision of out-of-hours internet access should meet the 
requirements of trainees and should be communicated with them – FULLY 
FOLLOWED.  There are three computers with internet access available in the doctors’ 
mess.  Access to the library outside normal working hours has been appropriately 
restricted for the safety of users as it is in a separate building. 

 

 The Trust should review the policy of medical registrars being unable to make direct out-
of-hours referrals to radiology and intensive care. The practice of such communications 
is of educational value to trainees at this grade e.g. as part of acute care assessment 
tools (ACATs) – FULLY FOLLOWED.  Specialty Registrars (StRs) are now able to 
order head CT (computerised tomography) scans and CTPAs (CT Pulmonary 
Angiography) out-of-hours; they can also make direct referrals to intensive care 
(although the medical consultant on-call is expected to be kept informed of critically-ill 
patients). 

 
School of Postgraduate Surgery 
 
 
 
 
The Health Education East of England School of Postgraduate Surgery visited the Trust on 
Tuesday 6th December 2016.  This visit provided the chance to review the delivery of core 
training and higher surgical training throughout the Trust. In particular to investigate the 
significant number of core surgical trainee red outliers in the GMC 2016 NTS (National 
Training Survey) and the training opportunities available in  ENT (Ear, Nose and Throat)for 
the higher surgical trainees. 
 
Findings 

 
Strengths 
 

 The General Surgery trainees interviewed were happy and received valuable access to 
training opportunities 

 Trainees are adequately supervised 

 Trainees reported supportive consultant staff who were keen to teach and support 
trainees 

 The delivery of sinus surgery training was praised by the trainees in ENT 
 
Areas for Development 
 
All seems to be progressing well in general terms however a number of specific areas were 
highlighted for improvement: 

 The current configuration of the rota and the daily T&O (Trauma and Orthopaedic) 
meeting make it difficult for the core surgery trainees to attend the Wednesday local 
teaching 

 Access to endoscopy training is restricted 
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 Access to theatre experience for core surgery trainees is limited 

 It was reported that at the Core level in General Surgery it appears that there is a single 
rota including FY2 (Foundation Year 2) trainees and Core trainees 
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Patient Falls – Governors’ indicator 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Background 

 
Patient falls are one of the highest occurring safety incidents across NHS Trusts.  We 
monitor numbers of falls, patterns of falls and rate of falls per 1000 bed days. 
 
What we are doing about it 

 
As part of one of our Quality Priorities for 2017/18 we are to participate in the National 
Improvement Collaborative programme for falls, see page 4. 
 
 
 
 
  

What is the indicator? 
 
This indicator measures the actual number of falls per month and the actual number of 
falls with harm, including fractures. 
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NHS Improvement’s Governance Indicators 
 
Performance against the relevant indicators and performance thresholds set out in the 
oversight documents issued by NHS Improvement.  For 2016/17 these are: 
 

i. The Risk Assessment Framework for 1 April to 30 September. 
ii. The Single Oversight Framework for 1 October to 31 March. 

 

Indicator 
Threshold 

2016/17 
JPUH 

2016/17 

Maximum time of 18 weeks from point of referral to treatment in 
aggregate – patients on an incomplete pathway

17
 

92% 87.70% 

A&E: maximum waiting time of four hours from arrival to admission/ 
transfer/discharge 

95% 90.59% 

All cancers: 62 day wait for 
first treatment from: 

urgent GP referral for suspected cancer
18

 85% 88.58% 

NHS Cancer Screening Service referral 90% 97.59% 

C difficile – meeting the C. difficile objective 
17 cases 

de minimis 
n=12 

9 

 
 
  

                                                           
17 The full definition for this indicator can be found on page 91 
18

 The full definition for this mandated indicator can be found on page 91 
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Annex 1 
Statements from Stakeholders 
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Great Yarmouth and Waveney Clinical Commissioning Group 
 
Great Yarmouth & Waveney Clinical Commissioning Group as a commissioning organisation 
of JPUH supports the organisation in its publication of a Quality Account for 2016/17. We are 
satisfied that the Quality Account incorporates the mandated elements required based on 
available data. The information contained within the Quality Account is reflective of the Trust 
over the previous 12 month period.  
 

In our review, we have taken account of the clinical quality improvement priorities identified 
for 2017/18 and support the identified improvement objectives in the quality and safety of 
care provided to Great Yarmouth & Waveney residents. The Trust will do this by:  
 

 Improving Patient Safety;  

 
Participating in the National Improvement Collaborative Programmes for falls, pressure 
ulcers and End of Life.  This will support the Trust’s ongoing work to prevent avoidable 
pressure ulcer, understand the increasing trend in falls and any initiatives required to reverse 
this and embed the organisation’s End of Life Strategy.  
 

Developing and embedding the Trust’s mortality process in line with national guidance. This 
will support the organisation’s learning from deaths to inform quality improvement plans in 
accordance with the national requirement.  
 

Prioritisation of the Care Quality Commission (CQC) actions identified during the CQC 
inspection in 2016.  
 
Thematic review of learning from medicines management incidents and the Never Event 
reported in 2016/17.  
 

 Improving Clinical Effectiveness;  
 
Learning from clinical audit to develop and apply a consistent process to ensure that findings 
from clinical audit result in action, learning and sustained improvements in practice. 
 
Integration of clinical audits with health and social care partners aligned to the strategic 
objectives of the Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP). 
 

 Improving Patient Experience;  
 
Addressing the areas where performance has deteriorated as measured by the patient 
experience national surveys.  
 

Developing and implementing clear, action-orientated organisational wide Always Events, 
aligned to the Trust’s Values and Behaviours.  
 

Developing a patient experience survey tool aligned to the aims of the Red to Green 
programme, to ensure patients understand the progress of their inpatient journey.  
 

Co-designing a staff / patient experience education and training DVD incorporating a patient 
story to provide a powerful visual aid.  
 

Improving Patient Flow;  
 
Integration of patient flow throughout the hospital to ensure safe care is delivered to 
patients in the right place at the right time.  
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Great Yarmouth and Waveney CCG also notes the quality priorities identified within the 
previous Quality Account for 2016/17. We commend the Trust on their achievement against 
the three patient safety priorities and the partial achievements relating to Seven Day 
Services and the Accessible Information Standard and ongoing work within the organisation 
to achieve these.  
 
The CCG commends the Trust following the CQC’s follow up re-inspection in August 2016 
where the Trust maintained its overall rating of Good and both previous Requirement 
Notices were confirmed as being addressed. The Trust is now rated as Outstanding for the 
quality of care to patients at End of Life and for leadership of urgent and emergency 
services.  
 
The Great Yarmouth & Waveney Clinical Commissioning Group looks forward to working 
with the JPUH during 2017/18. 
 
Rebecca Hulme 
Acting Chief Nurse 
 
 
 
Council of Governors 
 
The Governors are pleased with the opportunity to comment on the Quality Report 2016/17.  
The document is a well written account and accessible to the general reader, demonstrating 
how the Trust has and is performing.  There are details of where improvements have been 
made and areas of challenge are shown, as are the ways in which these are being 
addressed. 
 
Following the announced CQC inspection in August 2016, the Council of Governors 
congratulated the Trust on achieving an overall rating of ‘GOOD’.  Leadership of Urgent and 
Emergency Care and End of Life Care were rated ‘OUTSTANDING’, recognising them as 
offering exceptional standards of care.  It is certainly great to know our hospital is the only 
unit in the region that has achieved two OUTSTANDING ratings, and pleasing to note that a 
‘GOOD’ rating places the Trust within the top 30% of hospitals inspected nationally to date. 
  
The hospital’s participation in the National Clinical Audit Scheme is reaping benefits.  
Feedback so far has resulted in proposed actions to improve the quality of care provided in 
Myocardial Infarction, the use of emergency oxygen and procedural sedation for adults.  This 
certainly will aid development going forward. 
  
Regarding patient safety, it is pleasing to see the Trust joining National Collaborative 
Programmes to learn from other organisations re the reduction in falls, finding ways to tackle 
avoidable cases of pressure ulcers and sharing ideas on embedding the End of Life 
Strategy. A Non Executive Director chairs the Trust’s Safety and Quality Governance 
Committee and regularly reports progress and issues to the Governors. 
  
There is an obvious need to address the increase in medicine management incidents and 
the occurrence of the single ‘never’ event.  
  
Due to a decrease in surgery, there is a decline in patient participation rates in PROMS 
(Patient Reported Outcome Measures) for three of the four procedures covered.  In order to 
monitor health gain, before and after surgery, questionnaires are offered to patients for 
completion.  People having hip replacements completed questionnaires at a similar rate to 
last year, but those having groin hernias, varicose veins and knee replacements did not 
participate to the same extent. 
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The NHS Staff Survey response rate went down by a small percentage on last year but 
overall feedback is still above similar Trust types average nationally.  Governors feel assured 
that the Health and Wellbeing Committee will explore many of the concerns and issues 
raised.  There is a plan for staff focus groups to be established to explore ways to improve 
communications at all levels and involve staff more effectively in decision-making regarding 
the actions to be taken throughout the Trust.  Governors feel strongly that the welfare and 
development of Trust staff is crucial to the delivery of the high standards of care we’ve come 
to expect and will closely follow progress in this area.  Additionally, it is disappointing that, as 
per the staff survey, fewer employees believe there are equal opportunities for career 
progression or promotion than in 2015 and the percentage of staff experiencing harassment, 
bullying or abuse from other staff is now sitting slightly above the ‘trust type’ average. 
  
The Friends and Family Test (FFT) showed positive responses over the various scoring 
indicators for both staff and patients.  Work continues towards implementing seven day 
working in a specified range of identified clinical standards and services. Perceived 
improvements in patient care and experience are welcomed and supported by the Council of 
Governors. The Carer and Patient Experience (CAPE) Committee considers information 
from a range of sources and priorities are focused to ensure carer and patient experience is 
now considered in all aspects of service design and delivery.  It is a pity there is still no 
carer/patient representative on CAPE, which is an ongoing concern for Governors.  The 
Trust’s Patient Experience lead is the link with the Governors’ Patient Experience 
Committee.  Through this connection Governors receive assurance that patient and carer 
issues raised by them are, where and when necessary, brought to the attention of the Board 
of Directors. The latest revision to the Council’s committee structure will offer closer 
interaction with the Non-Executive Directors and bring with it opportunities for debate and 
assurance at Governors’ committee level.  
  
Following a meeting of the Council in March 2017, Governors recommended a ‘falls’ 
indicator as the third external audit indicator for review.  KPMG were appointed as external 
auditors in 2016 and as such will report audit findings to Council of Governors meetings and 
the Trust’s Annual General Meeting. 
  
This Quality Report is essential reading and focusses on the care of patients and those close 
to them, to ensure improvements are made to the quality and delivery of services.  
  
Angela Woodcock 
Lead Governor 
 
On behalf of the Council of Governors 15 May 2017 
 
 
 
Healthwatch Norfolk 
 
Healthwatch Norfolk appreciates the opportunity to make comments on the JPUH Quality 
Account for 2016/17. 
 
The document is well laid out with the contents page identifying different sub-sections, which 
is very useful. There is a glossary, which would be very helpful to the lay reader. Contact 
details are given for people to request the document in different formats e.g. braille or other 
languages.  
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The document presents information in detail – which may not be easy for members of the 
public to understand. This could perhaps be addressed through adding an Executive 
Summary in plain English. 
 
There is no currently Executive Summary - there is a blank headed page observed therefore 
assume it will be included in the final report. There are also a significant number of 
incomplete sections at the time of reporting. 
 
2016/17 priorities are clearly identified however the report does not specify any actions to be 
taken for partially achieved priorities for the past year or any explanation as to why they were 
not achieved. 
 
The priorities for the coming year have been clearly identified with statements as to what is 
intended to achieve them 
 
The delivery and monitoring progress seems weak. For example within the Clinical 
Effectiveness section – “Monthly clinical audit reporting at Patient Safety and effectiveness 
committee meetings” does not provide the reader with any detail on this audit reporting. It 
would have been more useful to explain the “what and how” and the timeframe for the 
achievement.  
 
It was pleasing to observe the CQC rating of good at the follow up inspection in August 2016 
with two ratings of outstanding achieved in quality of care offered to patients reaching end of 
life and also leadership of urgent and emergency services.  
 
We remain totally committed to work with the Trust to ensure that the views of patients, their 
families and carers are taken into account and to make recommendation for change, where 
appropriate. 
 
Alex Stewart 
Chief Executive 
 
 
 
Healthwatch Suffolk 
 
Having reviewed the Quality Account as submitted by James Paget University Hospital NHS 
Foundation Trust.  As well as the patient and carer feedback provided to Healthwatch Suffolk 
the Hospital is providing generally good care.  The Reviewer found the report to be easy to 
read and digest.  The Hospital have set out their priorities in a standard table format, which 
was found to be very useful as a standard form allows the rapid identification of required 
information. 
 
The CQC have rated the Hospital as “Good” Overall with two “Outstanding” features.  It 
should be noted that this was one of the better ratings in the Eastern Region.  The Hospital 
was rated as “Excellent” in the Caring element of the “End of Life Care,” and in the “Urgent 
and Emergence Services” received an “outstanding” rating for being “well led.”  The Hospital 
also received a few “Requires Improvement ratings.”  The Hospital has decided to prioritise 
the actions required to address the CQC’s findings.  Their initial aim being to receive an 
improved report from the next inspection and to aim for an overall rating of “Outstanding.” 
 
Comments received by Healthwatch Suffolk from patients and carers who have experience 
of the Hospitals services are generally supportive of the Hospital.  For the period between 
April of 2016 and March of 2017 Healthwatch Suffolk received a total of 26 comments.  Of 
these comments 46% were positive with 31% negative and the remainder neither positive 
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nor negative.  Healthwatch Suffolk recognises that many of these comments are submitted 
anonymously and may therefore lack sufficient detail for a formal investigation.  We urge the 
Hospital to learn from these comments.  The comments we receive from patients and carers 
are rarely concerning the actual clinical treatment received but are more likely to concern 
attitudes and waiting times.  The Patient’s experience of care also features negatively. 
 
Comments received indicate that the Hospital is generally considered to be clean and well 
presented.  There are favourable ratings for the explanation of the treatment to be received 
and for the quality of care received.  The quality of the food was unfortunately not so well 
rated by patients.  We found that most patients were likely or extremely likely to recommend 
the Hospital to a friend. 
 
The hospital has undergone a SEND (Special Educational Needs and Disability) Inspection.  
Some weaknesses were found in the local area’s practice.  The Hospital has stated what 
action it intends to take to address the requirements of the inspectors and will also be 
reporting on progress on 31 March 2017. 
 
The Trust has published its performance against the Quality Priorities for the year 2016/17 
and these are largely achieved with a few (3) that are partially achieved.  The National 
Cancer Patient Survey also shows the Hospital in a good light.  With quite high scores for 
the involvement of patients in their treatment decisions, their access to their Key Worker, 
being treated with dignity, and being aware of who to contact if they were worried after they 
had left the Hospital. 
 
There are examples of good treatment and care with dedicated staff and good practice 
throughout the Hospital.  The staff and management of the Hospital deserve praise for their 
achievements and are to be congratulated on the outcome of their CQC inspection. 
 
Andy Yacoub 
Chief Executive 
 
 
 
Health Scrutiny Committee 
 
As has been the case in previous years, the Suffolk Health Scrutiny Committee does not 
intend to comment individually on NHS Quality Accounts for 2017.  This should in no way be 
taken as a negative response.  The Committee has, in the main, been content with the 
engagement of local healthcare providers in its work over the past year.  The Committee has 
taken the view that it would be appropriate for Healthwatch Suffolk to consider the content of 
the Quality Accounts for this year, and comment accordingly.     
 
County Councillor Michael Ladd 
Chairman of the Suffolk Health Scrutiny Committee 
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Annex 2 
Statement of directors’ responsibilities for the 

quality report 
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The directors are required under the Health Act 2009 and the National Health Service (Quality Accounts) 
Regulations to prepare Quality Accounts for each financial year. 
 
 
NHS Improvement has issued guidance to NHS foundation trust boards on the form and content of annual 
quality reports (which incorporate the above legal requirements) and on the arrangements that NHS 
foundation trust boards should put in place to support the data quality for the preparation of the quality 
report. 
 
 
In preparing the Quality Report, directors are required to take steps to satisfy themselves that: 
 

 the content of the Quality Report meets the requirements set out in the NHS foundation trust annual 
reporting manual 2016/17 and supporting guidance 

 
 

 the content of the Quality Report is not inconsistent with internal and external sources of information 
including: 

- board minutes and papers for the period April 2016 to 31/03/2017 
- papers relating to quality reported to the board over the period April 2016 to 31/03/2017 
- feedback from commissioners dated 18/05/2017 
- feedback from governors dated 15/05/2017 
- feedback from local Healthwatch organisations dated 19/05/2017 (Norfolk) and 11/05/2017 

(Suffolk) 
- feedback from Overview and Scrutiny Committee dated 19/04/2017 
- the trust’s complaints report published under regulation 18 of the Local Authority Social Services 

and NHS Complaints Regulations 2009, dated 27/05/2016 
- the 2015 national patient survey 08/06/2016 
- the 2016 national staff survey 07/03/2017 
- the Head of Internal Audit’s annual opinion of the trust’s control environment dated 22/05/2017 
- CQC inspection report dated 20/12/2016 

 
 

 the Quality Report presents a balanced picture of the NHS foundation trust’s performance over the 
period covered 

 
 

 the performance information reported in the Quality Report is reliable and accurate 
 
 

 there are proper internal controls over the collection and reporting of the measures of performance 
included in the Quality Report, and these controls are subject to review to confirm that they are working 
effectively in practice 

 
 

 the data underpinning the measures of performance reported in the Quality Report is robust and reliable, 
conforms to specified data quality standards and prescribed definitions, is subject to appropriate scrutiny 
and review and 

 
 

 the Quality Report has been prepared in accordance with NHS Improvement’s annual reporting manual 
and supporting guidance (which incorporates the Quality Accounts regulations) as well as the standards 
to support data quality for the preparation of the Quality Report 
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The directors confirm to the best of their knowledge and belief that they have complied with the above 
requirements on preparing the Quality Report. 

By order of the board 

__________Date _______________________________________ Chairman 

__________Date _______________________________________ Chief Executive 

__________Date _______________________________________ Director of Finance 

__________Date _______________________________________ Chief Operating Officer 

__________Date _______________________________________ Medical Director 

__________Date _______________________________________ Director of Nursing 

__________Date _______________________________________ Director of Governance 

__________Date _______________________________________ Director of Strategy and Transformation 

__________Date _______________________________________ Associate Director of Workforce 
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Glossary of 

terms and 

abbreviations 
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Term Meaning 

A&E Accident and Emergency Department 

ACU Acute Cardiac Unit 

BPT Best Practice Tariff 

C.difficile or C.diff Clostridium difficile 

CAM Confusion Assessment Method 

CAPE Carer and Patient Experience Committee 

CDI Clostridium difficile infection 

CG NICE Clinical Guideline 

CHD Congenital Heart Disease 

CMP Case Mix Programme 

CMT Core Medical Trainee 

CQC Care Quality Commission 

CQUIN Commissioning for Quality Improvement and Innovation 

CRM Cardiac Rhythm Management 

CT Computerised Tomography 

CYP Children and Young Persons 

DNACPR Do not attempt Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation 

DVD Digital Versatile Disc 

DVT Deep Vein Thrombosis 

EADU Emergency Admission and Discharge Unit 

ECG Electrocardiogram 

ENT Ear, nose and throat 

EPMA E-Prescribing and Medicines Administration

FFFAP Falls and Fragility Fractures Audit Programme 

FFT Friends and Family Test 

FY Foundation Year 

GIRFT Getting it right first time 

HANA Head and Neck Cancer Audit 

HAT Hospital Acquired Thrombosis 

HMCI Her Majesty’s Chief Inspector of Education, Children’s Services and Skills 

IBD Inflammatory Bowel Disease 

IG Information Governance 

IGT Information Governance Toolkit 

IT Information Technology 

JPUH James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 

KF Key Finding 

KLOE Key Lines of Enquiry 

MASH Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub 

MINAP Myocardial Ischaemia National Audit Project 

MRI Magnetic Resonance Imaging 

N/A Not applicable 

NAOGC National Oesophago-Gastric Cancer Audit 

NBOCAP National Bowel Cancer Audit 

NCA National Comparative Audit 

NCEPOD National Confidential Enquiry into Patient Outcome and Death 

NDA National Diabetes Audit 

NDFA National Diabetes Footcare Audit 

NELA National Emergency Laparotomy Audit 

NG NICE Guidance 
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Term Meaning 

NHFD National Hip Fracture Database 

NHS National Health Service 

NICE National Institute for Health and Care Excellence 

NJR National Joint Registry 

NLCA National Lung Cancer Audit 

NNAP National Neonatal Audit Programme 

NNUH Norfolk and Norwich University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust 

NOFERP Neck of Femur Enhanced Recovery Programme 

NPDA National Paediatric Diabetes Audit 

NPSA National Patient Safety Agency 

NRLS National Reporting and Learning Service 

PALS Patient Advice and Liaison Service 

PbR Payment by Results 

PCNL Percutaneous nephrolithotomy 

PE Pulmonary Embolism 

PICANet Paediatric Intensive Care Audit Network 

PLACE Patient-Led Assessments of the Care Environment 

PROMs Patient Reported Outcome Measures 

PSEC Patient Safety and Effectiveness Committee 

PSI Patient Safety Incident 

QI Quality Improvement 

QS NICE Quality Standard 

RAG Red/Amber/Green 

RCA Root Cause Analysis 

SACT Systemic Anti-Cancer Therapy 

SEND Special Educational Needs and Disability 

SHMI Summary hospital level mortality indicator 

SHOT Serious Hazards of Transfusion 

SI Serious Incident 

SSNAP Sentinel Stroke National Audit Programme 

STP Sustainability and Transformation Plan 

StR Specialty Registrar 

T&O Trauma and Orthopaedic 

TACO Transfusion Associated Circulatory Overload 

TARN Trauma Audit and Research Network 

UK United Kingdom 

UKRETS UK Registry of Endocrine and Thyroid Surgery 

VC Virtual Clinic 

VTE Venous Thromboembolism 
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Percentage of incomplete pathways within 18 weeks for patients on 
incomplete pathways 

Source of indicator definition and detailed guidance 

The indicator is defined within the technical definitions that accompany Everyone counts: 
planning for patients 2014/15 - 2018/19 and can be found at www.england.nhs.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2014/01/ec-tech-def-1415-1819.pdf 

Detailed rules and guidance for measuring referral to treatment (RTT) standards can be 
found at http://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-areas/rtt-waiting-times/rtt-
guidance/ 

Detailed descriptor 

E.B.3: The percentage of incomplete pathways within 18 weeks for patients on incomplete 
pathways at the end of the period 

Numerator 

The number of patients on an incomplete pathway at the end of the reporting period who 
have been waiting no more than 18 weeks 

Denominator 
The total number of patients on an incomplete pathway at the end of the reporting period 

Accountability 

Performance is to be sustained at or above the published operational standard. Details of 
current operational standards are available at: www.england.nhs.uk/wp-
21content/uploads/2013/12/5yr-strat-plann-guid-wa.pdf (see Annex B: NHS Constitution 
Measures). 

Indicator format 

Reported as a percentage 

Percentage of patients with a total time in A&E of four hours or less from 
arrival to admission, transfer or discharge 

Source of indicator definition and detailed guidance 

The indicator is defined within the technical definitions that accompany Everyone counts: 
planning for patients 2014/15 - 2018/19 and can be found at www.england.nhs.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2014/01/ec-tech-def-1415-1819.pdf 

Detailed rules and guidance for measuring A&E attendances and emergency admissions 
can be found at https://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/wp-
content/uploads/sites/2/2013/03/AE-Attendances-Emergency-Definitions-v2.0-Final.pdf 

Additional information 

This indicator is as required to be reported by the Risk Assessment Framework: 

file://jpitfs1/documents/boothbys/Quality%20Accounts/Quality%20Account%202015-16/Working%20draft/www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/01/ec-tech-def-1415-1819.pdf
file://jpitfs1/documents/boothbys/Quality%20Accounts/Quality%20Account%202015-16/Working%20draft/www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/01/ec-tech-def-1415-1819.pdf
http://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-areas/rtt-waiting-times/rtt-guidance/
http://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-areas/rtt-waiting-times/rtt-guidance/
file://jpitfs1/documents/boothbys/Quality%20Accounts/Quality%20Account%202015-16/Working%20draft/www.england.nhs.uk/wp-21content/uploads/2013/12/5yr-strat-plann-guid-wa.pdf
file://jpitfs1/documents/boothbys/Quality%20Accounts/Quality%20Account%202015-16/Working%20draft/www.england.nhs.uk/wp-21content/uploads/2013/12/5yr-strat-plann-guid-wa.pdf
file://jpitfs1/documents/boothbys/Quality%20Accounts/Quality%20Account%202015-16/Working%20draft/www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/01/ec-tech-def-1415-1819.pdf
file://jpitfs1/documents/boothbys/Quality%20Accounts/Quality%20Account%202015-16/Working%20draft/www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/01/ec-tech-def-1415-1819.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2013/03/AE-Attendances-Emergency-Definitions-v2.0-Final.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2013/03/AE-Attendances-Emergency-Definitions-v2.0-Final.pdf
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A&E four-hour wait: waiting time is assessed on a provider basis, aggregated across 
all sites: no activity from off-site partner organisations should be included. The four-
hour waiting time indicator applies to minor injury units/walk-in centres. 

 
Paragraph 6.8 of the NHS England guidance referred to above gives further guidance on 
inclusion of a type 3 unit in reported performance: 
 

We are an acute trust. Can we record attendances at a nearby type 3 unit in our 
return? 

 
Such attendances can be recorded by the trust in the following circumstances. 
 
a) The trust is clinically responsible for the service. This will typically mean that the 
service is operated and managed by the trust, with the majority of staff being 
employees of the trust. A trust should not assume responsibility for reporting activity 
for an operation if the trust’s involvement is limited to clinical governance. 
 
b) The service is run by an IS provider on the same site as a type 1 unit run by the 
trust. This would need to be agreed by the parties involved, and only one 
organisation should report the activity. 

 
Where an NHS foundation trust has applied criterion (b) and is including type 3 activity run 
by another provider on the trust site as part of its reported performance, this will therefore be 
part of the population of data subject to assurance work. 
 
In rare circumstances there may be challenges in arranging for the auditor to have access to 
the third party data in these cases. In this scenario the NHS foundation trust may present an 
additional indicator in the quality report which only relates to its own activity and have this 
reported indicator be subject to the limited assurance opinion. 
 
Numerator 
 
The total number of patients who have a total time in A&E of four hours or less from arrival to 
admission, transfer or discharge. Calculated as: 
(Total number of unplanned A&E attendances) – (Total number of patients who have a total 
time in A&E over 4 hours from arrival to admission, transfer or discharge) 
 
Denominator 
The total number of unplanned A&E attendances 
 
Accountability 
 
Performance is to be sustained at or above the published operational standard. Details of 
current operational standards are available at: www.england.nhs.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2013/12/5yr-strat-plann-guid-wa.pdf (see Annex B: NHS Constitution 
Measures). 
 
Indicator format 
 
Reported as a percentage 
 
 
 
 
  

http://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/01/ec-tech-def-1415-1819.pdf
file://jpitfs1/documents/boothbys/Quality%20Accounts/Quality%20Account%202015-16/Working%20draft/www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/12/5yr-strat-plann-guid-wa.pdf
file://jpitfs1/documents/boothbys/Quality%20Accounts/Quality%20Account%202015-16/Working%20draft/www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/12/5yr-strat-plann-guid-wa.pdf
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Independent auditor’s report to the council of governors of 
James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 

We have been engaged by the council of governors of James Paget University Hospitals 
NHS Foundation Trust to perform an independent assurance engagement in respect of 
James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust’s quality report for the year ended 
31 March 2017 (the ‘Quality Report’) and certain performance indicators therein. 

Scope and subject matter 

The indicators for year ended 31 March 2017 subject to limited assurance consist of the 
national priority indicators as mandated by NHS Improvement: 

 percentage of incomplete pathways within 18 weeks for patients on incomplete
pathways (see page 76)

 percentage of patients with a total time in A&E of four hours or less from arrival to
admission, transfer or discharge (see page 76)

We refer to these national priority indicators collectively as the ‘indicators’ 

Respective responsibilities of the directors and auditors 

The directors are responsible for the content and preparation of the quality report in 
accordance with the criteria set out in the NHS foundation trust annual reporting manual 
issued by NHS Improvement. 

Our responsibility is to form a conclusion, based on limited assurance procedures, on 
whether anything has come to our attention that causes us to believe that: 

 the quality report is not prepared in all material respects in line with the criteria set out in
the NHS foundation trust annual reporting manual and supporting guidance

 the quality report is not consistent in all material aspects with the sources specified in
NHS Improvement’s  Detailed requirements for external assurance for quality reports for
foundation trusts 2016/17

 the indicators in the quality report identified as having been the subject of limited
assurance in the quality report are not reasonably stated in all material respects in
accordance with the NHS foundation trust annual reporting manual and supporting
guidance and the six dimensions of data quality set out in the Detailed guidance for
external assurance on quality reports

We read the quality report and consider whether it addresses the content requirements of 
the NHS foundation trust annual reporting manual and supporting guidance, and consider 
the implications for our report if we become aware of any material omissions. 

We read other information contained in the quality report and consider whether it is 
materially consistent with: 

 board minutes for the period April 2016 to 31/03/2017

 papers relating to quality reported to the board over the period April 2016 to
31/03/2017

 feedback from commissioners, dated 18/05/2017

 feedback from governors, dated 15/05/2017
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 feedback from local Healthwatch organisations, dated 19/05/2017 (Norfolk) and
11/05/2017 (Suffolk)

 feedback from Overview and Scrutiny Committee dated 19/04/2017

 the trust’s complaints report published under regulation 18 of the Local Authority
Social Services and NHS Complaints Regulations 2009, dated 27/05/2016

 the 2015 national patient survey, dated 08/06/2016

 the 2016 national staff survey, dated 07/03/2017

 Care Quality Commissions inspection, dated 20/12/2016

 the Head of Internal Audit’s annual opinion over the trust’s control environment,
dated 22/05/2017

We consider the implications of our report if we become aware of any apparent 
misstatements or material inconsistencies with those documents (collectively, the 
‘documents’).  Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information. 

We are in compliance with the applicable independence and competency requirements of 
the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales (ICAEW) Code of Ethics.  Our 
team comprised assurance practitioners and relevant subject matter experts. 

This report, including the conclusion, has been prepared solely for the Council of Governors 
of James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust as a body, the them in reporting 
James Paget University Hospitals Foundation Trust’s quality agenda, performance and 
activities.  We permit the disclosure of this report within the annual report for the year ended 
31 March 2017, to enable the Council of Governors to demonstrate they have discharged 
their governance responsibilities by commissioning an independent assurance report in 
connection with the indicators.  To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or 
assume responsibility to anyone other than the Council of Governors as a body and James 
Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust for our work in this report, except where 
terms are expressly agreed and with our prior consent in writing. 

Assurance work performed 

We conducted this limited assurance engagement in accordance with International Standard 
on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) Assurance Engagements other than Audits or 
Reviews of Historical Financial Information, issued by the International Auditing and 
Assurance Standards Board (‘ISAE 3000’).  Our limited assurance procedures included: 

 evaluating the design and implementation of the key processes and controls for
managing and reporting the indicators

 making enquiries of management

 testing key management controls

 limited testing, on a selective basis, of the data used to calculate the indicator back to
supporting documentation

 comparing the content requirements of the NHS foundation trust annual reporting
manual to the categories reported in the quality report

 reading the documents

A limited assurance engagement is smaller in scope than a reasonable assurance 
engagement.  The nature, timing and extent of procedures for gathering sufficient 
appropriate evidence are deliberately limited relative to a reasonable assurance 
engagement. 
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Limitations 

Non-financial performance information is subject to more inherent limitations than financial 
information, given the characteristics of the subject matter and the methods used for 
determining such information. 

The absence of a significant body of established practice on which to draw allows for the 
selection of different, but acceptable measurement techniques which can result in materially 
different measurements and can affect comparability.  The precision of different 
measurement techniques may also vary.  Furthermore, the nature and methods used to 
determine such information, as well as the measurement criteria and the precision of these 
criteria, may change over time.  It is important to read the quality report in the context of the 
criteria set out in the NHS foundation trust annual reporting manual and supporting 
guidance. 

The scope of our assurance work has not included governance over quality or non-
mandated indicators, which have been determined locally by James Paget University 
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust. 

Conclusion 

Based on the results of our procedures, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to 
believe that, for the year ended 31 March 2017: 

 the quality report is not prepared in all material aspects in line with the criteria set out
in the NHS foundation trust annual reporting manual and supporting guidance

 the quality report is not consistent in all material aspects with the sources specified in
NHS Improvement’s  Detailed requirements for external assurance for quality reports
for foundation trusts 2016/17

 the indicators in the quality report subject to limited assurance have not been
reasonably stated in all material respects in accordance with the NHS foundation
trust annual reporting manual and supporting guidance

KPMG LLP (UK) 
Dragonfly House,  
2 Gilders Way,  
Norwich, NR3 1UB 

22/05/2017 
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Statement of Accounting Officer's Responsibilities

-

- make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;

-

-

- prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis.

Chief Executive

22 May 2017

The accounting officer is responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy 

at any time the financial position of the James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust and to enable 

him/her to ensure that the accounts comply with requirements outlined in the above mentioned Act. The Accounting 

Officer is also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 

and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set out in Monitor's NHS 

Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum.

Statement of the Chief Executive's responsibilities as the Accounting Officer of the James 

Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

The NHS Act 2006 states that the chief executive is the accounting officer of the NHS foundation trust. The relevant 

responsibilities of the accounting officer, including their responsibility for the propriety and regularity of public finances 

for which they are answerable, and for the keeping of proper accounts, are set out in the NHS Foundation Trust 

Accounting Officer Memorandum issued by Monitor.

Under the NHS Act 2006, Monitor has directed James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust to prepare 

for each financial year a statement of accounts in the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. The 

accounts are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of James Paget 

University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust and of its income and expenditure, total recognised gains and losses and 

cash flows for the financial year.

In preparing the accounts, the Accounting Officer is required to comply with the requirements of the NHS Foundation 

Trust Annual Reporting Manual and in particular to:

observe the Accounts Direction issued by Monitor, including the relevant accounting and disclosure 

requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a consistent basis;

state whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual 

Reporting Manual have been followed, and disclose and explain any material departures in the financial 

statements;

ensure that the use of public funds complies with the relevant legislation, delegated authorities and 

guidance; and

James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
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Annual Governance Statement

Scope of responsibility

The purpose of the system of internal control

Capacity to handle risk

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

The Strategy also identifies individual Executive Directors, Deputy Directors, Divisional Directors, all managers and all 

employees and clearly defines their role and responsibilities within the risk management framework.  The Board of 

Directors has clearly articulated that it has no appetite to tolerate any extreme risks on the risk register and has 

developed the following Risk Appetite statement during 2016/17:  The Trust will not accept risks that materially impact 

on patient safety. However, the Trust has a greater appetite to take considered risks in terms of their impact on 

organisational issues. The Trust has greatest appetite to pursue innovation and challenge current working practices 

and reputational risk in terms of its willingness to take opportunities where positive gains can be anticipated, within the 

constraints of the regulatory environment.  Monthly reporting to the Board focusses on any extreme risks and the 

actions being taken to mitigate them.  The Trust’s Board Assurance Framework sets out the principal risks to delivery 

of its strategic objectives.  Regular review of the Board Assurance Framework is undertaken which includes an 

analysis of whether achievement of the strategic objectives is on track and if not, whether the Board has the appetite 

to re-focus priorities in order to ensure compliance.

Hospital Infection Control Committee;

Carer and Patient Experience Committee;

Divisional Boards; and

Divisional Governance Groups.

The Trust has a Clinical Quality Risk Assessment (CQRA) process in place to ensure that any new change project, 

whether arising from cost saving initiatives or otherwise, has been rigorously assessed for the impact on the quality of 

patient services.  All CQRAs are signed off by the Director of Nursing and Medical Director before changes are 

implemented.

Information Governance Committee;

As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal control that supports the 

achievement of the NHS foundation trust’s policies, aims and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and 

departmental assets for which I am personally responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me. I 

am also responsible for ensuring that the NHS foundation trust is administered prudently and economically and that 

resources are applied efficiently and effectively. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out in the NHS 

Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum.

The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to eliminate all risk of 

failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of 

effectiveness. The system of internal control is based on an on going process designed to identify and prioritise the 

risks to the achievement of the policies, aims and objectives of James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation 

Trust, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage 

them efficiently, effectively and economically. The system of internal control has been in place in James Paget 

University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust for the year ended 31 March 2017 and up to the date of approval of the 

annual report and accounts.

The Trust has in place a Risk Management Strategy which makes it clear that overall leadership and responsibility for 

risk management is placed with the Chief Executive. The Audit Committee receives reports and assurance from the 

directors and managers as appropriate, concentrating on the over arching systems of integrated governance, risk 

management and internal control, together with indicators of their effectiveness. In addition, responsibility for specific 

risk management areas has been assigned to the following key Committees and Groups;

Audit Committee;

Safety and Quality Governance Committee;

Finance, Performance and Strategic Planning Committee;

Transformation Board;

Patient Safety and Effectiveness Committee;

Health & Safety and Staff Welfare Committee;

Fraud Risk Group;

James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
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Annual Governance Statement
continued

The risk and control framework

-

-

-

Issues related to data security are monitored by the Information Governance Committee which also reports to the 

Safety and Quality Governance Committee, and reviews both risks and adverse incidents at every meeting.

There is an integrated reporting system, including the identification within all terms of reference of all 

committees, action groups and other working groups which require every type of risk and adverse event to be 

reported;

The Audit Committee and the Safety and Quality Governance Committee receive reports and instigate action to 

deal with risks which have been identified; and

There is a comprehensive corporate Risk Register which is presented at each meeting of the Board of Directors 

and all high and extreme risks and any changes to the risks within the register over the previous month are 

highlighted.

The Trust’s Board Assurance Framework sets out the principal risks to delivery of its strategic objectives. The 

Executive Director with delegated responsibility for managing and monitoring each risk is clearly identified. The Board 

Assurance Framework identifies the assurances available to the Board of Directors in relation to the achievement of 

the Trust's key priorities and objectives. The principal risks to the delivery of these objectives are mapped to key 

controls. The Board of Directors requires both the assurance that the Board Assurance Framework identifies those 

actions required to address gaps in control and assurance, and the development and implementation of action plans.

Risk appetite and tolerance of risk is determined via a risk estimation matrix which has been developed for use 

throughout the Trust for identifying risks, maintaining progress and monitoring the risk register and plans. The Trust’s 

risk management approach establishes the appetite for risk, and also determines whether risks are to be accepted or 

not.  Where it is determined that risks are to be managed,  priorities are assigned with resources and timescales for 

remedial action.  The full risk register is available to the Board of Directors at each meeting. The Safety and Quality 

Governance Committee reviews all high and extreme risks at each meeting and approves all additions, closures and 

amendments to the corporate risk register. The Audit Committee reviews and receives assurance at each meeting 

from the relevant Executive Director in relation to their key risks to their portfolio annually on a rolling basis.

The Board of Directors has delegated responsibility to the Audit Committee for monitoring and reviewing risk 

processes. Other key features include:

A range of risk management training is provided to staff and there are policies in place to describe their roles and 

responsibilities in relation to the identification and management of risk.  The Trust also records and manages risks 

using a computer software package called Safeguard, specifically designed to record and track progress of risks 

electronically in real time and nominated key staff are responsible for ensuring this system is kept up to date.   An 

introduction to the Safeguard incident reporting system is provided for staff at induction together with information on 

what should be reported and when.  This is supplemented by bespoke training sessions for individuals, departments 

and staff groups upon request or if deemed necessary following incidents.  Periodically awareness raising is also 

undertaken in relation to incident reporting including when new national guidance is issued, such as for Never Events.  

All incidents are fully investigated and ways to cascade the learning are included in action plans signed off and 

monitored at Divisional level.  During the year, the Trust continued to provide bespoke training sessions on Root 

Cause Analysis investigation for staff.  

All relevant policies are available on the Trust's intranet. Written guidelines are also disseminated, covering all 

components of risk management.

The Trust had an announced re-inspection by the Care Quality Commission (CQC) in August 2016 resulting in a 

'Good' rating overall.  This was in line with the predicted outcome based upon the quality assurance framework in 

place.  The two Requirement Notices issued by the CQC following its inspection in August 2015 were lifted and all 

core services were rated as 'Good', including end of life care and surgery where the Trust was previously rated as 

“requires improvement.” 

The James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust has an integrated Risk Management and Assurance 

Strategy in place which is reviewed by the Audit Committee and the Safety and Quality Governance Committee. The 

Risk Management and Assurance Strategy and associated policies set out the key responsibilities for managing risk 

within the organisation, including the ways in which the risk is identified, evaluated, updated and controlled.

All staff are responsible for responding to incidents, hazards, complaints and near misses in accordance with the 

appropriate policies. Local Clinical Governance and Risk Groups are responsible for identifying and managing local 

risks and overseeing the management of adverse incidents. Management teams are responsible for reviewing risk 

action plans and ensuring they are implemented through business planning and other established routes.
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Annual Governance Statement
continued

-

-

-

- Joint working with other Trusts i.e. Norfolk & Norwich University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, 

East of England Ambulance Service NHS Trust, Norfolk and Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust and East 

Coast Community Health Community Interest Company.

There are Foundation Trust meetings at all levels with members of the Clinical Commissioning Group 

at which risk is assessed;

Health Overview and Scrutiny Committees;

Partnership working with Social Services; and

Public Stakeholders are involved in managing risk which impacts on them, for example:

The following are the extreme risks identified by the Foundation Trust together with the key mitigations in place.

Risk Mitigation

Delivery of the Trust's £14.2m 

savings programme - a 

challenging target and the fifth 

consecutive year of heightened 

levels of savings. 

Transformation Board and Executive led Programme Boards.

Robust plans at programme and project level.  Use of tools provided by NHS 

Improvement (NHSI) to ensure all potential schemes are explored.  All 

schemes re-reviewed and Red, Amber, Green (RAG) rated in terms of 

deliverability.

Transformation Board meeting in early October to challenge all plans and 

bridging the gap.  Internal Audit follow up review demonstrated significant 

improvement in governance to ensure delivery of plan and appropriate 

reporting.

Risk to achievement of A&E 4 

hour access standard and 

Seasonal Resilience Plan may 

fail to deliver required changes 

due to:

- Increasing demand (6.61% 

increase in A&E attendances 

year to date)

- Reducing community capacity 

(closure of Patrick Stead 

Hospital, Discharge to Assess 

and Beds with Care plus 

closure of Greyfriars).

Review of bed base and  implementation of additional winter ward of 20 beds.  

Escalation plan in place aligned to OPEL categorisation.  Continued 

collaboration with community, primary care and social care partners.  

Exploring discharge to assess model with beds in the community. ‘Perfect 

Week’ reset at the beginning of April 2017.

Potential lack of in-patient 

capacity (emergency and 

elective):

- Leading to delays in admitting 

patients (emergency and 

elective) and risks associated 

with staffing as increasing 

levels of capacity are opened.

- First stage escalation beds 

full.

- Second stage escalation beds 

full.

- Third stage escalation beds 

full.

Open designated escalation beds on authority of Manager of the day or on-call 

Manager.

Open designated second level escalation beds on authority of Chief Operating 

Officer (COO) or Executive on call; to only be considered at OPEL 2/3.

Liaison with nursing leadership to ensure appropriate ward staffing to support 

care needs of patients.

Open designated third level escalation beds on joint authority of Chief 

Executive Officer (CEO) / Director of Nursing (DoN) / COO to avoid 12 hour 

Decision to Admit (DTA) breaches in the Emergency Department (ED). To be 

considered at OPEL 4 and above and requires calling a Business Continuity 

Incident (Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response (EPRR) level 

2).

Risk management is embedded throughout the organisation at every level. The Trust also records and manages 

incidents using the computer software package Safeguard, specifically designed to record and track progress of 

incidents electronically in real time and nominated key staff are responsible for ensuring this system is kept up to date.  

As described above, there is an extensive training and awareness programme in place which has fostered a culture 

where incident reporting is encouraged.  The Trust reported 37 Serious Incidents during 2016/17 (2015/16 - 46), all of 

which were subject to full root cause analysis investigation and actions have been taken to prevent recurrence.  

Further detail can be found in the Trust's Quality Report.  The most recent report from the National Reporting and 

Learning System (NRLS) shows that for incidents reported between 1 April 2016 and 30 September 2016 the Trust 

sits in the top 50% of reporters for all acute (non-specialist) trusts. This is an excellent achievement and has been 

made possible through raising awareness of what constitutes a Patient Safety Incident (PSI) and monthly monitoring of 

what has or, more importantly, has not been submitted as a PSI.

James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

Financial Statements for the year ended 31st March 2017 Page 5



Annual Governance Statement
continued

Review of economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the use of resources

Information Governance

The Foundation Trust is fully compliant with the registration requirements of the Care Quality Commission.

As an employer with staff entitled to membership of the NHS Pension Scheme, control measures are in place to 

ensure all employer obligations contained within the Scheme regulations are complied with. This includes ensuring 

that deductions from salary, employer’s contributions and payments into the Scheme are in accordance with the 

Scheme rules, and that member Pension Scheme records are accurately updated in accordance with the timescales 

detailed in the Regulations.

Control measures are in place to ensure that all the organisation’s obligations under equality, diversity and human 

rights legislation are complied with.

The foundation trust has undertaken risk assessments and Carbon Reduction Delivery Plans are in place in 

accordance with emergency preparedness and civil contingency requirements, as based on UK Climate Impacts 

Program (UKCIP) 2009 weather projects, to ensure that this organisation’s obligations under the Climate Change Act 

and the Adaptation Reporting requirements are complied with.

This incident was reported to the Information Commissioner's Office (ICO), although no further action was taken as it 

did not meet the criteria set out in the ICO's Data Protection Regulatory Action Policy.

The internal audit work methodology highlights areas as advisory where inefficiencies or good practice have been 

identified.  

The Trust has in place a Local Counter Fraud Specialist whose work plan includes providing information to and 

engaging with staff, prevention through the work of the Fraud Risk Group, including fraud specific risk assessments, 

and holding to account through investigations. The Counter Fraud Standards Self Review Toolkit has been reviewed 

and an overall return was scored as green with no standards being assessed as red and four as amber out of a total of 

twenty four.

The Trust’s transformation methodology and approach identifies and highlights any potential for the furtherance of 

economy, efficiency and effectiveness and is balanced and further assured through the clinical quality risk assessment 

process. 

The Board of Directors has also received assurances on the use of resources from agencies outside the Trust 

including NHSI. NHSI requires the Board of Directors to self-assess, and scores the Trust in accordance with the 

Single Oversight Framework.  Other assurances sought during the year have included reviews conducted by Royal 

Colleges, the Improvement and Support Team, and the Lean Enterprise Academy.

The Trust further obtains assurance of its systems and processes and tests efficiency through benchmarking by 

membership of NHS Providers where other NHS Foundation Trusts share good practice.  Also, the Trust continues to 

participate in the nationally mandated reference cost collection exercise which, amongst other purposes, provides 

information on the relative efficiency and assessment of productivity.  2015/16 reference cost data was published 

during the year in which the Trust achieved a reference cost score of 98, indicating an overall 2% cost efficiency below 

the national average.

NHSI's drive to implement the recommendations from Lord Carter of Coles report on unwarranted variation provides 

another source of benchmarking assurance.  The Trust has in place governance arrangements to oversee internal 

projects to implement recommendations as and when new information is released to the Model Hospital portal.

The Board of Directors receives a monthly report of Care Hours per Patient Day (CHPPD) actual versus required, 

which reflects nursing hours only.  This is one of many tools utilised by the Board to monitor safe staffing levels across 

all areas of the Trust.

During the year 2016/17 the Trust had one serious incident relating to information governance, data loss and 

confidentiality breach.  Four clinical handover sheets had been found in a dustbin at a recently vacated rental property, 

where the previous tenant of the property was an employee of the Trust.  The paper based handover sheets containing 

30 individuals with identifiable data was recovered from the property and handed back to the Trust soon after it was 

discovered.
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Annual Governance Statement
continued

Annual Quality Report

-

-

-

-

-

Review of effectiveness

The Board receives monthly performance reports on quality as well as patient access targets.  There is a data quality 

framework associated with each key performance indicator, and the Board also receives detailed quality and safety 

reports monthly.

The directors confirm to the best of their knowledge and belief that they have complied with the above requirements in 

preparing the Trust's Quality Report.

As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal control. My review 

of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of the internal auditors, clinical audit and 

the executive managers and clinical leads within the NHS Foundation Trust who have responsibility for the 

development and maintenance of the internal control framework. I have drawn on the content of the Quality Report 

attached to this Annual Report and other performance information available to me. My review is also informed by 

comments made by the external auditors in their management letter and other reports. I have been advised on the 

implications of the result of my review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control by the Board, the Audit 

Committee, Safety and Quality Governance Committee and Finance, Performance and Strategic Planning Committee 

and a plan to address weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of the system is in place.

My review is also informed through confirmation by NHS Improvement via monthly monitoring on the Trust’s 

compliance with its Single Oversight  Framework.  Since its introduction on 1 October 2016, the Trust has been 

classified as being within segment 2.

the Quality Report has been prepared in accordance with relevant requirements and guidance issued 

by NHS Improvement.

To satisfy these requirements the Safety and Quality Governance Committee reviews a draft Quality Report where 

there is the opportunity to shape the content and detail.  The Trust's external auditors are also involved in reviewing 

each formal draft and their comments are acted upon.  The content and style is adapted each year based upon 

feedback from users and other stakeholders including Governors and commissioners to ensure a balanced view is 

presented.

The systems in place to collect and report on quality metrics culminate in a detailed performance, quality and safety 

report which is presented at each public Board meeting.  Each key performance indicator (KPI) that the Board monitor 

is assigned to a committee of the Board whose work plan is shaped around the key risks and these KPIs.  There are 

monthly performance meetings between the Executive and Divisional Management focussing on quality and 

performance metrics.  Reporting by clinical divisions on a bi-monthly basis to Patient Safety and Effectiveness 

Committee, Health & Safety and Staff Welfare Committee, and the Carer and Patient Experience Committee also 

maintains oversight of the key priorities for Quality as per the Quality Report.

The Trust has developed a Quality Strategy for 2014 – 17 which is aligned to the Trust’s over-arching strategy.  The 

key priorities for quality each year are designed to deliver the aims of the Quality Strategy and divisional reporting to 

the executive committees is designed to demonstrate progress with achievement of these aims and objectives.  A 

suite of policy documents are in place and available to staff via the Trust intranet to support delivery of the Trust’s 

Quality Strategy.

the data underpinning the measures of performance reported in the Quality Report is robust and 

reliable, conforms to specified data quality standards and prescribed definitions, and is subject to 

appropriate scrutiny and review; and 

there are proper internal controls over the collection and reporting of the measures of performance 

included in the Quality Report, and these controls are subject to review to confirm that they are 

working effectively in practice;

The directors are required under the Health Act 2009 and the National Health Service (Quality Accounts) Regulations 

2010 (as amended) to prepare Quality Accounts for each financial year. NHSI (in exercise of the powers conferred on 

Monitor) has issued guidance to NHS foundation trust boards on the form and content of annual Quality Reports which 

incorporate the above legal requirements in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual.

In preparing these accounts, directors are required to take steps to satisfy themselves that: 

the Quality Report presents a balanced picture of the NHS Foundation Trust’s performance over the 

period covered; 

the performance information reported in the Quality Report is reliable and accurate;
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Annual Governance Statement
continued

The Trust has achieved the control total target allocated to it by NHSI for the financial year 2016/17.

The Trust has a well developed Clinical Audit Forward Plan which is based upon prioritised audits to ensure national 

recommendations are embedded as well as the learning from significant events.  The Clinical Audit Forward Plan has 

been monitored by the Board of Directors and has remained on track throughout the year.

During 2016/17 the Trust experienced continued difficulties in reaching agreement with its main commissioner over the 

value of the contract for healthcare services.  This represented heightened financial governance risk to the Trust for a 

proportion of the financial year including significant cash flow risks.  Mitigation of the cash flow risk was only achieved 

after intervention by the commissioner's regulator.  Resolution of the dispute came after a process of expert 

determination.

The Trust previously commissioned KPMG to conduct a governance review which considered similar key lines of 

enquiry to those detailed in Monitor’s well-led framework.  This work was completed in February 2012 with follow up by 

KPMG of the recommendations in May and October 2012.  Since that time the Trust has conducted an annual self-

assessment utilising Monitor’s Quality Governance Framework.  A further self-assessment at divisional level has also 

now been undertaken led by each Divisional Board.  This work, together with the outcome of the Care Quality 

Commission inspection in August 2015 and discussions with the Council of Governors, framed the scope for the Well-

Led review that was undertaken during the autumn of 2016 following issue of an Invitation to Tender.

The review, whilst resource intensive, was a very useful process enabling reflection on current practice and discussion 

with external governance experts. It involved one to one interviews, focus groups with staff, Governors and patients, 

and observation of Board and Committee meetings. The outcome was largely very positive, with some areas for 

improvement for consideration focused on the two main areas of Divisional governance and stakeholder engagement.

The Trust has no reason to believe that there have been any events during Quarter 4 that will significantly worsen or 

improve its segmentation.

The Board of Directors reviewed the 2016/17 Board Assurance Framework throughout the year. The Board of 

Directors has received regular reports on risk management, performance management and clinical governance.

The Audit Committee has provided the Board of Directors with an independent and objective review of financial and 

corporate governance and internal financial control within the Trust. The Committee has received reports from external 

and internal audit. Internal audit has reviewed and reported upon control, governance and risk management 

processes, based on an audit plan approved by the Committee.  The work included identifying and evaluating controls 

and testing their effectiveness, in accordance with Public Sector Internal Audit Standards. When scope for 

improvement was found, recommendations were made and appropriate action plans were agreed with management.

The internal audit programme was developed by the Trust's internal auditors on a risk based approach in consultation 

with the Trust's Executive Team and Audit Committee.  The internal audit programme involved reviews in areas 

considered by the Trust to be higher risk, including operational areas which had not previously been audited and from 

which the Trust would gain the most value from the audit work.  As well as approving this plan, the Audit Committee 

has also received a report detailing the alternative sources of assurance on the risks not covered by the internal audit 

programme.

An internal audit review into mortality resulted in a high risk classification overall.  Trust management has 

acknowledged these audit findings and has either already addressed, or have plans to address these during 2017.   

An internal audit review into Consultant job planning also received an overall report classification of high risk.  Again, 

the Trust acknowledged the findings and is in the process of implementing the associated recommendations. The 

internal audit review of key financial controls was split into different areas with no overall rating given; the individual 

rating for Accounts Payable was medium risk, with other areas rated as low risk.  In all other 2016/17 reviews, internal 

audit reported overall risk ratings as low risk.  All action plans are monitored by the Trust’s Audit Committee to ensure 

actions are taken within the agreed timescales.

Follow up reviews of two high risk rated internal audits carried out in 2015/16 reported that in both cases the risk rating 

was reduced to low risk overall.
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Annual Governance Statement
continued

Conclusion

Chief Executive

22 May 2017

As described throughout the governance statement above, the Trust is aware of its significant internal control issues 

and the Board has responded to all the final reports issued and has developed action plans with clear ownership of the 

issues together with its monthly review of governance. An action plan to address the Consultant job planning issues is 

currently being developed, whilst an action plan to address the mortality issues is already in place and will be 

implemented during 2017.

I believe this to be a balanced statement of the governance arrangements within the Trust during 2016/17.

Internal Audit have completed their program of internal audit work for the year ended 31 March 2017. Their work 

identified low, moderate and high rated findings.  Based on the work they have completed, the main opinion of Internal 

Audit is "Generally satisfactory with some improvements required". Governance arrangements, risk management 

processes and internal controls in relation to business critical areas are generally satisfactory. However, there are 

some areas of weakness and non-compliance in the framework of governance, risk management and control which 

potentially put the achievement of objectives at risk. Some improvements are required in those areas to enhance the 

adequacy and effectiveness of the framework of governance, risk management and control. In relation to mortality 

review and Consultant job planning there are weaknesses which could put the achievement of organisational 

objectives at risk.
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Independent Auditor's Report to the Council of Governors

of James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

O 

1. Our opinion on the 
financial statements is 
unmodified 

We have audited the financial 
statements of James Paget 
University Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust for the year 
ended 31 March 2017 set out on 
pages 15 to 48. In our opinion: 

— the financial statements give 
a true and fair view of the 
state of the Trust’s affairs as 
at 31 March 2017 and of the 
Trust’s income and 
expenditure for the year then 
ended; and 

— the Trust’s financial 
statements have been 
properly prepared in 
accordance with the 
Department of Health’s Group 
Accounting Manual 2016/17. 

Opinions and conclusions 
arising from our audit 

O 

Overview

KPMG LLP first appointed for 2016/17

Materiality

Group financial 

statements 

taken as a 

whole

£2.7m

1.5% of income from 

operations

Risks of material misstatement                

Recurring 

risks

Valuation of land 

and buildings

Recognition of NHS 

and non-NHS 

income

James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
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Independent Auditor's Report to the Council of Governors

of James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

O 

O 

2. Our assessment of risks of material misstatement 

In arriving at our audit opinion above on the financial statements, the risks of material misstatement that had 
the greatest effect on our audit, in decreasing order of audit significance, were as follows: 

The risk Our response

Property,

plant and 

equipment

Property, plant

and 

equipment: 

£54 million; 

2015/16: £59 

million) – of 

which £42 

million; 

2015/16: £47 

million relate 

to land and 

buildings.

Refer to page 

22 (accounting 

policy) and 

pages 37  to 

38 (financial 

disclosures).

Valuation of land and buildings:

Land and buildings are required to be held at fair value. 

The Group’s main land and buildings relate to the main 

James Paget Hospital site at Lowestoft Road, Gorleston.

As hospital buildings are specialised assets and there is 

not an active market for them they are valued on the 

basis of the cost to replace them with an equivalent 

asset. 

When considering the cost to build a replacement asset 

the Trust may consider whether the asset would be built 

to the same specification or in the same location. 

Assumptions about changes to the asset must be 

realistic.

In 2016, the Trust’s land and buildings were revalued by

the Trust’s external valuer, Montagu Evans LLP, on the 

basis of an alternative site depreciated cost of a modern 

equivalent asset.

In 2017, Montagu Evans LLP undertook a desk based 

interim valuation to revalue the land and buildings.

Valuations are inherently judgmental, therefore our work 

focused on whether the valuer's methodology, 

assumptions and underlying data, are appropriate and 

correctly applied.

Our procedures included:

— Review of asset specification: We 

checked that the estate base data 

provided to the valuer, in terms of 

location, use and site area, was 

consistent with a sample of the estate 

records held by the Trust; 

— Review of the Trust’s valuer: We 

considered the scope, qualifications and 

experience of Montagu Evans LLP, the 

Trust's valuer, and the overall 

methodology of the external valuation 

performed to identify whether the 

approach was in line with industry 

practice and the valuer was appropriately 

experienced and qualified to undertake 

the valuation; and

— Review of valuation: We assessed the 

assumptions used in preparing the 

valuation completed of the Trust’s land 

and buildings by comparing to our own 

expectations based on our knowledge of 

the client and experience of the industry 

in which it operates to ensure they were 

appropriate.

NHS and 

non-NHS 

income and 

receivables

Income: £192 

million; 

2015/16: £179

million.

Receivables: 

£13 million; 

2015/16: £16

million. 

Refer to page 

21 (accounting 

policy) and 

page 28 

(financial 

disclosures).

Recognition of NHS and non-NHS income:

£166 million (87%) of the Trust’s income came from 

commissioners (Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) 

and NHS England). The majority of this income is 

contracted on an annual basis, however actual 

achievement is based on completing the planned level of 

activity and achieving key performance indicators (KPIs).  

If the Trust does not meet its contracted KPIs then 

commissioners are able to impose fines, reducing the 

level of income achievement.

In 2016/17, the Trust received transformation funding 

from NHS Improvement. This is received subject to 

achieving defined financial and operational targets on a 

quarterly basis. The Trust was allocated £6.5 million of 

transformation funding. 

There is a risk providers recognise income to which they 

are not entitled and that cannot be supported by actual 

activity levels undertaken during the year.  Insufficient 

provision may be made for potential fines levied by 

commissioners, especially where agreement has not 

been reached during the year

An agreement of balances exercise is undertaken 

between all NHS bodies to agree the value of 

transactions during the year and the amounts owed at 

the year end. ‘Mismatch’ reports are available setting out 

discrepancies between the submitted balances from 

each party in transactions and variances over £250,000 

are required to be reported to the National Audit Office to 

inform the audit of the Department of Health 

consolidated accounts.

The Trust reported income of £20 million from other 

activities, primarily education and training, research and 

development, or other activities. There is a greater risk 

that the income has not been recognised under the 

accruals basis, and instead on a cash basis.

Our procedures included: 

— Contract agreement: We confirmed that 

signed contracts were in place for the 

four largest commissioners of the Trust;

— Agreement of balances: We obtained

the outcome of the agreement of 

balances exercise with other NHS bodies. 

Where there were mismatches over 

£250,000 we sought explanations and 

supporting evidence from the directors of 

the level of income they were entitled to;

— Transformation funding: We checked 

the Trust’s performance against targets 

used in determining receipt of 

transformation funding against the Trust’s 

management information. We re-

performed the calculation of the funding 

payable and agreed this to the amount 

recorded in the accounts; and

— Other income: We tested a sample of 

income from other activities to supporting 

documentation and/or cash receipts.
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Independent Auditor's Report to the Council of Governors

of James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
continued

5.   We have nothing to report in respect of the 
matters on which we are required to report by 
exception 

We are required to report to you if, based on the 
knowledge we acquired during our audit, we have 
identified other information in the Annual Report that 
contains a material inconsistency with either that 
knowledge or the financial statements, a material 
misstatement of fact, or that is otherwise misleading. 

In particular, we are required to report to you if: 

we have identified material inconsistencies between 
the knowledge we acquired during our audit and the 
directors’ statement that they consider that the Annual 
Report and financial statements taken as a whole is 
fair, balanced and understandable; or 

the Audit Committee’s commentary on the Annual 
Report does not appropriately address matters 
communicated by us to the Audit Committee. 

Under the Code of Audit Practice we are required to report 
to you if, in our opinion: 

─ the Annual Governance Statement does not reflect the 
disclosure requirements set out in the NHS Foundation 
Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2016/17, is misleading or 
is not consistent with our knowledge of the Trust and 
other information of which we are aware from our audit of 
the financial statements. 

─ the Trust has not made proper arrangement for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources. 

 

In addition we are required to report to you if: 

─ any reports to the regulator have been made under 
Schedule 10(6) of the National Health Service Act 2006. 

─ any matters have been reported in the public interest 
under Schedule 10(3) of the National Health Service Act 
2006 in the course of, or at the end of the audit. 

We have nothing to report in respect of the above 
responsibilities.  

 
 
6. We have completed our audit 

We certify that we have completed the audit of the 
accounts of James Paget University Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust in accordance with the requirements of 
Schedule 10 of the National Health Service Act 2006 and 
the Code of Audit Practice issued by the National Audit 
Office. 

 

4. Our opinion on other matters prescribed by the 
Code of Audit Practice is unmodified 

In our opinion: 

─ the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to 
be audited has been properly prepared in 
accordance with the NHS Foundation Trust 
Annual Reporting Manual 2016/17; and 

─ the information given in the Annual Report for the 
financial year for which the financial statements 
are prepared is consistent with the financial 
statements. 

3. Our application of materiality and an

overview of the scope of our audit

The materiality for the financial statements 

was set at £2.7 million, determined with 

reference to a benchmark of income from 

operations (of which it represents 

approximately 1.5%). We consider income 

from operations to be more stable than a 

surplus-related benchmark. We report to 

the Audit Committee any corrected and 

uncorrected identified misstatements 

exceeding £135,000, in addition to other 

identified misstatements that warrant 

reporting on qualitative grounds.  

The Group comprises the Trust and it’s 

charity (James Paget University Hospitals 

Charitable Fund).  In auditing the Group 

financial statements a materiality has been 

set for the Trust and Charity based on 

Group materiality

James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
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Independent Auditor's Report to the Council of Governors

of James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
continued

Scope and responsibilities 
As described more fully in the Statement of Accounting 
Officer’s Responsibilities on page 2 the accounting officer 
is responsible for the preparation of financial statements 
that give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit, 
and express an opinion on, the financial statements in 
accordance with applicable law and International 
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards 
require us to comply with the UK Ethical Standards for 
Auditors. A description of the scope of an audit of 
financial statements is provided on our website at 
www.kpmg.com/uk/auditscopeother2014.  This report is 
made subject to important explanations regarding our 
responsibilities, as published on that website, which are 
incorporated into this report as if set out in full and should 
be read to provide an understanding of the purpose of 
this report, the work we have undertaken and the basis of 
our opinions. 

The Trust is responsible for putting in place proper 
arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources. Under Section 62(1) 
and Schedule 10 paragraph 1(d), of the National Health 
Service Act 2006 we have a duty to satisfy ourselves that 
the Trust has made proper arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources. We are not required to consider, nor have we 
considered, whether all aspects of the Trust’s 
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources are operating 
effectively. We have undertaken our review in 
accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having 
regard to the specified criterion issued by the Comptroller 
and  Auditor General, as to whether the Trust has proper 
arrangements to ensure it took properly informed 
decisions and deployed resources to achieve planned 
and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local 
people. We planned our work in accordance with the 
Code of Audit Practice. Based on our risk assessment, 
we undertook such work as we considered necessary. 
. 

This report is made solely to the Council of 
Governors of the Trust, as a body, in accordance 
with Schedule 10 of the National Health Service Act 
2006.  Our audit work has been undertaken so that 
we might state to the Council of Governors of the 
Trust, as a body, those matters we are required to 
state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other 
purpose.  To the fullest extent permitted by law, we 
do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone 
other than the Council of Governors of the Trust  as 
a body, for our audit work, for this report or for the 
opinions we have formed. 

Stephanie Beavis 
 for and on behalf of KPMG LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditor 
Dragonfly House, 2 Guilders Way, Norwich, Norfolk, 
NR3 1UB 

23 May 2017 

James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

Financial Statements for the year ended 31st March 2017 Page 13



Foreword to the Accounts

James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

Chief Executive

22 May 2017

These accounts for the year ended 31 March 2017 have been prepared by the James Paget University Hospitals NHS 

Foundation Trust in accordance with paragraphs 24 and 25 of schedule 7 to the National Health Service Act 2006 and 

are presented to Parliament pursuant to Schedule 7, paragraph 25 (4) (a) of the National Health Service Act 2006.
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Statement of Comprehensive Income
Group Group Trust Trust

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended

31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 

2017 2016 2017 2016

Note £ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000

Operating income from continuing operations 4.2 192,044 179,258 191,917 179,258

Operating expenses of continuing operations 5 (194,593) (197,139) (194,316) (196,434)

Operating (deficit) (2,549) (17,881) (2,399) (17,176)

Finance costs

Finance income 8 121 179 27 87

Finance expense - financial liabilities 9 (29) (22) (29) (22)

21.1 (27) (26) (27) (26)

Public Dividend Capital - dividends payable (1,680) (1,850) (1,680) (1,850)

Net finance costs (1,615) (1,719) (1,709) (1,811)

95 (10) 95 (10)

(Deficit) for the year (4,069) (19,610) (4,013) (18,997)

Other comprehensive income

Impairments (59) (5,188) (59) (5,188)

Revaluations 213 239 213 239

363 (98) - - 

Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the year (3,552) (24,657) (3,859) (23,946)

Note to statement of comprehensive income/(expense)

Total comprehensive income/(expense) as above (3,552) (24,657) (3,859) (23,946)

a (517) 5,047 (154) 4,949

(4,069) (19,610) (4,013) (18,997)

b 6,590 12,470 6,590 12,470

Surplus/(deficit) excluding impairments 2,521 (7,140) 2,577 (6,527)

Less other non-operating income c (6,532) (1,500) (6,532) (1,500)

Net underlying Surplus/(Deficit) d (4,011) (8,640) (3,955) (8,027)

a This is the total of the three items shown in other comprehensive income.

b This is the total of impairments and impairment reversals charged to expenditure (note 10).

c This is the non recurrent sustainability and transformation fund income received by the Trust in 2016/17.

d

The notes on pages 19 to 48 form part of these accounts.

The net underlying deficit for the organisation excluding adjustments for non-recurrent impairment charges 

and STF income.

Finance expense - unwinding of discount on 

provisions

All income and expenditure is derived from continuing operations, and all surplus and comprehensive income / 

expense is attributable to the owners of the parent.

Fair Value gains/(losses) on Available-for-sale financial 

investments

Gains/(losses) of disposal of assets

Less reserve movements in other comprehensive 

income/(expense)

Add back in year impairments and reversals of 

impairments included in deficit above (note 10)

Total comprehensive income/(expense) before reserve 

movements
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Statement of Financial Position
Group Group Trust Trust

As at As at As at As at

31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 

2017 2016 2017 2016

Note £ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000 

Non-current assets

Intangible assets 12 3,003 4,767 3,003 4,767

Property, plant and equipment 13 53,896 59,138 53,896 59,138

Other investments 13.5 3,151 2,715 - - 

Trade and other receivables 15.2 220 336 220 336

Total non-current assets 60,270 66,956 57,119 64,241

Current assets

Inventories 14.1 2,632 2,771 2,632 2,771

Trade and other receivables 15.1 12,849 15,686 12,903 16,135

Cash and cash equivalents 16 12,718 12,318 11,617 10,874

Total current assets 28,199 30,775 27,152 29,780

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 17.1 (15,200) (17,141) (14,912) (17,034)

Borrowings 19.1 (322) (143) (322) (143)

Provisions 21.1 (1,414) (2,956) (1,414) (2,956)

Other liabilities 18.1 (772) (3,764) (772) (3,764)

Total current liabilities (17,708) (24,004) (17,420) (23,897)

Total assets less current liabilities 70,761 73,727 66,851 70,124

Non-current liabilities

Trade and other payables 17.2 (6) (120) (6) (120)

Borrowings 19.2 (1,925) (992) (1,925) (992)

Provisions 21.3 (1,608) (1,840) (1,608) (1,840)

Total non-current liabilities (3,539) (2,952) (3,539) (2,952)

Total assets employed 67,222 70,775 63,312 67,172

Financed by taxpayers' and others' equity

Charitable funds reserves 3,910 3,603 - - 

Public dividend capital 47,829 47,829 47,829 47,829

Revaluation reserve 22 2,843 2,689 2,843 2,689

Income and expenditure reserve 12,640 16,653 12,640 16,653

Total taxpayers' and others' equity 67,222 70,775 63,312 67,172

Chief Executive   Director of Finance

The financial statements on pages 14 to 48 were approved by the Board on 22 May 2017 and signed on its behalf

by:
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Taxpayers' Equity

Public Income and Charitable

Dividend Revaluation Expenditure Trust Funds Group

Capital Reserve Reserve Total Reserves Total

£ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000

Taxpayers' equity at 1 April 2016 47,829 2,689 16,653 67,172 3,603 70,775

Surplus/(Deficit) for the year - - (5,211) (5,211) 1,142 (4,069)

Impairments - (59) - (59) - (59)

Revaluations - property, plant and equipment - 213 - 213 - 213

- - - - 363 363

Other - charitable funds consolidation 

adjustment

- - 1,198 1,198 (1,198) - 

Taxpayers' equity at 31 March 2017 47,829 2,843 12,640 63,312 3,910 67,222

49,306 7,638 35,650 92,594 4,314 96,908

Surplus/(Deficit) for the year - - (18,997) (18,997) (613) (19,610)

Impairments - (5,188) - (5,188) - (5,188)

Revaluations - property, plant and equipment - 239 - 239 - 239

- - - - (98) (98)

Public Dividend Capital received 23 - - 23 - 23

Public Dividend Capital repaid (1,500) - - (1,500) - (1,500)

Taxpayers' equity at 31 March 2016 47,829 2,689 16,653 67,172 3,603 70,775

Fair Value gains/(losses) on Available-for-

sale financial investments

Taxpayers' equity at 1 April 2015 as 

previously stated

Fair Value gains/(losses) on Available-for-

sale financial investments
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Group Group Trust Trust

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended

31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 

2017 2016 2017 2016

£ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000

Cash flows from operating activities

Operating (deficit) from continuing operations (2,549) (17,881) (2,399) (17,176)

Operating surplus (2,549) (17,881) (2,399) (17,176)

Non-cash income and expense:

Depreciation and amortisation 4,884 4,436 4,884 4,436

Impairments 6,590 12,470 6,590 12,470

Sales of property, plant and equipment 186 - 186 - 

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables 2,679 (5,671) 3,128 (6,109)

(Increase)/decrease in Inventories 139 (62) 139 (62)

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables (1,091) (3,825) (1,091) (3,825)

Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities (2,992) 1,714 (2,992) 1,714

Increase/(decrease) in provisions (1,801) 1,249 (1,801) 1,249

257 34 - - 

Net cash generated from operating activities 6,302 (7,535) 6,644 (7,303)

Cash flows from investing activities:

Interest received 30 89 30 89

Purchase of intangible assets (389) (1,440) (389) (1,440)

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (3,921) (8,869) (3,920) (8,869)

Net cash (used in) investing activities (4,280) (10,219) (4,279) (10,219)

Cash flows from financing activities:

Public dividend capital received - 23 - 23

Public dividend capital repaid - (1,500) - (1,500)

Loans repaid (11) (32) (11) (32)

Capital element of finance lease rental payments (116) (143) (116) (143)

Interest element of finance lease (29) (22) (29) (22)

PDC Dividend paid (1,466) (2,045) (1,466) (2,045)

Net cash (used in) financing activities (1,622) (3,719) (1,622) (3,719)

Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 400 (21,472) 743 (21,240)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April 12,318 33,790 10,874 32,114

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 12,718 12,318 11,617 10,874

NHS Charitable Funds - net adjustments for working capital 

movements, non-cash transactions and non-operating cash flows
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Notes to the Accounts

1 Significant Accounting policies and other information

1.1.1 Basis of preparation

1.1.2 Accounting convention

1.1.3 New and revised IFRSs applied in the current year

1.1.4 New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective

-

-

-

-

1.1.5 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty 

1.1.6 Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

-

-

-

-

The Trust has used component lives based on historic data provided by the District Valuer to depreciate 

building and dwellings on a component basis. 

 The Trust has estimated the provisions for pensions relating to former staff using estimates provided by 

the NHS Pensions Agency provided at the time of the member's early retirement. These are updated if 

the member dies or if it becomes apparent that the provision is not sufficient to meet the liability.

 The Trust has estimated the provisions for pensions relating to former staff using estimates provided by 

the NHS Pensions Agency provided at the time of the member's early retirement. These are updated if 

the member dies or if it becomes apparent that the provision is not sufficient to meet the liability.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers  

IFRS 16 Leases 

IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration 

In the application of the Trust’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates 

and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other 

sources.  The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that 

are considered to be relevant.  Actual results may differ from those estimates and the estimates and 

underlying assumptions are continually reviewed.  Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the 

period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and 

future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below) that management 

has made in the process of applying the Trust’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect 

on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.

 The Trust does not have any contractual arrangements that contain material embedded leases that are 

required to be capitalised under IFRIC 4.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

NHS Improvement, in exercising the statutory functions conferred on Monitor, is responsible for issuing an 

accounts direction to NHS foundation trusts under the NHS Act 2006. NHS Improvement has directed that the 

financial statements of NHS foundation trusts shall meet the accounting requirements of the Department of 

Health Group Accounting Manual (DH GAM)  which shall be agreed with the Secretary of State. Consequently, 

the following financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the DH GAM 2016/17 issued by the 

Department of Health. The accounting policies contained in that manual follow IFRS and HM Treasury’s FReM 

to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to NHS foundation trusts. The accounting policies have 

been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts. 

The Trust has prepared the Financial Statements on a going concern basis.  The Trust has realistic 

expectations that continuing services will be required into 2017/18 and beyond.  Robust long term planning 

including longer term cash flow forecasting and realistic plans for future transformation savings delivery 

provide the necessary assurance that the Trust is a going concern.

These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the 

revaluation of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and 

financial liabilities.

There are no new or revised IFRSs applied in the current period that have affected amounts reported or 

disclosed in these financial statements.

The DH GAM does not require the following Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2016/17. These 

standards are still subject to HM Treasury FReM adoption, with IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 being for implementation 

in 2018/19, and the government implementation date for IFRS 16 still subject to HM Treasury consideration.
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Notes to the Accounts
continued

-

1.1.6 Key sources of estimation uncertainty 

-

-

-

1.2 Consolidation

1.2.1 NHS Charitable Fund

-

-

1.2.2 Other Subsidiaries

1.2.3 Associates

The amounts consolidated are drawn from the published financial statements of the subsidiaries for the year.

Where subsidiaries’ accounting policies are not aligned with those of the trust (including where they report 

under UK FRS 102) then amounts are adjusted during consolidation where the differences are material. Inter-

entity balances, transactions and gains/losses are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Subsidiaries which are classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and ‘fair 

value less costs to sell’.

Associate entities are those over which the Trust has the power to exercise a significant influence. Associate 

entities are recognised in the Trust’s financial statement using the equity method. The investment is initially 

recognised at cost. It is increased or decreased subsequently to reflect the Trust’s share of the entity’s profit or 

loss or other gains and losses (e.g. revaluation gains on the entity’s property, plant and equipment) following 

acquisition. It is also reduced when any distribution e.g. share dividends are received by the trust from the 

associate.

The NHS Foundation Trust is the corporate trustee to the James Paget University Hospitals NHS charitable 

fund. The Foundation Trust has assessed its relationship to the charitable fund and determined it to be a 

subsidiary because the Foundation Trust is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns and other benefits for 

itself, patients and staff from its involvement with the charitable fund and has the ability to affect those returns 

and other benefits through its power over the fund.

The charitable fund’s statutory accounts are prepared to 31 March in accordance with the UK Charities 

Statement of Recommended Practice (SORP) which is based on UK Financial Reporting Standard (FRS) 102 

Principles. On consolidation, necessary adjustments are made to the charity’s assets, liabilities and 

transactions to;

recognise and measure them in accordance with the Foundation Trust’s accounting policies; and

eliminate intra-group transactions, balances, gains and losses.

Results of the consolidated group and of the Foundation Trust are reported separately in the primary 

statements, for all other notes to the accounts the results of the consolidated group are reported.

Subsidiary entities are those over which the trust is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its 

involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.  The 

income, expenses, assets, liabilities, equity and reserves of subsidiaries are consolidated in full into the 

appropriate financial statement lines. The capital and reserves attributable to minority interests are included as 

a separate item in the Statement of Financial Position.

In the cases of pension and other benefits payable in the future, an estimate will be made of the length 

of time that payment will be required to be made, to estimate the present value of the estimated future 

payments.

The last full market valuation of land and building assets was carried out by Montagu Evans LLP, and 

was applied on 1st March 2016 based on an alternate site, modern equivalent asset basis.

In accordance with IAS 1, the Trust has assessed the key areas where underlying estimates in the accounts 

are subject to uncertainties which create a significant risk of causing a material adjustment. These 

assumptions are set out as follows.

In order to calculate the carrying value of the Trust's provisions there are a number of areas which require to 

be estimated, these are;

The Trust will need to estimate the amount of its liability. In the case of legal claims, for example, it uses 

the advice of experts but the actual amount of the liability will not be known until the outcome of the 

litigation.

The Trust will need to estimate the probability of a liability existing. The outcome of litigation may be 

uncertain but the Trust will use the advice of its experts on whether it is probable that it will be found 

liable.
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Notes to the Accounts
continued

1.2.4 Joint ventures

1.2.5 Joint operations

1.3 Income

1.4 Expenditure on employee benefits

1.4.1 Short-term employee benefits

1.4.2 Pension costs - NHS Pension scheme

1.5 Expenditure on other goods and services

Additional pension liabilities arising from early retirements are not funded by the scheme except where the 

retirement is due to ill-health. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to the operating 

expenses at the time the trust commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.

Expenditure on goods and services is recognised when, and to the extent that they have been received, and is 

measured at the fair value of those goods and services. Expenditure is recognised in operating expenses 

except where it results in the creation of a non-current asset such as property, plant and equipment.

Income from the sale of non-current assets is recognised only when all material conditions of sale have been 

met, and is measured as the sums due under the sale contract.

Income in relation to partially completed spells is recognised at the financial year end on a pro-rata basis on 

the actual or expected length of stay.

Income in relation to maternity pathways is recognised based on the proportion completed during the year 

ended 31st March 2017.

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is 

received from employees. The cost of annual leave entitlement earned but not taken by employees at the end 

of the period is recognised in the financial statements to the extent that employees are permitted to carry-

forward leave into the following period.

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pension Scheme. The scheme is an 

unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, general practices and other bodies, allowed 

under the direction of Secretary of State, in England and Wales. It is not possible for the NHS foundation trust 

to identify its share of the underlying scheme liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as a defined 

contribution scheme.

Employers pension cost contributions are charged to operating expenses as and when they become due.

Where income is received for a specific activity which is to be delivered in the following financial year, that 

income is deferred.

Associates which are classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and ‘fair 

value less costs to sell’.

Joint ventures are arrangements in which the trust has joint control with one or more other parties, and where it 

has the rights to the net assets of the arrangement.

Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method.

Joint operations are arrangements in which the trust has joint control with one or more other parties and has 

the rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement. The trust includes within 

its financial statements its share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenses.

Income in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs and is 

measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable. The main source of income for the Trust is contracts 

with commissioners in respect of healthcare services.
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Notes to the Accounts
continued

1.6 Property, plant and equipment

1.6.1 Recognition

-

-
-

-

-

•

•

•

1.6.2 Measurement

-

-

-

Subsequent expenditure relating to an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an increase in 

the carrying amount of the asset when it is probable that additional future economic benefits or service potential 

deriving from the cost incurred to replace a component of such item will flow to the enterprise and the cost of 

the item can be determined reliably. Where a component of an asset is replaced, the cost of the replacement is 

capitalised if it meets the criteria for recognition above. The carrying amount of the part replaced is de-

recognised. Other expenditure that does not generate additional future economic benefits or service potential, 

such as repairs and maintenance, is charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period in which 

it is incurred.

Depreciation

Items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated over their remaining useful economic lives in a manner 

consistent with the consumption of economic or service delivery benefits.  Freehold land is considered to have 

an infinite life and is not depreciated.  Property, plant and equipment which has been reclassified as ‘held for 

sale’ ceases to be depreciated upon the reclassification.  Assets in the course of construction are not 

depreciated until the asset is brought into use.

Useful economic lives reflect the total life of an asset and not the remaining life of an asset. The range of useful 

economic lives are shown in the table below:

All assets are measured subsequently at valuation, using the following methods for determining fair value;

The fair value of land and buildings is determined from reference to market based evidence by appraisal 

for non-specialised operational property, and on the basis of an Alternate Site Depreciated Replacement 

Cost of a Modern Equivalent Asset for specialised operational property where market based evidence 

does not exist.  The valuations are carried out by professionally qualified valuers, and are performed 

with sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying value does not differ significantly from fair value at 

the statement of financial position date.  The latest land and building desk based interim asset valuation 

undertaken was carried out by Montagu Evans LLP, and was applied on 1st March 2017.
Assets in the course of construction are valued at cost and are valued by professional valuers at the 

same time as other land and building assets after they are brought into use.

Non-property assets are carried at depreciated historic cost as a proxy for fair value.

An item of property, plant and equipment which is surplus with no plan to bring it back into use is valued at fair 

value under IFRS 13, if it does not meet the requirements of IAS 40 of IFRS 5.

Subsequent expenditure

All property, plant and equipment assets are measured initially at cost, representing the costs directly 

attributable to acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to 

be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.

Property, plant and equipment is capitalised where:

it is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;

it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to the Trust;

it is expected to be used for more than one financial year;

the cost of the item can be measured reliably; and

assets meet the following capitalisation threshold and grouping criteria:

the item has cost of at least £5,000, or

collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more 

than £250, where the assets are functionally interdependent, had broadly simultaneous purchase 

dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates and are under single managerial 

control, or

form part of the initial setting-up cost of a new building or refurbishment of a ward or unit, 

irrespective of their individual or collective cost.

Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset 

lives e.g. plant and equipment, then these components are treated as separate assets and depreciated over 

their own useful economic lives.

Valuation

Buildings 30 to 150 years Transport Equipment 8 years

Dwellings 30 to 60 years Information Technology 3 to 8 years

Plant and Machinery 3 to 16 years Furniture and Fittings 8 to 11 years
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Notes to the Accounts
continued

-

-

•

•

•

•

•

1.6.3 Donated and government grant funded assets

1.7 Intangible assets

1.7.1 Recognition

Property, plant and equipment which is to be scrapped or demolished does not qualify for recognition as ‘Held 

for Sale’ and instead is retained as an operational asset and the asset’s economic life is adjusted. The asset is 

de-recognised when scrapping or demolition occurs.

Donated and grant funded property, plant and equipment assets are capitalised at their fair value on receipt. 

The donation/grant is credited to income at the same time, unless the donor has imposed a condition that the 

future economic benefits embodied in the grant are to be consumed in a manner specified by the donor, in 

which case, the donation/grant is deferred within liabilities and is carried forward to future financial years to the 

extent that the condition has not yet been met.

The donated and grant funded assets are subsequently accounted for in the same manner as other items of 

property, plant and equipment.

Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance which are capable of being sold 

separately from the rest of the trust’s business or which arise from contractual or other legal rights. They are 

recognised only where it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided 

to, the trust and where the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. 

management are committed to a plan to sell the asset;

an active programme has begun to find a buyer and complete the sale;

the asset is being actively marketed at a reasonable price;

the sale is expected to be completed within 12 months of the date of classification as ‘Held for 

Sale’; and

the actions needed to complete the plan indicate it is unlikely that the plan will be dropped or 

significant changes made to it.

Following reclassification, the assets are measured at the lower of their existing carrying amount and their ‘fair 

value less costs to sell’. Depreciation ceases to be charged. Assets are de-recognised when all material sale 

contract conditions have been met.

the sale must be highly probable i.e.:

Revaluation gains and losses

Revaluation gains are recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, and to the extent that, they reverse 

a revaluation decrease that has previously been recognised in operating expenses, in which case they are 

recognised in operating income.

Revaluation losses are charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is an available balance for 

the asset concerned, and thereafter are charged to operating expenses.

Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported in the Statement of Comprehensive 

Income as an item of ‘other comprehensive income’.

Impairments

In accordance with the DH GAM, impairments that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefits or of 

service potential in the asset are charged to operating expenses. A compensating transfer is made from the 

revaluation reserve to the income and expenditure reserve of an amount equal to the lower of (i) the 

impairment charged to operating expenses; and (ii) the balance in the revaluation reserve attributable to that 

asset before the impairment.

An impairment that arises from a clear consumption of economic benefit or of service potential is reversed 

when, and to the extent that, the circumstances that gave rise to the loss is reversed. Reversals are 

recognised in operating income to the extent that the asset is restored to the carrying amount it would have 

had if the impairment had never been recognised. Any remaining reversal is recognised in the revaluation 

reserve. Where, at the time of the original impairment, a transfer was made from the revaluation reserve to the 

income and expenditure reserve, an amount is transferred back to the revaluation reserve when the 

impairment reversal is recognised.

Other impairments are treated as revaluation losses. Reversals of ‘other impairments’ are treated as 

revaluation gains.

De-recognition

Assets intended for disposal are reclassified as ‘Held for Sale’ once all of the following criteria are met:

the asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms which are usual 

and customary for such sales;
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Notes to the Accounts
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-

-

-

-

-

-

1.7.2 Measurement

1.7.3 Amortisation

1.8 Revenue government and other grants

1.9 Inventories

1.10 Financial instruments and financial liabilities

1.10.1 Recognition

Subsequently intangible assets are measured at current value in existing use. Where no active market exists, 

intangible assets are valued at the lower of depreciated replacement cost and the value in use where the asset 

is income generating. Revaluations gains and losses and impairments are treated in the same manner as for 

property, plant and equipment. An intangible asset which is surplus with no plan to bring it back into use is 

valued at fair value under IFRS 13, if it does not meet the requirements of IAS 40 of IFRS 5.

Intangible assets held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount or ‘fair value less costs to 

sell’.

Intangible assets are amortised over their expected useful economic lives in a manner consistent with the 

consumption of economic or service delivery benefits. The estimated useful economic life of software licences 

is generally six years.  

Government grants are grants from government bodies other than income from commissioners or NHS trusts 

for the provision of services. Where a grant is used to fund revenue expenditure it is taken to the Statement of 

Comprehensive Income to match that expenditure. Where the grant is used to fund capital expenditure the 

grant is treated as described above in note 1.6.3.

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories is measured using 

the First In, First Out (FIFO) method.

All other financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Trust becomes a party to the 

contractual provisions of the instrument.

Software which is integral to the operation of hardware, e.g. an operating system, is capitalised as part of the 

relevant item of property, plant and equipment. Software which is not integral to the operation of hardware, e.g. 

application software, is capitalised as an intangible asset.

Internally generated intangible assets

Internally generated goodwill, brands, mastheads, publishing titles, customer lists and similar items are not 

capitalised as intangible assets.

Expenditure on research is not capitalised.

Expenditure on development is capitalised only where all of the following can be demonstrated:

the project is technically feasible to the point of completion and will result in an intangible asset for sale 

or use;

the Trust intends to complete the asset and sell or use it;

the Trust has the ability to sell or use the asset;

how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic or service delivery benefits e.g. the 

presence of a market for it or its output, or where it is to be used for internal use, the usefulness of the 

asset;

adequate financial, technical and other resources are available to the Trust to complete the 

development and sell or use the asset; and

the Trust can measure reliably the expenses attributable to the asset during development.

Software

Financial assets and financial liabilities which arise from contracts for the purchase or sale of non-financial 

items (such as goods or services), which are entered into in accordance with the trust’s normal purchase, sale 

or usage requirements, are recognised when, and to the extent which, performance occurs, i.e., when receipt 

or delivery of the goods or services is made.

Financial assets or financial liabilities in respect of assets acquired or disposed of through finance leases are 

recognised and measured in accordance with the accounting policy for leases described below

Intangible assets are recognised initially at cost, comprising all directly attributable costs needed to create, 

produce and prepare the asset to the point that it is capable of operating in the manner intended by 

management.

James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

Financial Statements for the year ended 31st March 2017 Page 24



Notes to the Accounts
continued

1.10.2 De-recognition

1.10.3 Classification and measurement

1.10.4 Loans and receivables

1.10.5 Other Financial liabilities

1.10.6 Impairment of financial assets

1.11 Leases

1.11.1 Finance leases

Where substantially all risks and rewards of ownership of a leased asset are borne by the NHS 

Foundation Trust, the asset is recorded as property, plant and equipment and a corresponding liability is 

recorded.  In a manner consistent with the Trust’s accounting policy on capitalisation of non-current 

assets, finance leases are recognised where assets individually have a cost of at least £5,000.  The 

value at which both the asset and liability are recognised is the lower of the fair value of the asset or the 

present value of the minimum lease payments, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease.

All other financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and 

measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate 

is the rate that discounts exactly estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the 

financial liability or, when appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount of the financial 

liability.

They are included in current liabilities except for amounts payable more than 12 months after the 

Statement of Financial Position date, which are classified as long-term liabilities.

Interest on financial liabilities carried at amortised cost is calculated using the effective interest method 

and charged to finance costs. Interest on financial liabilities taken out to finance property, plant and 

equipment or intangible assets is not capitalised as part of the cost of those assets.

At the Statement of Financial Position date, the trust assesses whether any financial assets, other than 

those held at “fair value through income and expenditure” are impaired. Financial assets are impaired 

and impairment losses are recognised if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a 

result of one or more events which occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and which has an 

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the 

difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the revised future cash flows 

discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. The loss is recognised in the Statement of 

Comprehensive Income and the carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of a bad debt 

provision.  When an asset’s carrying value is written-down using a bad debt provision, this is determined 

based upon knowledge of the operating environment and experience of past cash flows.  A bad debt 

provision against an asset's carrying value is only written off when all reasonable efforts to recover the 

carrying value have been exhausted.

Finance-leased assets (including land) are depreciated over the shorter of the useful economic life or the 

lease term, unless the FT expects to acquire the asset at the end of the lease term in which case the 

assets are depreciated in the same manner as owned assets.

Interest on loans and receivables is calculated using the effective interest method and credited to the 

Statement of Comprehensive Income.

All financial assets are de-recognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired 

or the Trust has transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership.

Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Financial assets are categorised as ‘loans and receivables’ and financial liabilities are classified as ‘other 

financial liabilities’.

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments which are 

not quoted in an active market.  They are included in current assets.  The Trust’s loans and receivables 

comprise: cash and cash equivalents; NHS receivables; accrued income and ‘other’ receivables.

Loans and receivables are recognised initially at fair value, net of transactions costs, and are measured 

subsequently at amortised cost, using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate 

that discounts exactly estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or, 

when appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.
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Notes to the Accounts
continued

1.11.2 Operating leases

1.11.3 Leases of land and buildings

1.12 Provisions

1.12.1 Clinical negligence costs

1.12.2 Non-clinical risk pooling

1.13 Public dividend capital

Public Dividend Capital (PDC) is a type of public sector equity finance based on the excess of assets over 

liabilities at the time of establishment of the predecessor NHS Trust.  HM Treasury has determined that PDC 

is not a financial instrument within the meaning of IAS 32.

A charge, reflecting the cost of capital utilised by the NHS foundation trust, is payable as public dividend 

capital dividend. The charge is calculated at the rate set by HM Treasury (currently 3.5%) on the average 

relevant net assets of the NHS foundation trust during the financial year. Relevant net assets are calculated 

as the value of all assets less the value of all liabilities, except for (i) donated assets (including lottery funded 

assets), (ii) average daily cash balances held with the Government Banking Services (GBS) and National 

Loans Fund (NLF) deposits, excluding cash balances held in GBS accounts that relate to a short-term 

working capital facility, and (iii) any PDC dividend balance receivable or payable. In accordance with the 

requirements laid down by the Department of Health (as the issuer of PDC), the dividend for the year is 

calculated on the actual average relevant net assets as set out in the “pre-audit” version of the annual 

accounts. The dividend thus calculated is not revised should any adjustment to net assets occur as a result 

the audit of the annual accounts.

The asset and liability are recognised at the commencement of the lease.  Thereafter the asset is accounted 

for as an item of property plant and equipment.  The annual rental is split between the repayment of the 

liability and a finance cost so as to achieve a constant rate of finance over the life of the lease.  The annual 

finance cost is charged to Finance Costs in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.  The lease liability, is 

de-recognised when the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Other leases are regarded as operating leases and the rentals are charged to operating expenses on a 

straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Operating lease incentives received are added to the lease 

rentals and charged to operating expenses over the life of the lease.

Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land component is separated from the building component and 

the classification for each is assessed separately.

The NHS foundation trust recognises a provision where it has a present legal or constructive obligation of 

uncertain timing or amount; for which it is probable that there will be a future outflow of cash or other 

resources; and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount. The amount recognised in the Statement of 

Financial Position is the best estimate of the resources required to settle the obligation. Where the effect of 

the time value of money is significant, the estimated risk-adjusted cash flows are discounted using the 

discount rates published and mandated by HM Treasury.  

The NHS Litigation Authority (NHSLA) operates a risk pooling scheme under which the NHS Foundation 

Trust pays an annual contribution to the NHSLA, which, in return, settles all clinical negligence claims. 

Although the NHSLA is administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases, the legal liability 

remains with the NHS Foundation Trust.  The total value of clinical negligence provisions carried by the 

NHSLA on behalf of the NHS Foundation Trust is disclosed at note 21.4, but is not recognised as a liability 

in the Foundation Trust's accounts.

The NHS Foundation Trust participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties 

Scheme. Both are risk pooling schemes under which the Trust pays an annual contribution to the NHS 

Litigation Authority and in return receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual 

membership contributions, and any ‘excesses’ payable in respect of particular claims are charged to 

operating expenses when the liability arises.
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Notes to the Accounts
continued

1.14 Value Added Tax

1.15 Corporation Tax

1.16 Foreign exchange

-

-

-

1.17 Third party assets

1.18 Losses and special payments

1.19 Events after the reporting period

1.20 Gifts

However the losses and special payments note is compiled directly from the losses and compensations 

register which reports on an accrual basis with the exception of provisions for future losses.

The James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation has had no material events after the 31st March 2017 

which require adjustment or disclosure in these financial statements.

Gifts are items that are voluntarily donated, with no preconditions and without the expectation of any return. 

Gifts include all transactions economically equivalent to free and unremunerated transfers, such as the loan of 

an asset for its expected useful life, and the sale or lease of assets at below market value. 

non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at historical cost are translated using the spot exchange 

rate at the date of the transaction and

non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at fair value are translated using the spot exchange rate 

at the date the fair value was determined.

Exchange gains or losses on monetary items (arising on settlement of the transaction or on re-translation at 

the Statement of Financial Position date) are recognised in income or expense in the period in which they 

Exchange gains or losses on non-monetary assets and liabilities are recognised in the same manner as other 

gains and losses on these items.

Assets belonging to third parties (such as money held on behalf of patients) are not recognised in the accounts 

since the Foundation Trust has no beneficial interest in them.  However, they are disclosed separately in note 

24 to the accounts in accordance with the requirements of HM Treasury’s FReM.

Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for 

the health service or passed legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are 

therefore subject to special control procedures compared with the generality of payments. They are divided 

into different categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled. Losses and special 

payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, including 

losses which would have been made good through insurance cover had NHS foundation trusts not been 

bearing their own risks (with insurance premiums then being included as normal revenue expenditure).

monetary items (other than financial instruments measured at “fair value through income and 

expenditure”) are translated at the spot exchange rate on 31 March

Most of the activities of the NHS Foundation Trust are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax 

does not apply and input tax on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant 

expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged 

or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.

Income from commercial activities is subject to corporation tax under section 519A Income and Corporation 

Taxes Act 1988 (519A ICTA 1988), as amended by section 148 of the Finance Act 2004.  However, provision 

of Healthcare authorised under section 43 of the National Health Service Act 2006 is not treated as 

commercial income.  The total non-healthcare related activities carried out by the Foundation Trust during the 

period which are deemed to be commercial activities are not subject to corporation tax because annual taxable 

profits are below the de minimus limit of £50,000.

The functional and presentational currencies of the trust are sterling.

A transaction which is denominated in a foreign currency is translated into the functional currency at the spot 

exchange rate on the date of the transaction. 

Where the trust has assets or liabilities denominated in a foreign currency at the Statement of Financial 

Position date:
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Notes to the Accounts
continued

2 Segmental reporting

3 Subsidiaries

Year Ended Year Ended

31 March 31 March 

2017 2016

£ 000 £ 000

4 Operating income

4.1 Income from activities analysed by service type

Elective income 29,314 31,355

Non elective income 41,130 37,832

Outpatient income 27,624 26,242

A&E income 8,061 7,289

Other NHS clinical income 63,749 62,425

Private patient income 874 789

Other clinical income 1,161 921

Note 4.2 171,913 166,853

Under the definitions of operating segments contained within International Financial Reporting Standard 8, the 

Trust has a single operating segment where the revenues are derived from the provision of healthcare 

services.

The products and services provided to external customers are identified in notes 4.1 and 4.2 below under the 

headings “Income from activities analysed by service type” and “Other operating income”.

All revenues from external customers are derived from within the UK, and all non-current assets are located in 

the UK.  Revenues from transactions with entities under the control of the UK Government amount to £184.1m 

(2015/16 - £173.2m), and are reported within the single healthcare segment.

The ability of the subsidiary to transfer funds to the Foundation Trust is significantly restricted by the charitable 

objects and the legal requirement for the Trustees to act independently and ensure that all funds are spent in 

accordance with the donors’ wishes.

The James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust acts as the corporate Trustee of the James 

Paget University Hospitals Charitable Fund and in accordance with the charity’s declaration of trust, members 

of the Foundation Trust’s Board of Directors act as ex-officio Trustees of the Charitable Funds.

This Trustee arrangement satisfies the relevant tests of control under IAS 27 and therefore the Charitable 

Fund is a subsidiary of the Foundation Trust.  The Foundation Trust has prepared group accounts for the year 

ended 31 March 2017.

The James Paget University Hospitals Charitable Fund is a registered charity located in England, and the 

Foundation Trust as the sole corporate Trustee has 100% of the voting rights.  The Foundation Trust does not 

have any financial investment in the Charitable Fund.
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Notes to the Accounts
continued

Year Ended Year Ended

31 March 31 March 

2017 2016

£ 000 £ 000

4.2 Analysis of operating income by source

Income from activities

NHS Foundation Trusts 3,413 3,718

NHS Trusts 3 15

Clinical Commissioning Groups and NHS England 166,420 159,799

Local Authorities 0 53

NHS Additional income for delivery of healthcare services** -             1,500

NHS Other 43 57

Non NHS:

Private patients 874 789

Overseas patients Note 4.4 287 49

NHS injury scheme *** 632 636

Other 241 237

Total income from activities 171,913 166,853

Other operating income

Research and development 1,017 923

Education and training 7,171 6,741

Non patient care services to other NHS bodies 303 466

Sustainability and transformation fund income* 6,532 -             

Rental revenue from operating leases Note 4.3 126 188

Other income:

Catering 907 860

Accommodation 823 708

Car parking 1,152 1,029

Miscellaneous 775 585

NHS Charitable Funds: Incoming Resources excluding investment income 1,325 905

Total other operating income 20,131 12,405

Total operating income 192,044 179,258

*** NHS Injury Scheme income is subject to a provision for doubtful debts of 21.94% (2015/16 - 21.99%) to 

reflect expected rates of collection.

** NHS Additional income for delivery of healthcare services included £1,500,000 of income from the 

Department of Health for 2015/16 paid to the Trust as a result of the Trust repaying an equivalent amount of 

Public Dividend Capital.

* Sustainability and transformation fund income of £6,532,000 has been allocated to the Trust on a non-

recurrent basis during 2016/17 to support the financial position of the Trust, and is excluded from the financial 

performance assessment of the organisation.
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Notes to the Accounts
continued

Year Ended Year Ended

31 March 31 March 

2017 2016

£ 000 £ 000

4.3

Rents recognised as income in the period 126 188

Contingent rents recognised as income in the period -             -             

126 188

Future minimum lease receipts due:

Land Buildings Other Total

Within 1 year -             94 -             94

Between 1 and 5 years -             241 -             241

After 5 years -             197 -             197

-             532 -             532

Land Buildings Other Total

Within 1 year -             118 -             118

Between 1 and 5 years -             276 -             276

After 5 years -             218 -             218

-             612 -             612

Year Ended Year Ended

31 March 31 March 

2017 2016

£ 000 £ 000

4.4

Income recognised in this year 287 49

29 8

34 36

1 1

Cash payments received in-year (relating to invoices raised in current and 

previous years)

Amounts added to provision for impairment of receivables (relating to invoices 

raised in current and prior years)

Amounts written off in-year (relating to invoices raised in current and previous 

years)

Year Ended 31 March  2016

Operating lease income

Year Ended 31 March  2017

Overseas visitor income

James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

Financial Statements for the year ended 31st March 2017 Page 30



Notes to the Accounts
continued

Year Ended Year Ended

31 March 31 March 

2017 2016

£ 000 £ 000

5 Operating expenses

Services from NHS Foundation Trusts 135 111

Services from NHS Trusts 4 29

Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies 61 46

Employee expenses - executive directors 1,069 990

Employee expenses - non-executive directors 140 129

Employee expenses - staff 123,373 121,231

Drug costs 19,677 19,589

Supplies and services - clinical (excluding drug costs) 15,691 15,635

Supplies and services - general 2,531 2,444

Establishment 1,481 1,867

Transport 104 82

Premises 4,712 4,031

Increase in provision for impairment of receivables 838 271

Change in provisions discount rate 195 -             

Inventories write down 52 53

Rentals under operating leases 317 196

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 4,325 4,070

Amortisation on intangible assets 559 366

Net Impairments of property, plant and equipment* Note 10 / 13.3 5,100 12,470

Net impairments of intangible assets Note 12 1,490 -             

Audit fees - statutory audit** 61 54

Audit fees - Charitable Fund Accounts 5 4

Internal Audit and Local Counter Fraud Services 60 84

Clinical negligence 6,198 5,635

Legal fees 76 330

Consultancy costs 116 219

Training, courses and conferences 763 706

Patient travel 56 68

Redundancy payments (83) (29)

Insurance 163 153

Other contracted services 206 265

Losses, ex gratia and special payments 5 5

Other 4,841 5,334

NHS Charitable funds: Other resources expended 272 701

194,593 197,139

** There is a £1,000,0000 limitation on auditor's liability.

* Impairments charged to operating expenses during 2016/17 are primarily as a result of a desk top interim

alternate site market valuation by the Trusts external valuers Montagu Evans as at 1 March 2017.
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Notes to the Accounts
continued

Year Ended Year Ended

31 March 31 March 

2017 2016

£ 000 £ 000

6 Operating leases

6.1 Lease payments recognised as an expense in the period

Minimum lease payments 317 196

Contingent rents -             -             

Sublease payments -             -             

317 196

6.2

Land Buildings Other Total

£ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000

Within 1 year -             -             93 93

Between 1 and 5 years -             -             81 81

After 5 years -             -             -             -             

-             -             174 174

Land Buildings Other Total

£ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000

Within 1 year -             -             132 132

Between 1 and 5 years -             -             68 68

After 5 years -             -             -             -             

-             -             200 200

Year Ended

31 March 

Permanent Other Total 2016

£ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000

7 Employee expenses and numbers

7.1 Employee expenses

Salaries and wages 90,779 4,648 95,427 94,285

Social security costs 9,182 200 9,382 7,036

Employer contributions to NHS Pensions 10,920 259 11,179 11,051

Pension cost - other 9 -             9 8

Agency / contract staff -             9,003 9,003 10,630

110,890 14,110 125,000 123,010

(442) -             (442) (469)

Employee expenses capitalised as part of assets (115) -             (115) (320)

110,333 14,110 124,443 122,221

Employee expenses recharged to other organisations

Total of future minimum lease payments due:

Year Ended

31 March  2017

Year Ended 31 March 2017

Year Ended 31 March 2016
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Notes to the Accounts
continued

Year Ended Year Ended

31 March 31 March 

2017 2016

£ 000 £ 000

7.2 Directors' remuneration
Directors' remuneration 1,179 1,095

Employer contributions to NHS Pensions Agency 90 82

Benefits in kind 4 3

Money purchase pension schemes 2 -               

Defined benefit pension schemes 15 7

Year Ended

31 March 

Permanent Other Total 2016

Number Number Number Number

7.3 Average number of employees
Medical and dental 122 169 291 287

Administration and estates 453 15 468 451

Healthcare assistants and other support staff 397 11 408 409

Nursing, midwifery and health visiting staff 1,095 68 1,163 1,125

Scientific, therapeutic and technical staff 264 7 271 270

Bank Staff -               77 77 91

Agency Staff -               154 154 176

2,331 501 2,832 2,809

4 -               4 10

 

7.4 Staff exit packages

7.5 Retirements due to ill-health

During the year ending 31 March 2017 there were seven (2015/16 - seven) early retirements from the Trust 

agreed on the grounds of ill-health.  The additional pension costs of these ill-health retirements (calculated 

on an average basis and borne by the NHS Pension Scheme) will be £361,000 (2015/16 - £321,000). 

Total number of directors to whom benefits are accruing under:

Year Ended

31 March  2017

There have been no staff exit packages during the year ended 31 March 2017 (Year ended 31 March 2016 

nil).

Further details on directors' remuneration are given in the remuneration report on pages 48 to 50 of the 

Annual Report.

Of which number of employees engaged on 

capital projects 

Total nursing, midwifery and health visiting staff numbers for 2016/17, including all nursing, midwifery and 

health visiting bank and agency staff are 1,299 (2015/16 - 1,279).  Total Medical and dental  staff numbers 

for 2016/17, including all Medical and dental agency staff are 325 (2015/16 - 325).
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Notes to the Accounts
continued

7.6 Retirement benefits

Pension costs

The next actuarial valuation is to be carried out as at 31 March 2016. This will set the employer contribution 

rate payable from April 2019 and will consider the cost of the Scheme relative to the employer cost cap. 

There are provisions in the Public Service Pension Act 2013 to adjust member benefits or contribution rates if 

the cost of the Scheme changes by more than 2% of pay. Subject to this ‘employer cost cap’ assessment, 

any required revisions to member benefits or contribution rates will be determined by the Secretary of State 

for Health after consultation with the relevant stakeholders.

b) Full actuarial (funding) valuation

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the 

schemes (taking into account their recent demographic experience), and to recommend contribution rates 

payable by employees and employers.

The last published actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed for the year 

ending 31 March 2012. The Scheme Regulations allow for the level of contribution rates to be changed by 

the Secretary of State for Health, with the consent of HM Treasury, and consideration of the advice of the 

Scheme Actuary and appropriate employee and employer representatives as deemed appropriate. 

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes.  Details of the 

benefits payable and rules of the Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions website at 

www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions.  Both are unfunded defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, GP 

practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State in England and Wales. They 

are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying 

scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, each scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution 

scheme: the cost to the NHS body of participating in each scheme is taken as equal to the contributions 

payable to that scheme for the accounting period.  

In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially 

from those that would be determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires 

that “the period between formal valuations shall be four years, with approximate assessments in intervening 

years”. An outline of these follows:

a) Accounting valuation

A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the Government 

Actuary’s Department) as at the end of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the 

previous accounting period in conjunction with updated membership and financial data for the current 

reporting period, and are accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting purposes. The 

valuation of scheme liability as at 31 March 2017, is based on valuation data as 31 March 2016, updated to 

31 March 2017 with summary global member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, 

the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by 

HM Treasury have also been used.

The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the scheme actuary report, which forms 

part of the annual NHS Pension Scheme (England and Wales) Pension Accounts.  These accounts can be 

viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are published annually.  Copies can also be obtained from The 

Stationery Office.
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Notes to the Accounts
continued

Year Ended Year Ended

31 March 31 March 

2017 2016

£ 000 £ 000

8 Finance income

Interest on cash deposits 27 87

NHS Charitable funds: investment income 94 92

121 179

9 Finance costs - interest expense

Finance leases 29 22

29 22

10 Impairment of assets recognised as operating expenses

Operating expenses include impairment costs due to:

Loss or damage from normal operations 35 -               

Abandonment of assets in course of construction 108 -               

Unforeseen obsolescence 148 -               

Changes in market price 4,955 12,470

Other 1,344 -               

6,590 12,470

11 Interests in Joint Operations

The James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust has a 22% interest in a joint operation for the 

provision of pathology services in Norfolk known as Eastern Pathology Alliance (EPA).  The arrangement has 

been effective from 1st November 2013, and has not involved the establishment of a separate entity.

Impairments recognised in operating expenses for the period ending 31st March 2017 are primarily due to 

the interim desktop revaluation of land, building and dwelling assets conducted by the Trust's externally 

appointed independent valuers on an modern equivalent asset alternate site basis as at 1st March 2017.

The Trust has recognised its interest in the joint operation using the line-by-line reporting format for 

proportionate consolidation.  This means that included within income from activities in note 4.1 is £3,378,000 

(2015/16 £3,575,000)  representing a 22% share of EPA revenue, and included within operating expenses in 

note 5 is £6,599,000 (2015/16 £6,535,000) representing a 22% share of the operating costs of EPA.
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Notes to the Accounts
continued

Assets Under Software Other Total

Construction Licences

£ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000

12 Intangible assets

12.1 Intangible assets 2016/17

Cost or valuation at 1 April 2016 2,102 4,335 1,337 7,774

Additions - purchased* 234 67 -            301

Reclassifications (2,276) 2,276 -            -             

Impairments (49) (414) (1,337) (1,800)

Disposals -             (135) -            (135)

Cost or Valuation at 31 March 2017 11 6,129 -            6,140

Amortisation at 1 April 2016 -             3,008 -            3,008

Provided during the year -             559 -            559

Impairments -             (310) -            (310)

Disposals -             (119) -            (119)

Amortisation at 31 March 2017 -             3,138 -            3,138

Opening net book value at 1 April 2016

Purchased 2,102 781 1,337 4,220

Finance leases -             371 -            371

Donated -             37 -            37

Government granted -             139 -            139

Total NBV at 1 April 2016 2,102 1,328 1,337 4,767

Closing net book value at 31 March 2017

Purchased 10 2,637 -            2,647

Finance leases -             324 -            324

Donated -             32 -            32

Total NBV at 31 March 2017 10 2,993 -            3,003

*For consolidation purposes purchased additions includes assets funded from donations of £1,000

12.2 Intangible assets 2015/16

Cost or valuation at 1 April 2015 816 4,166 1,337 6,319

Additions - purchased** 1,401 54 -            1,455

Impairments (115) 115 -            -             0 0 0 0

Cost or Valuation at 31 March 2016 2,102 4,335 1,337 7,774

Amortisation at 1 April 2015 -             2,642 -            2,642

Provided during the year -             366 -            3660 0 0

Amortisation at 31 March 2016 -             3,008 -            3,008

Opening net book value at 1 April 2015

Purchased 816 862 1,337 3,015

Finance leases -             417 -            417

Donated -             48 -            48

Government granted -             197 -            197

Total NBV at 1 April 2015 816 1,524 1,337 3,677

Closing net book value at 31 March 2016

Purchased 2,102 781 1,337 4,220

Finance leases -             371 -            371

Donated -             37 -            37

Government granted -             139 -            139

Total NBV at 31 March 2016 2,102 1,328 1,337 4,767

**For consolidation purposes purchased additions includes assets funded from donations of £nil
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Notes to the Accounts
continued

Land Buildings Dwellings Assets Plant Transport Information Furniture Total

(excluding under and Equipment Technology and as at

dwellings) construction Machinery Fittings 31 March 

£ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000

13 Property, plant and equipment

13.1 Property, plant and equipment 2016/17
Cost or valuation at 1 April 2016 2,858 41,539 2,505 3,618 19,874 515 11,701 1,386 83,996

Additions - purchased* -              -              -              1,286 1,497 -              80 -              2,863
Additions - leased -              -              -              -              873 -              367 -              1,240
Reclassifications -              2,417 -              (3,932) 190 34 1,237 54 -              
Impairments -              (6,974) -              (59) (64) -              (315) (21) (7,433)
Other revaluations 36 -              84 -              -              -              -              -              120
Disposals -              -              -              -              (1,021) -              -              (5) (1,026)

Cost or Valuation at 31 March 2017 2,894 36,982 2,589 913 21,349 549 13,070 1,414 79,760

Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2016 -              160 7 -              14,345 369 9,066 911 24,858
Provided during the year -              1,936 93 -              1,318 46 850 82 4,325
Impairments -              (1,960) -              -              (22) -              (284) (9) (2,275)
Other revaluations -              -              (93) -              -              -              -              -              (93)
Disposals -              -              -              -              (946) -              -              (5) (951)

Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2017 -              136 7 -              14,695 415 9,632 979 25,864

Opening net book value at 1 April 2016
Purchased 2,858 38,255 2,498 3,614 4,020 146 1,762 253 53,406
Finance leased -              -              -              -              -              -              756 -              756
Government granted -              729 -              -              5 -              66 77 877
Donated -              2,394 -              4 1,504 -              51 146 4,099

Total NBV at 1 April 2016 2,858 41,378 2,498 3,618 5,529 146 2,635 476 59,138

Closing net book value at 31 March 2017
Purchased 2,894 34,232 2,582 914 4,180 134 2,347 264 47,547
Finance leased -              -              -              -              779 -              1,028 -              1,807
Government granted -              600 -              -              3 -              5 48 656
Donated -              2,013 -              -              1,692 -              58 123 3,886

Total NBV at 31 March 2017 2,894 36,845 2,582 914 6,654 134 3,438 435 53,896

*For consolidated accounts purposes purchased additions includes assets funded from donations of £516,000
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Notes to the Accounts
continued

Land Buildings Dwellings Assets Plant Transport Information Furniture Total

(excluding under and Equipment Technology and as at

dwellings) construction Machinery Fittings 31 March 

£ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000

13.2 Property, plant and equipment 2015/16

Cost or valuation at 1 April 2015 6,745 47,550 3,638 9,272 18,474 515 12,415 1,283 99,892
Additions - purchased** -          4,075 30 2,559 1,617 -           206 103 8,590
Reclassifications -          7,888 13 (8,213) 100 -           212 -          (0)
Impairments (4,126) (17,974) (1,176) -            -            -           -            -          (23,276)
Other revaluations 239 -            -          -            -            -           -            -          239
Disposals -          -            -          -            (317) -           (1,132) -          (1,449)

Cost or Valuation at 31 March 2016 2,858 41,539 2,505 3,618 19,874 515 11,701 1,386 83,996

Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2015 -          3,596 249 -            13,438 320 9,429 813 27,845
Provided during the year -          1,822 118 -            1,214 49 769 98 4,070
Impairments -          (5,258) (360) -            -            -           -            -          (5,618)

Disposals -          -            -          -            (307) -           (1,132) -          (1,439)

Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2016 -          160 7 -            14,345 369 9,066 911 24,858

Opening net book value at 1 April 2015
Purchased 6,745 39,650 3,389 9,273 4,060 195 1,994 220 65,526
Finance leased -          -            -          -            -            -           850 -          850
Government granted -          1,043 -          -            11 -           102 93 1,249
Donated -          3,260 -          -            964 -           40 157 4,4210 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total NBV at 1 April 2015 6,745 43,953 3,389 9,273 5,035 195 2,986 470 72,046

Closing net book value at 31 March 2016
Purchased 2,858 38,255 2,498 3,614 4,020 146 1,762 253 53,406
Finance leased -          -            -          -            -            -           756 -          756
Government granted -          729 -          -            5 -           66 77 877
Donated -          2,394 -          4 1,504 -           51 146 4,099

Total NBV at 31 March 2016 2,858 41,378 2,498 3,618 5,529 146 2,635 476 59,138

**For consolidation purposes purchased additions includes assets funded from donations of £720,000
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Notes to the Accounts
continued

13.3 Analysis of property, plant and equipment

Land Buildings Dwellings Total

(excluding

dwellings)

£ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000

13.4 Analysis of revalued property, plant and equipment

Net book value of PPE in the revaluation reserve
As at 1 April 2016 1,143 654 892 2,689
Movement in year 36 (59) 177 154

As at 31 March 2017 1,179 595 1,069 2,843

As at 1 April 2015 4,988 930 1,720 7,638
Movement in year (3,845) (276) (828) (4,949)

As at 31 March 2016 1,143 654 892 2,689

Year Ended Year Ended

31 March 31 March 

2017 2016

£ 000 £ 000

13.5 Investments

NHS Charitable funds: Other investments

Carrying value at 1 April 2,715 2,746

Acquisitions in year - other 223 337

363 (98)

Disposals (150) (270)              

Carrying value at 31 March 3,151 2,715

Total Total

as at as at

31 March 31 March 

2017 2016

£ 000 £ 000

14 Inventories

14.1 Inventories recognised in current assets

Drugs 1,080 1,227

Consumables 1,530 1,521

Energy 22 23

2,632 2,771

14.2 Inventory Movements

Carrying Value at 1 April 2,771 2,709      

Additions 29,135 27,253    

Inventories recognised in expenses (29,222) (27,138)

Write down of inventories recognised as an expense (52) (53)

2,632 2,771

At 31st March 2017 the Charitable Funds held inventories of £nil (31st March 2016 £nil)

Land, building and dwelling assets were last subject to a desk based interim valuation carried out by the Trust's 

externally appointed independent valuers on an alternate site basis as at 1st March 2017.

Of £6,649,000 net impairments (2015/16 - £17,658,000), £6,590,000 (2015/16 - £12,470,000) has been 

recognised in operating expenses, and £59,000 (2015/16 - £5,188,000) has been recognised directly in equity 

during the period.

Movement in fair value of Available-for-sale financial assets recognised in 

Other Comprehensive Income
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Notes to the Accounts
continued

Total Total

as at as at

31 March 31 March 

2017 2016

£ 000 £ 000

15 Trade and other receivables

15.1 Current trade and other receivables

NHS receivables - revenue 3,126 9,945

Other receivables with related parties - revenue 64 160

Provision for impaired receivables (983) (486)

Prepayments 707 716

Accrued income 7,697 3,452

Interest receivable -                3

Operating lease receivables 13 3

PDC dividend receivable 98 312

VAT receivable 257 254

Other receivables - revenue 1,830 1,233

NHS Charitable funds: Trade and other receivables 40 94

12,849 15,686

15.2 Non-current trade and other receivables

Provision for impaired receivables (322) (232)

Prepayments 50 68

Other receivables 492 500

NHS Charitable funds: Trade and other receivables -                -                

220 336

15.3 Provision for impairment of receivables

Provision at 1 April 717 579

Increase in provision 855 384

Amounts utilised (250) (133)

Unused amounts reversed (17) (113)

Provision at 31 March 1,305 717

15.4 Analysis of financial assets past due or impaired

Analysis of impaired financial assets

0 - 30 days 58 2

30 - 60 days 88 8

60 - 90 days 67 10

90 - 180 days 127 25

Over 180 days 965 672

Total at 31 March 1,305 717

Ageing of non-impaired financial assets past their due date

0 - 30 days 8,685 8,267

30 - 60 days 1,001 499

60 - 90 days 246 953

90 - 180 days 862 2,053

Over 180 days 1,224 3,118

Total at 31 March 12,018 14,890
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Notes to the Accounts
continued

Charitable Charitable

Trust Funds Trust Funds

As at As at As at As at

31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 

2017 2017 2016 2016

£ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000

16 Cash and cash equivalents

At 1 April 10,874 1,444 32,113 1,677

Net change in year 743 (343) (21,239) (233)

At 31 March 11,617 1,101 10,874 1,444

Broken down into:

Cash at commercial banks and in hand 182 1,101 263 1,444

Cash with the Government Banking Service 11,435 -             10,611 -             

Cash and cash equivalents as in SoFP 11,617 1,101 10,874 1,444

Bank overdraft -             -             -             -             

At 31 March 11,617 1,101 10,874 1,444

Total Total

as at as at

31 March 31 March 

2017 2016

£ 000 £ 000

17 Trade and other payables

17.1 Current trade and other payables

NHS payables - revenue 644 816

Amounts due to other related parties - revenue 1,566 1,936

Trade payables - capital 333 1,478

Other trade payables 2,776 2,214

Social security costs payable 1,347 1,056

Other taxes payable 1,087 1,014

Other payables 2,746 3,012

Accruals 4,413 5,509

NHS Charitable funds 288 106

15,200 17,141

17.2 Non-current trade and other payables

Amounts due to other related parties - revenue -             103

Other payables 6 17

6 120

Amounts due to other related parties include:

£nil (31 March 2016 - £280,000)  for payments due in future years under arrangements to buy out the liability 

for nil (31 March 2016 - six) early retirements over five instalments.

Total cash and cash equivalents for the group as at 31 March 2017 are £12,718 (31 March 2016 - £12,318).
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Notes to the Accounts
continued

Total Total

as at as at

31 March 31 March 

2017 2016

£ 000 £ 000

18 Other liabilities

18.1 Other liabilities - current

Deferred income 772 3,764

772 3,764

Total Total

as at as at

31 March 31 March 

2017 2016

£ 000 £ 000

19 Borrowings

19.1 Current borrowings

Other loans -                11

Obligations under finance leases Note 20 322 132

322 143

19.2 Non-current borrowings

Other loans -                -                

Obligations under finance leases Note 20 1,925 992

1,925 992

Total Total

as at as at

31 March 31 March 

2017 2016

£ 000 £ 000

20 Finance lease obligations

Minimum finance lease payments due:

no later than one year 371 152

later than one year and no later than five years 1,778 759

later than five years 294 304

Gross finance lease liabilities 2,443 1,215

Finance charges allocated to future periods (196) (91)

Net finance lease liabilities 2,247 1,124

Net finance lease liabilities are due:

no later than one year 322 132

later than one year and no later than five years 1,639 696

later than five years 286 296

2,247 1,124

James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

Financial Statements for the year ended 31st March 2017 Page 42



Notes to the Accounts
continued

Pensions - Other Other Total Total

Other Legal as at as at

staff Claims 31 March 31 March 

2017 2016

£ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000

21 Provisions

21.1 Provision for liabilities

and charges
At 1 April 964 126 3,706 4,796 3,520

Change in the discount rate 69 -            126 195 1

Arising during the year 1 47 1,362 1,410 2,414

Utilised during the year (62) (45) (198) (305) (342)

Reversed unused (190) (71) (2,840) (3,101) (823)

Unwinding of discount 13 -            14 27 26

At 31 March 795 57 2,170 3,022 4,796

Expected timing of cash flows

Within 1 year 62 57 1,295 1,414 2,956

Between 1 and 5 years 247 -            200 447 461

After 5 years 486 0 675 1,161 1,379

Total 795 57 2,170 3,022 4,796

Total Total

as at as at

31 March 31 March 

2017 2016

£ 000 £ 000

21.2 Current provisions

Pensions - other staff 62 67

Other legal claims 57 126

Other 1,295 2,763

At 31 March 1,414 2,956

21.3 Non-current provisions

Pensions - other staff 733 897

Other 875 943

At 31 March 1,608 1,840

21.4 Clinical negligence liabilities

21.5 Contingent liabilities

Property, plant Property, plant 

and equipment Total and equipment Total

2017 2017 2016 2016

£ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000

22 Revaluation reserve

At 1 April 2,689 2,689 7,638 7,638

Impairments 213 213 239 239

Revaluations (59) (59) (5,188) (5,188)

At 31 March 2,843 2,843 2,689 2,689

£68,150,000 is included in the provisions of the NHS Litigation Authority at 31 March 2017 (31 March 2016 

- £74,024,000) in respect of clinical negligence liabilities of the Foundation Trust.

The Trust has £45,000 of contingent liabilities at 31 March 2017 (31 March 2016 - £34,000) in respect of 

potential excess payments for NHS Litigation Authority claims for Public and Employer Liability claims 

outstanding where timing is expected to be within the next 12 months.

James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

Financial Statements for the year ended 31st March 2017 Page 43



Notes to the Accounts
continued

Loans and Total

receivables

£ 000 £ 000

23 Financial instruments

23.1 Analysis of financial assets and liabilities by category

Assets as per Statement of Financial Position 

Financial assets as at 31 March 2017

NHS trade and other receivables excluding non financial assets 3,126 3,126

Non-NHS trade and other receivables excluding non financial assets 10,382 10,382

Cash and cash equivalents 11,617 11,617

NHS Charitable funds: financial assets 4,282 4,282

Total financial assets as at 31 March 2017 29,406 29,406

Financial assets as at 31 March 2016

NHS trade and other receivables excluding non financial assets 9,945 9,945

Non-NHS trade and other receivables excluding non financial assets 15,188 15,188

Cash and cash equivalents 10,874 10,874

NHS Charitable funds: financial assets 4,212 4,212

Total financial assets as at 31 March 2016 40,219 40,219

Other Total

financial

liabilities

£ 000 £ 000

Liabilities as per Statement of Financial Position 

Financial liabilities as at 31 March 2017

Borrowings (excluding finance leases) -                 -                 

Obligations under finance leases 2,247 2,247

NHS trade and other payables excluding non financial liabilities 644 644

Non-NHS trade and other payables excluding non financial liabilities 11,841 11,841

NHS Charitable funds 264 264

Total financial liabilities as at 31 March 2017 14,996 14,996

Financial liabilities as at 31 March 2016

Borrowings (excluding finance leases) 11 11

Obligations under finance leases 1,124 1,124

NHS trade and other payables excluding non financial assets 816 816

Non-NHS trade and other payables excluding non financial assets 14,270 14,270

NHS Charitable funds 68 68

Total financial liabilities as at 31 March 2016 16,289 16,289

As at As at

31 March 31 March 

2017 2016

£ 000 £ 000

23.2 Maturity of financial liabilities

Financial liabilities maturing in

one year or less 13,064 15,176

more than one year but not more than two years 328 171

more than two years but not more than five years 1,318 502

more than five years 286 440

14,996 16,289

£838,000 of impairment losses on loans and receivables (31 March 2016 - £271,000 loss) has been 

recognised within operating expenses during the year under the heading 'bad debts' within note 5.
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Book value Fair value

as at as at

31 March 31 March 

2017 2017

£ 000 £ 000

23.3 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets

NHS Charitable funds 2,415 2,415

Total 2,415 2,415

Financial liabilities

6 6

Other 1,925 1,925

Total 1,931 1,931

24 Third party assets

25 Financial commitments

25.1 Capital commitments

25.2 Other financial commitments

2017

£ 000

Expiry in less than one year 1,218

Expiry in more than one year but less than five years 1,556

Expiry in more than five years -                 

Total 2,774

Year Ended Year Ended

31st March 31st March 

2017 2016

£ 000 £ 000

26 Related party transactions

26.1 Key management personnel compensation

Salaries and other short term benefits 1,330 1,215

Post employment benefits 90 82

Total 1,420 1,297

Key management personnel has been interpreted as all the executive, non-executive and non-voting directors of 

the Trust.

Non-current trade and other payables excluding non financial liabilities

The Trust has limited exposure to interest rate risk, currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, and other specific 

price risks, and therefore does not actively seek to manage risk in these areas.  

The Trust is committed to making payments under non-cancellable contracts (which are not leases, PFI 

contracts or other service concession arrangements) during 2016/17 as follows, analysed by the period 

during which the commitment expires: 

The Foundation Trust held £1,000 cash at bank and in hand at 31 March 2017 (31 March 2016 - £3,000) 

which relates to monies held on behalf of patients.  This has been excluded from the cash at bank and in 

hand figure reported in the accounts.  Gross inflows and outflows during the reporting period are £nil and 

£2,000 respectively (2015/16 -  £nil and £nil).

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities for the James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation 

Trust is not significantly different from the book value.  The assets of the NHS Charity are held in listed 

securities and as such the market value can fluctuate causing variances between the book value and the fair 

value.  The carrying values of other short-term receivables and payables are a reasonable approximation of 

the fair value.

The Foundation Trust has £102,000 of contractual capital commitments as at 31 March 2017 mainly related 

to window replacements (31 March 201 - £1,117,000 mainly CT Scanner replacement).
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26.2 Related party payments, receipts and balances

Payments Payments Receipts Receipts

31st March 31st March 31st March 31st March 

2017 2016 2017 2016

£ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000

Value of transactions with other related parties

Department of Health -               -                 -                 1,500

Other NHS bodies 16,133 16,387 184,087 172,611

Other non-NHS WGA bodies 21,977 19,463 216 327

Value of transactions with Charitable Funds -               -                 -                 -                 

Amounts Amounts Amounts Amounts

payable payable receivable receivable

31st March 31st March 31st March 31st March 

2017 2016 2017 2016

£ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000

Value of balances with other related parties

Department of Health -               -                 98 312

Other NHS bodies 2,006 5,114 10,058 13,113

Other non-NHS WGA bodies 4,105 4,085 271 413

-               -                 653 221

27 Losses and special payments
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 

2017 2017 2016 2016

Total no of 

cases

Total value of 

cases

Total no of 

cases

Total value of 

cases

Number £000's Number £000's

Losses: 

Losses of cash -               -                 2 2

Bad debts and claims abandoned 51 3 20 3

1 20 -                 -                 

Total  Losses 52 23 22 5

Special Payments:

Extra contractual to contractors 1 6 18 5

Ex gratia payments 22 47 24 25

Total Special Payments 23 53 42 30

Total losses and special payments 75 76 64 35

Damage to buildings, property etc. (including stores 

losses).

None of the related party balances are secured or guaranteed, and all of the transactions are carried out 

under the Trust's normal trading terms and conditions.

During the year none of the Board members or members of the key management staff, or parties related to 

them, have undertaken any material transactions (other than employment benefits) with the James Paget 

University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust.

Value of balances with related parties in relation to 

doubtful debts

All bodies within the scope of the Whole Government Accounts (WGA), including the James Paget University 

Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust are considered to be under the common control of the UK government, and 

are therefore considered to be related parties.  Within the group structure of WGA, the immediate parent of 

the Trust is the Department of Health.  The James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust also 

acts as the corporate Trustee of the James Paget University Hospitals Charitable Fund and in accordance 

with the charity’s declaration of trust, members of the Foundation Trust’s Board of Directors act as ex-officio 

Trustees of the Charitable Funds.  In accordance with note 1.2 the Charitable Fund has been consolidated 

into these group accounts and is therefore no longer reported as a related party.  The values of transactions 

with these entities are detailed below:
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IFRS Charity

Year Ended Consolidation Year Ended

28 Charitable Funds summary statements 2016/17 31 March Eliminations* 31 March 

2017 2017

28.1 Summary Statement of Financial Activities £ 000 £ 000

Incoming Resources: excluding investment income 1,325 -               1,325

Total operating income 1,325 -               1,325

Employee benefits:

- expended with the Foundation Trust (119) 119 -               

Other resources expended

- with the Foundation Trust (1,079) 1,079 -               

- with bodies outside the NHS (272) -               (272)

 - audit fee (payable to the external auditor) (5) -               (5)

Total operating expenditure (1,475) 1,198 (277)

Incoming Resources: investment income 94 -               94

(56) 1,198 1,142

Fair value gains / (losses) on investment assets 363 -               363

307 1,198 1,505

28.2 Summary Balance Sheet

Non-current assets

Other Investments 3,151 -               3,151

Total non-current assets 3,151 -               3,151

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 40 -               40

Cash and cash equivalents 1,101 -               1,101

Total current assets 1,141 -               1,141

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables (382) 94 (288)

Total current liabilities (382) 94 (288)

Net assets 3,910 94 4,004

Funds of the charity

Restricted funds: 244 -               244

Unrestricted funds: -               

Unrestricted income funds 2,925 -               2,925

Revaluation reserve 741 -               741

Total Charitable Funds 3,910 -               3,910

Net (outgoing) / incoming resources before other recognised 

gains and losses

Net Movement in funds

Charitable Funds are presented under UK GAAP and are consistent with SORP 2015.  In restating the charity 

accounts to be consistent with the IFRS based accounting policies of the Foundation Trust, the commitments 

accrual of £672,000  (2015/16 £729,000) reported under UK GAAP has been removed.  The separate accounts 

of the Charity can be found on the Charity Commission website.

* Consolidation eliminations illustrate the impact on the balances of the group accounts, and do not impact on 

the underlying performance of the Charitable Fund which retains a movement in funds of (£364,000), and net 

assets of £3,255,000.
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IFRS Charity

Year Ended Consolidation Year Ended

29 Charitable Funds summary statements 2015/16 31 March Eliminations* 31 March 

2016 2016

29.1 Summary Statement of Financial Activities £ 000 £ 000

Incoming Resources: excluding investment income 861 (861) 0

Total operating income 861 (861) 0

Employee benefits:

- expended with the Foundation Trust (119) 119 -               

Other resources expended

- with the Foundation Trust (1,206) 1,206 -               

- with bodies outside the NHS (120) -               (120)

 - audit fee (payable to the external auditor) (5) -               (5)

Total operating expenditure (1,450) 1,325 (125)

Incoming Resources: investment income 92 -               92

(497) 464 (33)

Fair value gains / (losses) on investment assets (98) -               (98)

(595) 464 (131)

29.2 Summary Balance Sheet

Non-current assets

Other Investments 2,715 -               2,715

Total non-current assets 2,715 -               2,715

Current assets
Trade and other receivables 94 -               94

Cash and cash equivalents 1,444 -               1,444

Total current assets 1,538 -               1,538

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables (650) 544 (106)

Total current liabilities (650) 544 (106)

Net assets 3,603 544 4,147

Funds of the charity

Restricted funds: 250 -               250

Unrestricted funds: -               

Unrestricted income funds 2,994 -               2,994

Revaluation reserve 359 -               359

Total Charitable Funds 3,603 -               3,603

Net (outgoing) / incoming resources before other recognised 

gains and losses

Net Movement in funds

Charitable Funds are presented under UK GAAP and are consistent with SORP 2015.  In restating the charity 

accounts to be consistent with the IFRS based accounting policies of the Foundation Trust, the commitments 

accrual of £729,000  (2014/15 £434,000) reported under UK GAAP has been removed.  The separate accounts 

of the Charity can be found on the Charity Commission website.

* Consolidation eliminations illustrate the impact on the balances of the group accounts, and do not impact on 

the underlying performance of the Charitable Fund which retains a movement in funds of (£1,122,000), and net 

assets of £2,872,000.
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